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Management’s Discussion and Analysis 
 
Set out below is a review of the activities, results of operations and financial condition of Uranium One Inc. (“Uranium One”) and its 
subsidiaries (collectively, the “Corporation”) for the year ended December 31, 2008, together with certain trends and factors that are 
expected to impact its 2009 financial year. Information herein is presented as of March 11, 2008 and should be read in conjunction with 
the annual consolidated financial statements of the Corporation for the year ended December 31, 2008 and the notes thereto, on file with 
the Canadian provincial securities regulatory authorities (referred to herein as the “consolidated financial statements”). The Corporation’s 
consolidated financial statements and the financial data set out below have been prepared in accordance with Canadian generally 
accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”).  All amounts are in US dollars and tabular amounts are in thousands, except where otherwise 
indicated. Canadian dollars are referred to herein as C$. South African rands are referred to herein as ZAR. Australian dollars are 
referred to herein as A$. 
 
Uranium One completed a business combination with UrAsia Energy Limited (“UrAsia Energy”) on April 20, 2007.  The transaction was 
treated as a reverse take-over under GAAP, with UrAsia Energy identified as the acquirer and Uranium One as the acquiree.  
Consequently, the historic figures used herein for periods up to and including March 31, 2007 are those of UrAsia Energy.  References 
herein to “the 2007 financial year” and “the 2008 financial year” refer to the years ended December 31, 2007 and December 31, 2008, 
respectively.  
 
The common shares of Uranium One are listed on the Toronto and Johannesburg stock exchanges (“TSX“ and “JSE”, respectively).  
Uranium One’s convertible unsecured subordinated debentures due December 31, 2011 are also listed on the TSX.  
 
Additional information about the Corporation and its business and operations can be found in its continuous disclosure documents. These 
documents are available under the Corporation’s profile at www.sedar.com. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
This Management’s Discussion and Analysis includes certain forward-looking statements. Please refer to “Forward-Looking Statements 
and other information”. 
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HIGHLIGHTS 
 

• Total production during 2008 was 2,864,700 pounds of U3O8, an increase of 41% from total production of 2,038,700 pounds of 
U3O8 during 2007.  

 
• Attributable sales volumes during 2008 were 2,210,900 pounds of U3O8, an increase of 37% compared to attributable sales 

volumes of 1,608,700 pounds of U3O8 during 2007. 
 

• Average realized U3O8 sales price during 2008 was $68 per pound, generating revenue of $149.8 million, compared to an 
average realized U3O8 sales price of $83 per pound, generating revenue of $134.0 million during 2007. 

 
• Earnings from mine operations were $96.7 million during 2008, a 5% decrease over earnings from mine operations of $101.8 

million during 2007, primarily due to a lower realized U3O8 sales price. 
 

• In June 2008, the Corporation concluded a $100 million senior secured revolving credit facility with Bank of Montreal and The 
Bank of Nova Scotia.  
 

• In November 2008, the Corporation received an inaugural dividend of $40 million (net of Kazakh withholding taxes) from its 
Betpak Dala joint venture. 
 

• In December 2008, the Corporation entered into joint venture agreements under which Mitsui & Co., Ltd. acquired a 49% 
interest in the Australian assets of Uranium One, including the Honeymoon Project for a minimum cash commitment of 
approximately $73 million (A$104 million). 
 

• The Corporation wrote down mineral interests, plant and equipment by $2.4 billion (net of future income tax recoveries) in 
2008: $1.3 billion on Dominion; $1.0 billion on properties in the United States; and $0.1 billion on Honeymoon and Australian 
exploration. 

 
• In February 2009, the Corporation announced a C$270 million private placement and formation of a strategic relationship with 

a Japanese consortium.  
 
OPERATIONS AND PROJECTS 
 

• Akdala - attributable production during 2008 was 1,873,600 pounds of U3O8; cash operating costs for 2008 were $14 per pound 
of U3O8 sold. 

 
• South Inkai – received industrial production approval in December 2008 to ramp up production over the next three years to 

attributable production of 3,600,000 pounds of U3O8 and commenced commercial production on January 1, 2009; attributable 
pre-commercial production during 2008 was 792,200 pounds of U3O8. 

 
• Kharasan – commenced mining on a pilot production basis in September 2008; attributable pre-commercial production during 

2008 of 9,400 pounds of U3O8. 
 

• United States - continued with permitting activities at the Moore Ranch, Antelope and JAB projects in Wyoming; in late 2008, 
the start-up of the Hobson, Texas ISR processing facility was deferred pending the delineation of additional resources and the 
receipt of all required permits.  

 
• Dominion - pre-commercial production during 2008 was 189,500 pounds of U3O8; on October 22, 2008, operations were 

suspended and the project was placed on care and maintenance pending the evaluation of available strategic alternatives.  
 
FINANCIAL CONDITION AND LIQUIDITY 
 
Recent disruptions in global credit and financial markets have resulted in a significantly deteriorating economic climate, which contributed 
to the asset impairments discussed elsewhere in this document.  
 
In response to these conditions, the Corporation has taken a number of steps, following the initial sustained drop in the uranium price, to 
reduce or defer previously planned capital and corporate expenditures, including placing the Dominion Project on care and maintenance, 
deferring project start-up at Hobson, obtaining a partner to fund the development of Honeymoon and implementing significant reductions 
in exploration expenditure and corporate costs across all operations.   
 
In October 2008, the Corporation drew down $65 million under its credit facility as an internal cash reserve and in February 2009 
negotiated a C$270 million private placement with a Japanese consortium.   The Corporation will therefore have cash resources sufficient 
to sustain capital and corporate expenditures planned for 2009.  Capital expenditures by the Betpak Dala and Kyzylkum joint ventures 
are funded through the joint ventures’ operating cash flow or by way of third party debt facilities. The Corporation’s Australian joint 
ventures, including Honeymoon, will be funded from the cash commitment of approximately $73 million (A$104 million) from Mitsui in 
2009.  
 
The Corporation is currently evaluating the application of the proceeds from the private placement with the Japanese consortium. The 
potential uses of these proceeds include acceleration of the Corporation’s growth and development plans, the reduction of debt and 
working capital.  
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OUTLOOK 
 

• In 2009 to the end of February, Betpak Dala has received more than its full allocation of sulphuric acid and Betpak Dala and 
Kyzylkum are expected to have sufficient sulphuric acid supplies to meet their 2009 production targets at Akdala, South Inkai 
and Kharasan.   
 

• Total production for 2009 is estimated to be 3.5 million pounds of U3O8, comprising 1.8 million pounds from Akdala, 1.5 million 
pounds from South Inkai and 0.2 million pounds from Kharasan. 

 
• Total production for 2010 is estimated to be 5.6 million pounds of U3O8.   

 
• During 2009, the average cash cost per pound of U3O8 sold is expected to be approximately $15 per pound at Akdala and $28 

per pound at South Inkai. 
 

• The Corporation currently has contracts for the sale of an aggregate of 26 million attributable pounds of U3O8; 16 million 
pounds of this material are contracted at weighted average floor prices of approximately $47 per pound. The remainder of 
contracted attributable sales is not subject to floors and such sales are therefore directly related to the spot price of U3O8, 
except for 910,000 pounds, which will be sold at an average fixed price of $79 per pound, subject to escalation. 

 
• For 2009, the Corporation expects to sell an aggregate of 2.8 million attributable pounds of U3O8. The Corporation has already 

contracted for the sale of 2.2 million attributable pounds of U3O8 in 2009, of which 700,000 pounds have weighted average floor 
prices of approximately $43 per pound. 

 
• Attributable inventory levels at Betpak Dala are expected to increase from approximately 1.2 million pounds of U3O8 at 

December 31, 2008 to approximately 1.8 million pounds of U3O8 by the end of 2009. 
 

• In 2009, the Corporation expects to incur capital expenditures of $21 million for the development of its assets in Wyoming and 
to contribute $6 million to the costs of constructing a sulphuric acid plant at Zhanakorgan in Kazakhstan.  

 
• General and administrative expenses, excluding stock-based compensation, are expected to be approximately $28 million for 

2009; care and maintenance costs at Dominion are expected to be $12 million for 2009. 
 

• The Corporation carries unrealized foreign exchange translation losses of $244.8 million relating to its investment in Uranium 
One Africa Limited on its balance sheet. The foreign exchange losses were not taken into consideration in calculating the 
impairment on Dominion and would only be realized in the statement of operations if the Corporation sells its investment in 
Uranium One Africa Limited. 
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KEY STATISTICS 
 
TOTAL PRODUCTION   2008 2007 

Attributable production from Akdala (lbs of U3O8)   1,873,600 1,827,200 

Attributable pre-commercial production from South Inkai (lbs of U3O8)   792,200 40,200 

Pre-commercial production from Dominion (lbs of U3O8)   189,500 171,300 

Attributable pre-commercial production from Kharasan (lbs of U3O8)   9,400 - 

Total production   2,864,700 2,038,700 
 
 
FINANCIAL   2008 2007 

Attributable production (lbs of U3O8) (1)   1,873,600 1,827,200 

Attributable sales (lbs of U3O8) (1)   2,210,900 1,608,700 

Average realized sales price ($ per lb of U3O8) (2)   68 83 

Average cash cost of production sold ($ per lb of U3O8)(2)   14 11 

Revenues ($ millions)   149.8 134.0 

Earnings from mine operations ($ millions)   96.7 101.8 

Net loss from continuing operations ($ millions)   (2,333.6) (16.2) 

Loss per share from continuing operations – basic and diluted ($ per share)   (4.98) (0.05) 

Loss from discontinued operations ($ millions)   (122.3) (1.4) 

Loss per share from discontinued operations – basic and diluted ($ per share)   (0.26) (0.00) 

Net loss ($ millions)   (2,455.8) (17.6) 
Net loss per share – basic and diluted ($ per share)   (5.24) (0.05) 
     

Adjusted net earnings ($ millions)(2)   22.3 3.4 

Adjusted net earnings per share – basic ($ per share)(2)   0.05 0.01 
 
Notes: 
(1) Attributable production and sales are from assets that are in commercial production – therefore only Akdala in 2007 and 2008.  
(2) The Corporation has included non-GAAP performance measures: average realized sales price per pound of U3O8, cost per pound of U3O8 

sold, adjusted net earnings and adjusted net earnings per share. In the uranium mining industry, these are common performance measures 
but do not have any standardized meaning, and are non-GAAP measures. The Corporation believes that, in addition to conventional 
measures prepared in accordance with GAAP, the Corporation and certain investors use this information to evaluate the Corporation’s 
performance and ability to generate cash flow. The additional information provided herein should not be considered in isolation or as a 
substitute for measures of performance prepared in accordance with GAAP. See “Non-GAAP Measures”. 
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OVERVIEW 
 
Uranium One is a Canadian corporation engaged through subsidiaries and joint ventures in the mining and production of uranium, and in 
the acquisition, exploration and development of properties for the production of uranium in Kazakhstan, the United States, Australia, 
South Africa and Canada.   
 
Through the Betpak Dala joint venture, Uranium One owns a 70% interest in the Akdala and South Inkai uranium mines in Kazakhstan. The 
Corporation holds a 30% interest in the Kyzylkum joint venture, which owns the Kharasan Project in Kazakhstan. In the United States, the 
Corporation owns projects in the Powder River and Great Divide basins in Wyoming. The Corporation has suspended operations at its 
Dominion Project in South Africa and placed it on care and maintenance while evaluating strategic alternatives for the project.  The 
Corporation owns a 51% interest in the Honeymoon Uranium Project in Australia. The Corporation owns, either directly or through joint 
ventures, a large portfolio of uranium exploration properties in the western United States, South Australia and South Africa. 
 
The following are the Corporation’s principal mineral properties and operations (discussed in more detail below):  
 

Operating mines 
 

Entity Project Location Status Ownership 
Betpak Dala LLP Akdala Uranium Mine Kazakhstan Producing 70% J.V. interest 
Betpak Dala LLP South Inkai Uranium Mine Kazakhstan Producing  70% J.V. interest 

 
Advanced development project 
 

Entity Project Location Status Ownership 
Kyzylkum LLP Kharasan Uranium Project Kazakhstan Commissioning(1) 30% J.V. interest 

 
The Corporation is also developing the following mineral properties: 
 

Entity Project Location Status Ownership 

Energy Metals 
Corp. (US) 

Powder River Basin, Wyoming 
(Moore Ranch, Peterson, Ludeman, 
Allemand-Ross, and Barge) 

USA Development 100% interest 

Energy Metals 
Corp. (US) 

Great Divide Basin, Wyoming  
(JAB and Antelope) USA Development 100% interest 

Uranium One 
Australia 
(Proprietary) Ltd. 

Honeymoon Uranium Project Australia Development 51% interest 

 
The Corporation has suspended development of the following projects:  
 

Entity Project Location Status Ownership 
Uranium One 
Africa Limited Dominion Project South Africa Care and maintenance 100% interest(2)  

South Texas 
Mining Venture 

Hobson Facility and La Palangana 
Project, Texas USA Standby 99% interest  

 
Notes: 
(1) The Kharasan Uranium Project is in the commissioning stage; production has commenced but the mine has not yet achieved 

commercial production.  Commercial production is achieved when a pre-defined operating level, based on the design of the plant, is 
maintained and the Kazakhstan Government has issued an operating license. 

(2) Uranium One’s 100% interest is subject to a definitive purchase and sale agreement of an undivided 26% interest in the Dominion 
Project to its Black Economic Empowerment partner, Micawber 397 (Proprietary) Limited (“Micawber 397”).  The Micawber 397 
transaction will be accounted for in the Corporation’s financial statements when the risks and rewards of the transaction are deemed to 
have passed to Micawber 397. 
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REVIEW OF OPERATIONS 
 
AKDALA URANIUM MINE 
 
Akdala is an operating acid in situ recovery (“ISR”) uranium mine located in the Suzak region of South Kazakhstan, owned indirectly as to 
70% by the Corporation through the Betpak Dala joint venture, a Kazakhstan registered limited liability partnership (“Betpak Dala”). The 
other 30% interest is owned by JSC NAC Kazatomprom (“Kazatomprom”), a Kazakhstan state-owned company responsible for the 
mining and exporting of uranium in Kazakhstan.  
 
Pursuant to the terms of its subsoil use contract, the permitted production rate at the Akdala Mine is 2,600,000 pounds of U3O8 
(1,000 tonnes uranium (“U”)) per year. 
 
Production: In line with the production plan for 2008, Akdala produced 2,676,600 pounds of U3O8 (1,030 tonnes U) during 2008, of which 
1,873,600 pounds of U3O8 (721 tonnes U) is attributable to the Corporation.  
 
Production from Akdala in 2009 is estimated to be 2,600,000 pounds of U3O8 (1,000 tonnes U), of which 1,820,000 pounds of U3O8 
(700 tonnes U) will be attributable to the Corporation. 
 
Operations: The following is a summary of the operational statistics (100%) for Akdala over the last four quarters: 
 
 Total wells completed 

(including production 
wells) 

Average no. of 
production wells in 

operation 

Average flow 
rate (m3/hour) 

Concentration in 
solution (mg U/l) 

Production 
(lbs of U3O8) 

      
Q1 2008 70 162 1,152 96.9 616,400 
Q2 2008 89 167 1,359 83.6 621,800 
Q3 2008 29 190 1,571 78.6 689,300 
Q4 2008 - 185 1,614 79.3 749,100 

 
A total of 188 wells were installed during 2008. The program for 2009, which is expected to commence during Q2 2009, provides for the 
installation of 164 wells to achieve the production target for the year. 
 
During 2008, three new production blocks were acidified and commissioned.  Production block #24 was acidified in Q4 2008 and will be 
commissioned when the concentration from the current production blocks reaches sub-optimal levels.  Higher quantities of solution were 
pumped at lower head grades in order to achieve the production in 2008, as the existing production blocks are still achieving economic 
uranium levels. 
 
Due to the fact that it is still economical to produce uranium from the existing production blocks at lower concentrations and higher flow 
rates, the processing capacity of the Akdala plant was expanded during Q4 2008.  A seventh ion-exchange column and additional main 
productive solution pumps were installed in the processing plant to cope with the increased flow rate. The plant can now operate at lower 
concentration levels and still achieve 1,000 tonnes U capacity. The cost of the plant expansion was $3.1 million and was financed from 
operations. 
 
The construction of the precipitation and filtration circuit at Akdala was completed in Q1 2008. The circuit enables Akdala to produce 
yellowcake slurry on site, with only the drying and packaging to be performed by external processing facilities.  Due to technical issues 
experienced by the external processing facilities when introducing the yellowcake slurry produced at Akdala into their drying process, the 
production of yellowcake at Akdala was suspended and, as in the past, rich eluate was shipped to the external processing facility in Q2 
and Q3 2008. During Q4 2008, the production of yellowcake on site resumed after successful resolution of the technical issues 
experienced by the external processing facility.  
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AKDALA URANIUM MINE - continued 
 
Financial information:  The following table shows the attributable production, sales and production cost trends for Akdala over the prior 
eight quarters: 
 

 
3 months ended (All figures are the 

Corporation’s attributable 
share) 

Dec 31, 
2008 

Sep 30, 
2008 

Jun 30, 
2008 

Mar 31, 
2008 

Dec 31, 
2007 

Sep 30, 
2007 

Jun 30, 
2007 

Mar 31, 
2007 

         
Production of U3O8 in lbs 524,400 482,400 435,300 431,500 435,400 451,600 452,200 488,000 
Sales of U3O8 in lbs 393,900 848,100 685,600 283,300 689,200 70,000 244,300 605,200 

Inventory U3O8 in lbs 345,000 232,800 620,500 886,500 748,900 1,007,000 636,800 436,500 
Revenues ($000’s) 21,146 56,723 49,390 22,517 61,010 8,019 23,265 41,730 
Sales ($/lb of U3O8 sold) 54 67 72 79 89 115 95 69 

Operating expenses ($000’s) 5,918 11,793 9,487 3,292 7,521 660 2,058 7,043 

Operating expenses  ($/lb of 
U3O8 sold) 

15 14 14 12 11 9 8 12 

Depreciation and depletion 
($000’s) 

4,370 8,305 6,960 2,931 6,966 1,058 2,016 4,859 

Depreciation and depletion  
($/lb of U3O8 sold) 

11 10 10 10 10 15 8 8 

 
Uranium revenues are recorded upon delivery of product to utilities and intermediaries and do not occur evenly throughout the year. 
Timing of deliveries is usually at the contracted discretion of customers within a quarter or similar time period. Annual sales of product 
from a mine, which is normally determined from opening inventory plus a percentage of forecast production for the year, does not always 
occur evenly throughout the year and could vary significantly from quarter to quarter as illustrated in the table above.  
 
Changes in revenues, net earnings / loss and cash flow are therefore affected primarily by fluctuations in contracted delivery of product 
from quarter to quarter as well as by changes in the price of uranium.    
 
Operating expenses are directly related to the quantity of U3O8 sold and are lower in periods when the quantity of U3O8 sold is lower.  
There is a corresponding build-up of inventory in periods when the quantity of U3O8 sold is lower. 
 
The cost of production for the year at $14 per pound of U308 sold was in line with the Corporation’s revised forecast. 
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SOUTH INKAI URANIUM MINE 
 
South Inkai is an operating ISR uranium mine located in the Suzak region of South Kazakhstan, owned indirectly as to 70% by the 
Corporation through the Betpak Dala joint venture.  The other 30% interest is held by Kazatomprom.  
 
The design capacity of the South Inkai mine is 5,200,000 pounds of U3O8 (2,000 tonnes U) per year.  It is expected that the annualized 
rate of production will reach this level in 2011.  
 
Pre-commercial production: Pre-commercial production from South Inkai was 1,131,800 pounds of U3O8 (435 tonnes U) in 2008, of 
which 792,200 pounds of U3O8 (305 tonnes U) is attributable to the Corporation.  
 
Production from South Inkai in 2009 is estimated to be 2,140,000 pounds of U3O8 (825 tonnes U), of which 1,500,000 pounds of U3O8 
(577 tonnes U) will be attributable to the Corporation.  
 
Operations: The following is a summary of the operational statistics (100%) for South Inkai over the last four quarters: 
 
 Total wells 

completed 
(including 

production wells) 

Average no. of 
production wells 

in operation 

Average flow rate 
(m3/hour) 

Concentration in 
solution (mg U/l) 

Production (lbs of 
U3O8) 

      
Q1 2008 53 24 163.5 229.0 206,400 
Q2 2008 90 30 253.0 258.2 367,300 
Q3 2008 114 36 341.3 108.1 209,100 
Q4 2008 105 46 430.4 136.8 349,000 
 
 
A total of 362 wells were installed in 2008. The program for 2009 provides for the installation of 343 wells to achieve the production target 
for the year. 
 
Due to ongoing transportation and logistics constraints in Kazakhstan, South Inkai did not receive sufficient quantities of sulphuric acid 
during Q3 and early in Q4 2008 to acidify production blocks as planned and the resulting lower than expected acid deliveries negatively 
affected the concentration of uranium in the solution as well as production in Q3 and Q4 2008.  By year end, the acid supply shortfall was 
eliminated with sufficient acid being supplied in late December 2008.  The acid shortages in Q4 2008 resulted in the acidification of block 
#5 being delayed until beginning of 2009.  
 
Industrial production: The Kazakh Ministry of Energy and Mineral Resources (“MEMR”) formally approved the commencement of 
industrial production at South Inkai in December 2008.  The approval, which was given by way of an amendment to the South Inkai 
subsoil use agreement, permits South Inkai to ramp up production over the next three years to 5,200,000 pounds U3O8 per year. As a 
result of the approval, commercial production for accounting purposes commenced at South Inkai on January 1, 2009.  Inventory at 
South Inkai attributable to the Corporation was 808,400 pounds U3O8 as at January 1, 2009 at an average cash cost of production of $18 
per pound. 
 
At full capacity, Uranium One’s attributable production from South Inkai is expected to be 3,640,000 pounds U3O8 per year. 
 
Construction:  State acceptance of the industrial complex at South Inkai was completed in December 2008, with some landscaping and 
asphalt work remaining to be completed in 2009 once warmer weather permits completion. 
 
To date, expenditure incurred by Betpak Dala (on a 100% basis) relating to the construction of South Inkai is $61 million; further capital 
expenditure (on a 100% basis) to complete the project to design capacity is expected to be $3 million. 
 
The capital expenditure on South Inkai is being funded by Betpak Dala out of operating cash flow from Akdala. 
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REVIEW OF DEVELOPMENT PROJECTS - KAZAKHSTAN 

 
KHARASAN URANIUM PROJECT 
 
Kharasan is an ISR uranium development project located in the Suzak region of South Kazakhstan, owned indirectly as to 30% by the 
Corporation through the Kyzylkum joint venture, a Kazakhstan registered limited liability partnership (“Kyzylkum”).  The remaining 
interests are owned as to 30% by Kazatomprom and as to 40% by Energy Asia (BVI) Ltd., which is owned by a consortium of Japanese 
utilities and a trading company.  
 
The design capacity of Kharasan is 5,200,000 pounds of U3O8 (2,000 tonnes U) per year.  It is expected that the annualized rate of 
production will reach this level in 2012.  
 
Pre-commercial production: Pre-commercial production from Kharasan was 31,200 pounds of U3O8 (12 tonnes U) in 2008, of which 
9,400 pounds of U3O8 (4 tonnes U) is attributable to the Corporation.  
 
Production from Kharasan in 2009 is estimated to be 650,000 pounds of U3O8 (250 tonnes U), of which 195,000 pounds of U3O8 
(75 tonnes U) will be attributable to the Corporation. 
 
Operations: The following is a summary of the operational statistics (100%) for Kharasan over the last four quarters: 
 
 Drill rigs on 

site(1) 
Total wells 
completed 
(including 
production 

wells) 

Average no. of 
production 

wells in 
operation 

Average flow 
rate (m3/hour) 

Concentration 
in solution 

(mg U/l) 

Production 
(lbs of U3O8) 

       
Q1 2008 10 30 - - - - 
Q2 2008 10 58 - - - - 
Q3 2008 10 74 28 6.9 47.8 - 
Q4 2008 10  31 36 76.9 41.6 31,200 
 
Note: 
(1) As at end of quarter for well field development 
 
Acidification of the first well field at Kharasan commenced in March 2008.  Although the flow rate has continued to increase, both flow 
rate and concentration of U in solution remains low at 76.9m3/hour and 41.6 mg U/l, respectively. Well field maintenance work 
commenced at the end of Q3 2008, but was not as effective as expected.  By the beginning of December 2008, a more detailed study 
was initiated to identify other factors contributing to wellfield underperformance. The study includes a full investigation of the original data 
and a review of all drilling logs to verify vertical location of screens and layout of the wellfield. Wellfield maintenance work is continuing.  
 
In November 2008, Kyzylkum appointed a new Kharasan general manager, with over 20 years experience in ISL operations in the 
region.  In December 2008, Kyzylkum also appointed a new general director, who is recruiting experienced personnel to assist in 
addressing wellfield underperformance. 
 
Well installation for future well fields continued in 2008. In accordance with the plan for the year, an additional 193 wells were installed in 
2008. 
 
Industrial production: A delineation drilling program to convert a sufficient amount of resources from the Russian C2 category to the 
Russian C1 category, consisting of a drilling program of 338 holes, is ongoing. 163 drill holes were completed in 2008 for delineation 
purposes, compared to a plan of 169 holes.  
 
Kyzylkum intends to make an interim application for permission to move to industrial production based on the results of an ISR operation 
in close proximity to Kharasan which operates under similar geological conditions. The 256 exploration holes already drilled, together 
with 82 holes to be completed in Q1 2009 (for a total of 338 holes), as well as the performance of the pilot production block, will serve as 
the basis for the application. It is expected that the application will be made later in 2009 when sufficient information from the pilot 
production block is available.  Industrial production approval is expected for Kharasan in 2010. 
 
Construction: The major operating facilities of the production complex have been inspected by the necessary regulatory authorities and 
final acceptance of the facilities is expected by Q2 2009.  
 
To date, expenditure incurred by Kyzylkum (on a 100% basis) relating to the construction of the industrial complex at Kharasan is 
$47.8 million. Further capital expenditure (on a 100% basis) to complete the project to design capacity of 2,000 tonnes per year is 
expected to be $18 million.  
 
The capital expenditure on Kharasan is funded by Kyzylkum from the project finance facility with Japan Bank for International 
Cooperation (“JBIC”) and Citibank. 
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KHARASAN URANIUM PROJECT - continued 
 
Infrastructure development: The railroad switching station was completed in Q2 2008 and a new section of line adjacent to the main 
line to Moscow was transferred to the State of Kazakhstan. Private entities are not allowed to own railroad installations, except on private 
land. The main facilities of the transhipment base for production ramp up in 2009, including storage facilities for sulphuric acid, 
ammonium nitrate and caustic storage will be commissioned in Q1 2009. 
 
Total expenditure incurred by Kyzylkum (on a 100% basis) to date relating to infrastructure development at Kharasan amounts to 
$60.0 million with further capital expenditure (on a 100% basis) to complete the required infrastructure expected to be $2 million. A 
consortium agreement was concluded with an adjacent uranium ISR development joint venture to share in the development cost of the 
local infrastructure required to support both operations (road, bridge, rail and marshalling facilities). The agreement resulted in a return of 
$22.6 million in capital to Kyzylkum relating to infrastructure amounts expended to date. 
 
The development of infrastructure is jointly funded by an adjacent uranium ISR development joint venture and by Kyzylkum from a project 
finance facility provided by the JBIC and Citibank. 
 
Project finance facility: In addition to the original $80 million loan from the Corporation, Kyzylkum negotiated unsecured bank loan 
facilities in Q2 2007 totalling $100 million.  One facility, in the amount of $70 million, was obtained from JBIC and the other facility, in the 
amount of $30 million, was obtained from Citibank.  During December 2008, Citibank agreed to increase its facility by $60 million to 
$90 million, increasing the total unsecured bank loan facilities to $160 million. Total draw downs against these facilities amounted to 
$120 million as at December 31, 2008.  
 
The original $80 million loan from the Corporation (principal of $46.7 million outstanding as at December 31, 2008) must be repaid in full 
before the JBIC and Citibank facilities can be repaid. As the Corporation proportionately consolidates its 30% interest in Kyzylkum, the 
Corporation’s share of these facilities amounts to $36 million. When the $160 million facility is fully drawn down, the Corporation’s share 
of these facilities will amount to $48 million. The loan facilities have floating interest rates of LIBOR plus 0.25% and 0.35%, respectively. 
 
 
SULPHURIC ACID SUPPLY IN KAZAKHSTAN 
 
Kazakhmys commissioned a new sulphuric acid plant located at Balkhash in eastern Kazakhstan in June 2008. This plant, which has an 
annual capacity of 1.2 million tonnes of sulphuric acid, provides Kazakh uranium producers, including the Corporation’s Betpak Dala and 
Kyzylkum joint ventures, with a significant additional source of sulphuric acid in the country. The Corporation does not expect the 
production of sulphuric acid from the Balkhash plant to be affected by Kazakhmys’ reduced copper production and expects that Balkhash 
will remain a reliable supplier of sulphuric acid in Kazakhstan. The logistical constraints experienced earlier in 2008 eased towards the 
end of 2008 and the early part of 2009 and are not expected to delay sulphuric acid deliveries in Q1 2009. Given the recent worldwide 
economic downturn, the Corporation expects a decline in demand for sulphuric acid over the short to medium term, with supply remaining 
largely intact and that additional sources of sulphuric acid may therefore become available to the Corporation. 
 
Betpak Dala entered into a contract for the supply of 35,000 tonnes of sulphuric acid at market related prices during 2009. Together with 
the 60,000 tonnes allocated to Betpak Dala in 2009 by Kazatomprom, Betpak Dala should have sufficient supply of sulphuric acid to meet 
the 2009 production targets for both Akdala and South Inkai.  Betpak Dala received the first delivery under this contract in February 2009 
according to the agreed schedule. 
 
Kyzylkum received a sufficient sulphuric acid allocation during Q4 2008 to enable Kharasan to continue planned wellfield acidification and 
to facilitate its planned production ramp-up.  Kyzylkum’s allocation of sulphuric acid from Kazatomprom is expected to be sufficient to 
meet the 2009 production target for Kharasan. 
  
To ensure long term sulphuric acid supply continuity, the Corporation has established a joint venture with Kazatomprom and other 
affected parties to build a sulphuric acid plant near Kharasan at Zhanakorgan. The Corporation’s ownership percentage in this joint 
venture is expected to be 19%.  The total construction cost of the plant is expected to be approximately $217 million, of which 
approximately 30% will be funded by the joint venture partners during Q4 2008 and the first half of 2009 and the balance potentially 
funded through debt financing. Construction of the plant is expected to be completed in 2011. 
 
The Corporation contributed $6.0 million in Q4 2008 towards construction of the sulphuric acid plant and will contribute $6 million from 
working capital in the first half of 2009, with the balance of approximately $29 million to be funded in 2010 and 2011. 
 
Engineering design is already in progress with the Italian construction company Desmet Ballestra, including cooperation with LLP Joint 
Venture “Soyuzcomplect” for engineering work on the power plant. Equipment orders are in progress, with delivery of equipment starting 
in mid-2009.  
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NEW TAX CODE IN KAZAKHSTAN 
 
Kazakhstan adopted a new Tax Code effective January 1, 2009.  Among other things, the new Code reduces the corporate income tax 
rate from 30% to 20% for 2009, amends the basis for determining excess profits tax and replaces royalty charges with a mineral 
extraction tax.  Mineral extraction tax, which has a different tax basis from the system of royalty charges it replaced, is levied at a rate of 
22% for 2009.  For uranium, the mineral extraction tax is calculated according to a formula related to the cost of production, rather than 
revenue. The new Tax Code also abolished the former contractual “stabilization” regime relating to the taxation of subsoil users, except 
for those operating under product sharing agreements and subsoil use contracts approved by the President of Kazakhstan (Akdala has a 
stability clause in its subsoil use contract; the subsoil use contracts for South Inkai and Kharasan, which are of more recent date, do not 
have such provisions).   
 
There is considerable uncertainty surrounding the interpretation and application of the new Tax Code to the operations of Betpak Dala 
and Kyzylkum, including with respect both to excess profits tax and the effect on the stability clause in Akdala’s subsoil use contract.  At 
the request of the MEMR, Betpak Dala and Kyzylkum will be entering into discussions with the MEMR later this year on the application of 
the new Tax Code to their operations.  Pending the outcome of these discussions, the Corporation, together with its joint venture partners 
and its tax advisers, will continue to evaluate the impact of the new Code on its operations in Kazakhstan. 
 
Given the current uncertainty relating to the interpretation and application of the new Tax Code, the Corporation has not given effect to 
the provisions of the new Tax Code in its 2008 consolidated financial statements. 
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REVIEW OF DEVELOPMENT PROJECTS – UNITED STATES 

 
The Corporation is proceeding with the planned development of new uranium production centres in the western United States.  In 
Wyoming, the Corporation is focussed on permitting two ISR central processing plants, one at Moore Ranch in the Powder River Basin 
and the other at Antelope in the Great Divide Basin.  In Texas, the Corporation has completed renovation of the Hobson central 
processing plant; operation of that facility has, however, been suspended pending the delineation of additional resources and the receipt 
of all required permits.   
 
POWDER RIVER BASIN, WYOMING 
 
The Powder River Basin in Wyoming hosts several of the Corporation’s uranium projects.  The most advanced project in the Powder 
River Basin is the Moore Ranch Project, located in Campbell County, 25 miles east of Edgerton, Wyoming.  Moore Ranch has a 
NI 43-101 compliant measured resource suitable for in situ recovery.   The Corporation intends to construct an in situ uranium recovery 
facility at Moore Ranch with capacity of 2,000,000 pounds of U3O8 per year.  Uranium extraction is planned to commence at Moore 
Ranch in 2010. Any excess plant capacity would be used to process uranium bearing resins from other properties owned by the 
Corporation in the Powder River Basin. 
 
In October 2007, the Corporation submitted an application to the U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission (“NRC”) for a license to construct 
and operate an in situ uranium recovery facility at Moore Ranch. The application was the first of its kind received by the NRC since 1988. 
The Corporation also submitted at the same time an application to the Wyoming Department for Environmental Quality (“WDEQ”) for a 
mining permit.  The NRC and WDEQ technical reviews of the application to build and operate an in situ uranium recovery facility at the 
Moore Ranch Project are currently in progress. The Corporation is continuing to progress these applications and expects to receive the 
license and permit during Q4 2009.  
 
Baseline characterization efforts in support of similar license and permit applications for the Ludeman project in Converse County have 
been completed and will be submitted to the NRC and WDEQ in March 2009.  Assuming a two year licensing process, the Corporation 
anticipates receiving the license and permit during early 2011, with initial production from Ludeman late in 2011.  The Ludeman project 
will be licensed as three satellite operations that can feed either the Moore Ranch central processing plant or another plant.  
 
The Corporation resumed wellfield development drilling at Moore Ranch in January 2009. In 2009, 90 drill holes are planned to complete 
delineation of the first well field.  Another 270 drill holes are planned this year to extend existing mineralized trends on the property.  
Monitor well ring installation is also planned for this year after receipt of regulatory approval and finalization of the design of the first and 
second well field.  Cased well installation in the well field will follow after issuance of the required licenses and permits.  
 
The Corporation has revised its mine plans and economic models for its United States development assets during Q4 2008 and 
concluded that the carrying values of its United States development assets exceeded their fair value. The carrying value of Moore Ranch 
and the Corporation’s other United States development assets were therefore written down by $204.3 million.  
 
The Corporation intends to complete additional delineation drilling and data purchases at its Ludeman and Peterson properties during 
2009. Delineation drilling and data collection for permitting purposes are also scheduled in 2009 at other Powder River Basin properties, 
including the Allemand-Ross and Barge projects.  
 
In total, capital expenditure of approximately $17 million is planned in 2009 for the Corporation’s Powder River Basin properties.  
 
 
GREAT DIVIDE BASIN, WYOMING 
 
The Corporation’s principal properties in the Great Divide Basin are the JAB and Antelope projects. JAB has a NI 43-101 compliant 
measured and indicated resource suitable for in situ recovery. 
 
A central processing facility is planned for construction at the Antelope project, with a satellite facility at JAB.  The central processing 
facility has a design capacity of 2,000,000 pounds of U3O8 per year.  In addition to processing resin from the satellite plant on JAB, the 
Antelope central processing facility would have the capacity to accept resins from other Uranium One projects in the Great Divide Basin.  
Those potential projects include Twin Buttes, Cyclone Rim, West JAB, Stewart Creek, Crooks Creek and Bull Springs.  In July 2008, the 
Corporation submitted licensing and permit applications for Antelope and JAB to the NRC and WDEQ.  Delineation drilling is ongoing at 
Antelope; since August 2008 a total of 254 holes have been drilled, and another 400 drill holes are planned in 2009 to further define and 
delineate proposed well field areas.  
 
In total, capital expenditure of approximately $4 million is planned in 2009 for the Corporation’s Great Divide Basin properties.  
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HOBSON AND LA PALANGANA 
 
The Hobson Facility is an ISR uranium processing facility located near to the town of Hobson in Karnes County, Texas. The 
refurbishment of the processing plant, to a capacity of a nominal 1,000,000 pounds of U3O8 per year of dried natural uranium 
concentrate, was completed in July 2008.  
 
The Palangana Uranium Project is an ISR amenable deposit located five miles north of the town of Benavides in Duval County, Texas.  
During 2008, a better understanding of the extensive faulting on and near the Palangana salt dome led the Corporation to re-interpret the 
previously reported inferred resource of 5.8 million pounds U3O8, with the result that this resource was re-classified and removed from the 
Corporation’s resource inventory.  An impairment of $83.4 million was recognized on Hobson and La Palangana in 2008, to account for 
the reduction in the fair value of the Hobson facility and the reduction in the recoverable resources in the Palangana mine plan.  
 
Operation of the Hobson plant, and further capital expenditure at La Palangana, were suspended in late 2008 pending the delineation of 
additional resources and the completion of the permitting process. In the meantime, the Corporation will continue with planned 
delineation drilling and the acquisition of additional potential development areas.  
 
 
UNITED STATES CONVENTIONAL URANIUM PROPERTIES 
 
The Corporation is continuing to assess the resource potential of conventional uranium properties mainly in Utah, Colorado and Arizona. 
These properties include the Corporation’s Frank M, Velvet, Woods and Breccia Pipes properties.    
 
In 2008, the Corporation concluded that the Shootaring Canyon Mill could not be operated economically with the currently available 
resource base and fully wrote down the carrying value of the mill, due to its negligible salvage value. The Corporation evaluated the 
economic feasibility of its conventional mining properties as well and concluded that certain of its properties cannot be put to economic 
use in the current economic environment. The total associated impairment was $65.3 million. Care and maintenance costs for the 
Shootaring mill are expected to be approximately $1.3 million per year. 
 
The Corporation does not plan any capital expenditure on its conventional uranium properties during 2009.  
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REVIEW OF DEVELOPMENT PROJECTS – AUSTRALIA 

 
HONEYMOON URANIUM PROJECT 
 
The Honeymoon Uranium Project is located in South Australia, approximately 75 kilometres northwest of the City of Broken Hill, New 
South Wales. The project has a design capacity of 880,000 pounds of U3O8 per year, with an expected mine life (including production 
ramp-up) of six years. The revised capital expenditure estimate for the completion of construction at Honeymoon is A$118 million, of 
which A$39 has been spent to date, on a 100% basis.  The Corporation received approval to commence construction at Honeymoon in 
January 2008 from the South Australian regulatory authorities.  
 
In Q1 of 2008, the Corporation postponed the development of Honeymoon pending a review of strategic options for its Australian 
business. In October 2008 the Corporation reached an agreement with Mitsui & Co., Ltd. under which Mitsui would acquire a 49% 
interest in the Honeymoon project and the company’s Australian exploration portfolio. This transaction closed in December 2008, after 
receipt of required regulatory approvals.  Under this agreement, the total minimum cash commitment from Mitsui is approximately 
A$104 million for its share of Uranium One Australia’s assets. The majority of these funds will be used to advance the development of the 
Honeymoon project through to commercial production which is scheduled for 2010. Pursuant to the terms of the Honeymoon joint venture 
agreement, the Corporation committed up to A$49.8 million of the proceeds from the investment by Mitsui to fund its share of 
Honeymoon’s development expenditures. 
 
An impairment of $195.4 million was recorded against the Corporation’s Australian assets in 2008, to reflect the fair value ascribed to 
these assets in the Mitsui transaction. 
 
REVIEW OF PROJECTS – SOUTH AFRICA 

 
DOMINION  
 
The Dominion Project is situated in the North West Province of South Africa, approximately 150 kilometres west-southwest of Johannesburg.  
The Project was placed on care and maintenance on October 22, 2008.   The decision to place Dominion on care and maintenance reflected 
the significant deterioration in the Project’s economics associated with the continuing decline in uranium prices during 2008 and significant 
inflation-related increases in project costs, together with a slower than expected ramp-up in development and production.  The decision 
followed the completion of the Corporation’s detailed life of mine planning process and budget for the Project, which showed that the Project 
would require a sustained recovery in uranium prices, as well as significant additional capital investment, in order to become economically 
viable.  As a result of the determination by the Corporation that the Dominion Project is not economically viable and a subsequent 
reinterpretation of the project’s mineral resources, the previously published reserves for the project can no longer be considered reserves.  
The majority of the workforce at Dominion has been retrenched in accordance with the requirements of applicable South African legislation; a 
core team of employees has been retained to oversee care and maintenance activities. 
 
The costs associated with the suspension of operations were $17.5 million in Q4 2008, with further potential suspension costs of 
approximately $3 million, and care and maintenance costs of approximately $12 million per year thereafter. Care and maintenance 
activities will include limited development activities. 
 
As Dominion was placed on care and maintenance without certainty as to when or whether production might be resumed, an impairment 
of $1.8 billion was recognized in 2008. The Corporation carries unrealized foreign exchange translation losses of $244.8 million in 
accumulated other comprehensive losses relating to the translation to US dollars of its investment in Uranium One Africa Limited 
(“Uranium One Africa”), the wholly owned subsidiary which owns the Project. The foreign exchange losses were not taken into 
consideration in calculating the impairment on Dominion and would only be realized in the statement of operations if the Corporation sells 
its investment in Uranium One Africa. The value of the losses is calculated based on the South African rand and US dollar exchange 
rates and will change as exchange rates change. 
 
 
EXPLORATION PROJECTS 
 
The Corporation is exploring its other properties and has current exploration programs in progress on its properties in South Africa, the 
western United States and Australia.  During 2008, impairments of $936.6 million were recognized on various United States exploration 
properties due to a range of factors including economic feasibility, cancellation of option agreements, metallurgical recovery, licensing 
and environmental issues. 
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CORPORATE  
 
PRIVATE PLACEMENT WITH JAPANESE CONSORTIUM 
 
On February 9, 2009, Uranium One entered into a subscription agreement with a special purpose corporation formed by The Tokyo 
Electric Power Company, Incorporated (“TEPCO”), Toshiba Corporation, and The Japan Bank for International Cooperation (“JBIC”) 
(collectively, the “Consortium”) providing for the private placement of an aggregate of 117,000,000 common shares of Uranium One, for 
gross proceeds of approximately C$270 million. TEPCO and Toshiba Corporation will each have a 40% equity interest in the special 
purpose corporation; JBIC will have a 20% equity interest. 
 
Concurrently with the execution of the subscription agreement, Uranium One has also entered into a long-term offtake agreement and a 
strategic relationship agreement with the Consortium, both of which will become effective upon closing of the private placement. 
 
Under the offtake agreement, the Consortium may elect to purchase, on industry-standard terms, up to 20% of the Corporation’s 
available production from the Corporation’s existing uranium projects for which it has marketing rights and will have access to production 
of the Corporation’s future projects if it maintains its equity interest in Uranium One above certain equity ownership levels. Deliveries 
under the offtake agreement to the Consortium members will commence in 2014.  
 
Under the strategic relationship agreement, the Consortium may appoint two directors to the Uranium One board and has a right of first 
opportunity to invest in any uranium mining asset or project which the Corporation may in its discretion decide to make available to third 
parties.  In addition, the Consortium may second two employees to Uranium One, and will have representation on an inter-company 
coordinating committee. This agreement also contains a standstill provision under which the Consortium has agreed, subject to certain 
exceptions, not to acquire without Uranium One’s prior approval more than 19.95% of Uranium One’s issued common shares. The rights 
granted under both the offtake agreement and the strategic partnership agreement are generally subject to the Consortium continuing to 
meet certain equity ownership thresholds.  
 
The private placement issue price of C$2.30 per share represented a 15% premium to the 20-day volume weighted average price of 
Uranium One common shares on the Toronto Stock Exchange prior to the announcement of the transaction. Upon closing of the private 
placement, the Consortium will have a 19.95% equity stake in Uranium One.  The proceeds from the private placement are expected to 
be used for general corporate purposes, to accelerate the Corporation’s growth and development plans and will allow the Corporation to 
take advantage of any value-enhancing acquisition or partnership opportunities that may arise.  Closing of the transaction is subject to 
the receipt of certain regulatory approvals. 
 
CREDIT FACILITY 
 
The Corporation concluded a senior secured revolving credit facility with Bank of Montreal and The Bank of Nova Scotia at the end of 
Q2 2008.   Under the terms of the facility, the Corporation has the ability to borrow up to $100 million; the facility has a two year term, and 
may be extended for a further year with lender consent.   
 
The Corporation drew down $65 million under the credit facility on October 20, 2008. The effective interest rate on the loan up to 
December 31, 2008 was 4.1% per year and the loan currently bears interest at 1.8% per year.  Additionally, a letter of credit in the 
amount of $12.9 million was issued under the credit facility on September 25, 2008 as security for a uranium loan of 200,000 pounds of 
U3O8. Undrawn amounts under the facility are currently subject to a commitment fee of 0.40%. 
 
Draw downs under the facility may be used for general corporate purposes, including working capital requirements and funding capital 
expenditures and acquisitions. The credit facility requires the Corporation to maintain an interest coverage ratio, measured on a rolling 
four quarter basis, of at least 2.5:1. The interest coverage ratio is calculated as the ratio of the Corporation’s earnings before interest, 
taxes, share based compensation, depreciation and depletion and other non-cash items to interest paid. The Corporation’s interest 
coverage ratio at December 31, 2008, calculated in accordance with the credit agreement, was 10.5:1.  
 
SALE OF SHAREHOLDING IN AFLEASE GOLD 
 
On April 8, 2008 the Corporation sold 152.2 million Aflease Gold shares for $41.3 million (ZAR320 million).  An option granted to the 
purchaser to acquire Uranium One Africa’s remaining shareholding in Aflease Gold lapsed on May 8, 2008. Prior to year end, the 
Corporation sold an additional 12.5 million Aflease Gold shares for $3.2 million (ZAR25.9 million), decreasing the Corporation’s 
shareholding to 34% at year end.  
 
The assets and liabilities of Aflease Gold have been classified as discontinued operations for all periods presented in the consolidated 
financial statements.  The Corporation wrote down the investment to its fair market value as at December 31, 2008, resulting in an 
impairment of $121.3 million.  
 
Subsequent to December 31, 2008, the Corporation sold a further 153.5 million Aflease Gold shares for proceeds of $16.2 million 
(including a deposit of $3.1 million received in 2008), decreasing the Corporation’s shareholding in Aflease Gold to 6%. 
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SALE OF NON-CORE ASSETS 
 
During Q2 2008, Uranium One Africa disposed of its shareholding of 8.6 million shares in Randgold and Exploration Company Limited 
(“Randgold”) for proceeds of approximately $13.0 million. In 2005 Randgold was de-listed by the NASDAQ and suspended by the JSE for 
failure to file audited financial statements for its 2004 financial year.  The Corporation therefore attributed no value to these shares during 
the business combination between Uranium One and UrAsia Energy on April 20, 2007.  Taxes of $1.5 million on the capital gain realized 
on the sale were set off against tax loss carry-forwards of Uranium One Africa. 
 
The Corporation sold other available for sale securities for net cash proceeds of $11.9 million during the year. A loss of $5.5 million was 
realized on the sale of these securities. Tax of $0.9 million on the capital gain was set off against the Corporation’s tax loss carry-
forwards. 
 
URANIUM LOAN AGREEMENT 
 
On September 22, 2008, the Corporation entered into a two year loan agreement to borrow 200,000 pounds of U3O8 to provide the 
Corporation with flexibility to meet its long term contractual obligations in terms of future uranium sales contracts. Pursuant to the loan 
agreement, loan fees of 3.5% per annum are payable based on the value of the borrowed material.  In December 2008, the Corporation 
delivered 37,300 pounds of this material into a sales contract on behalf of Betpak Dala, to assist them in dealing with unexpected 
shipping delays over the holiday period. Betpak Dala returned the material to the Corporation after year end. 
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SUMMARY OF QUARTERLY RESULTS 
 

 
3 months ended 

Dec 31, 
2008 

Sep 30, 
2008 

Jun 30, 
2008 

Mar 31, 
2008 

Dec 31, 
2007 

Sep 30, 
2007 

Jun 30, 
2007 

Mar 31, 
2007 

(US dollars in thousands 
except per share and per 
lb amounts) 

$ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 
Revenues  21,146 56,723 49,390 22,517 61,010 8,019 23,265 41,730 
Net (loss) / earnings from 
continuing operations(2) (241,393) (2,013,684) (68,195) (10,315) 5,879 (16,980) (13,108) 7,971 

Basic and diluted (loss) / 
earnings per share from 
continuing operations(1) (2) 

(0.51) (4.30) (0.15) (0.02) 0.01 (0.04) (0.04) 0.04 

(Loss) / earnings from 
discontinued operations(2) (17,412) (567) 274 (104,555) (508) (277) (586) - 

Basic and diluted (loss) / 
earnings per share from 
discontinued operations(1) (2) 

(0.04) (0.00) 0.00 (0.22) (0.00) (0.00) (0.00) - 

Net (loss) / earnings (258,805) (2,014,251) (67,921) (114,870) 5,371 (17,257) (13,694) 7,971 

Basic and diluted (loss) / 
earnings per share(1) (0.55) (4.30) (0.15) (0.24) 0.01 (0.04) (0.04) 0.04 

Total assets  1,627,133 1,995,911 4,970,117 5,052,346 5,612,898 5,710,605 4,247,176 999,950 
 
Notes: 
(1) The basic and diluted earnings / loss per share are computed separately for each quarter presented and therefore may not sum to the years 

ended December 31, 2007 and December 31, 2008. 
(2) With the classification of Aflease Gold as a discontinued operation in Q1 2008, the operating results of Aflease Gold for periods up to 

Q1 2008 were reclassified from previously reported headings to earnings / (loss) from discontinued operations. The net impairment on 
Aflease Gold of $121.3 million in 2008 is also reported under this heading.  

 
THREE MONTHS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2008 
 
The following items and events affected the Corporation’s financial condition, cash flows and results of operations in Q4 2008. 
 
MITSUI TRANSACTION 
 
The Corporation received the proceeds from the sale of 49% of its Australian business during Q4 2008. The majority of the proceeds will 
be used to advance the development of the Honeymoon project to production in 2010. 
 
AFLEASE GOLD IMPAIRMENT 
 
The carrying value of the Corporation’s investment in Aflease Gold exceeded its fair value on December 31, 2008 and the Corporation 
regards this reduction in value as permanent. The loss from discontinued operations on $14.4 million in Q4 2008 therefore consists 
mainly of a further write-down of the Corporation’s investment in Aflease Gold. 
 
CREDIT FACILITY DRAWDOWN 
 
The Corporation drew down $65 million under the credit facility on October 20, 2008 and incurred interest charges of $0.5 million up to 
December 31, 2008.  Further costs relating to the credit facility, including availability fees and amortization of up-front costs, amounted to 
$0.8 million Q4 2008, for a total cost of $1.7 million for the year. 
 
KYZYLKUM PROJECT FINANCE FACILITY 
 
Kyzylkum increased its project finance facility with Citibank from $30 million to $90 million during the quarter and made a drawdown of 
$20 million against the extended facility during Q4 2008. The Corporation’s proportionate share of the draw down amounts to $6 million. 
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IMPAIRMENT OF MINERAL INTERESTS, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 
 
The Corporation revised the mine plans and economic models for its ISR mining projects in Wyoming, resulting in an impairment of the 
carrying value of the Corporation’s United States development properties of $204.3 million. The impairment, net of future income tax 
recoveries of $68.7 million, was $135.6 million. 
 
The Corporation cancelled option agreements pursuant to which it could earn into properties in New Mexico and re-evaluated the 
economic feasibility of certain of its United States exploration properties. This resulted in a write down of the carrying value of United 
States exploration properties of $135.4 million, which is $86.2 million net of future income tax recoveries of $49.2 million. The review also 
resulted in further write downs in the carrying value of certain United States conventional mining assets of $17.5 million, which is 
$13.4 million net of future income tax recoveries of $4.1 million. Included in this amount is the write off of a stockpile previously valued at 
$6.6 million, due to a significant reduction in an external toll milling facility’s ore buying rates.  
 
During Q4 2008, the Corporation cancelled the agreement whereby it leased its 8 GEFCO SS40 drill rigs to a drilling company in 
Kazakhstan. The Corporation has not concluded a lease agreement with another drilling company and impaired the drill rigs to their 
salvage value. The related impairment charge was approximately $9.7 million.  
 
URANIUM SALES, INVENTORY AND OPERATING COSTS 
 
The Corporation had attributable sales of 393,900 pounds of U3O8 during Q4 2008, compared to 689,200 pounds of U3O8 in Q4 2007. 
The Corporation’s attributed share of revenue from sales in Q4 2008 amounted to $21.1 million, compared to $61.0 million in Q4 2007. 
The decrease in revenue is due to a 43% lower sales volume and a 39% decrease in the average realized uranium price per pound of 
U3O8 compared to Q4 2007.   The average realized price per pound of U3O8 sold in Q4 2008 was $54, compared to an average spot 
price per pound of U3O8 of $51 in the quarter.  
 
Earnings from mining operations were $10.9 million in Q4 2008 after the deduction of operating expenses of $5.9 million ($15 per pound 
of U3O8 sold) and depreciation and depletion charges of $4.4 million ($11 per pound of U3O8 sold).  During Q4 2008, attributable inventory 
increased by 112,200 pounds of U3O8 as less U3O8 was delivered into sales contracts than the production for the quarter.  
 
CARE AND MAINTENANCE 
 
In Q4 2008, the Corporation suspended development activities at La Palangana and placed the Hobson facility on standby pending the 
identification of additional resources in Texas. In addition, the Corporation placed the Shootaring mill on care and maintenance, having 
concluded it could not be economically operated with the current resource base.  The cost of maintaining these properties and facilities 
(recognized as care and maintenance costs on the Corporation’s statement of operations) was $1.9 million for Q4 2008. 
 
With the exception of limited development activities, all mining and processing activities at the Dominion Project have been suspended 
and the cost of suspension of operations is recognized as Impairment of mineral interests, plant and equipment and closure costs in the 
Corporation’s statement of operations. Costs incurred after the operations have been fully suspended will be recognized as care and 
maintenance costs. Closure costs amounted to $17.5 million in Q4 2008. 
 
FUTURE INCOME TAX RECOVERY 
 
In addition to the future income tax recovery on the future income tax liability associated with the Akdala uranium mine of $1.5 million in 
Q4 2008 and future income tax recoveries on impairments to mineral interests, plant and equipment of $122.0 million, future income tax 
recoveries of $43.6 million were recorded, relating to future income tax assets raised in respect of temporary differences and the 
Corporation’s net operating losses.  
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NON-GAAP MEASURES 
 
ADJUSTED NET EARNINGS / LOSS 
 
The Corporation has included non-GAAP performance measures, adjusted net earnings / loss and adjusted net earnings / loss per share 
throughout this document.  Adjusted net earnings / loss and adjusted net earnings / loss per share do not have any standardized 
meaning prescribed by GAAP and are therefore unlikely to be comparable to similar measures reported by other companies. The 
Corporation believes that, in addition to conventional measures prepared in accordance with GAAP, certain investors use this information 
to evaluate the Corporation’s performance and ability to generate cash flow.  This is provided as additional information and should not be 
considered in isolation of, or as a substitute for, measures of performance prepared in accordance with GAAP.  
 
Adjusted net earnings / loss is calculated by adjusting the net profit / loss from continuing operations with unrealized foreign exchange 
gains / losses on future income tax liabilities, impairments, cost of suspension of operations and gains / losses from the sale of assets. 
These items are added back due to their inherent volatility and/or infrequent occurrence.  Adjusted net earnings / loss previously were not 
adjusted for impairments, cost of suspension of operations and gains / losses from the sale of assets, as these items were not material in 
previous financial years.  
 
The following table provides a reconciliation of adjusted net earnings / loss to the financial statements: 
  Year ended 
   Dec 31, 2008  

$(000’s) 
Dec 31, 2007 

$(000’s) 

Net loss from continuing operations   (2,333,587) (16,238) 
Unrealized foreign exchange (gain) / loss on future income tax liabilities   (1,340) 18,727 
(Gain) / loss on sale of available for sale securities (net of tax of $2,397)   (1,948) 932 
Impairment of mineral interests, plant and equipment and closure costs (net of 
future income tax recovery of $963,024)   2,359,198 - 

Adjusted net earnings   22,323 3,421 
     
Adjusted net earnings per share – basic ($)   0.05 0.01 
     
Weighted average number of shares (thousands) – basic   468,424 360,656 
     
 
AVERAGE REALIZED SALES PRICE PER POUND OF U3O8 AND COST PER POUND OF U3O8 SOLD 
 
The Corporation has included non-GAAP performance measures throughout this document: average realized sales price per pound of 
U3O8 and cost per pound of U3O8 sold. The Corporation reports total cash costs on a sales basis. In the uranium mining industry, these 
are common performance measures but do not have any standardized meaning, and are non-GAAP measures. The Corporation believes 
that, in addition to conventional measures prepared in accordance with GAAP, the Corporation and certain investors use this information 
to evaluate the Corporation’s performance and ability to generate cash flow.  This is provided as additional information and should not be 
considered in isolation of, or as a substitute for, measures of performance prepared in accordance with GAAP.  
 
As in previous periods, sales per pound of U3O8 and cost per pound of U3O8 sold are calculated by dividing the Revenues and Operating 
expenses found in the Statement of Operations in the Consolidated Financial Statements by the pounds of U3O8 sold in the period. 
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS AND DISCUSSION OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
 
SELECTED FINANCIAL INFORMATION 
 
The Corporation’s consolidated financial statements and the financial data set out below have been prepared in accordance with GAAP. 
Uranium One and its operating subsidiaries use the United States dollar, the South African rand, the Australian dollar and the Canadian 
dollar as measurement currencies. 
 

Year ended 
5 months 
ended(2) Year ended 

(US dollars in thousands except per share and per lb amounts) Dec 31, 2008 
$ 

Dec 31, 2007 
$ 

Dec 31, 2006  
$ 

Jul 31, 2006 
$ 

Revenue 149,776 134,024 50,449 23,507 
(Loss) / earnings from continuing operations (2,333,587) (16,238) 19,684 (48,939) 
Loss from discontinued operations  (122,260) (1,371) - - 
Net (loss) / earnings (2,455,847) (17,609) 19,684 (48,939) 
Adjusted net earnings / (loss)  22,323 3,421 (5,052) (6,337) 
Cash flows from / (to) operating activities 36,126 21,192 (11,375) (1,437) 
     
(Loss) / earnings per share from continuing operations (4.98) (0.05) 0.09 (0.27) 
Loss per share from discontinued operations (0.26) (0.00) - - 
(Loss) / earnings per share (5.24) (0.05) 0.09 (0.27) 
Adjusted net (loss) / earnings per share  0.05 0.01 (0.02) (0.03) 
     
Product inventory carrying value(1) 7,985 15,221 10,826 10,760 
Total assets 1,627,133 5,612,898 971,618 951,025 
Long term financial liabilities 616,533 1,849,709 341,964 368,490 
     
Average realized uranium price per lb of U3O8 68 83 51 29 
Average U3O8 spot price per lb 62 99 60 38 
     
 lbs of U3O8 lbs of U3O8 lbs of U3O8 lbs of U3O8 
Attributable sales volume  2,210,900 1,608,700 980,000 811,700 
Attributable production volume  1,873,600 1,827,200 939,600 1,192,800 
Attributable inventory(1)  345,000 748,900 565,400 637,000 
 
Notes: 
(1) Inventory as at December 31, 2008 is attributable to the Akdala Uranium Mine.  Pre-commercial production from the Corporation’s 

development projects are capitalized to the project as pre-production capital expenditure. 
(2) The Corporation changed its year end from July to December in 2006. 
 
Uranium One completed a business combination with UrAsia Energy on April 20, 2007.  The transaction was treated as a reverse take-
over under GAAP, with UrAsia Energy identified as the acquirer and Uranium One as the acquiree.  Consequently, the historic figures 
used herein for periods up to and including March 31, 2007 are those of UrAsia Energy. The fair value net assets acquired by 
UrAsia Energy were $1.8 billion. 
 
On April 30, 2007, the Corporation completed the purchase, from U.S. Energy Corporation of the Shootaring Canyon Uranium Mill in 
Utah, as well as a land package comprising uranium exploration properties in Utah, Wyoming, Arizona and Colorado and a substantial 
database of geological information. The fair value of net assets acquired by the Corporation pursuant to this transaction was 
$108.5 million. 
 
On August 10, 2007, the Corporation completed the purchase of Energy Metals Corporation (“EMC”). The transaction resulted in the 
addition of a large portfolio of uranium exploration properties located throughout the western United States, including the Corporation’s 
Powder River Basin and Great Divide Basin properties, and the Hobson ISR processing facility in Texas. The fair value of net assets 
acquired by the Corporation pursuant to this transaction was $1.1 billion. 
 
Aflease Gold was classified as a discontinued operation in Q1 2008 and the operating results of Aflease Gold for periods up to Q1 2008 
were reclassified from previously reported headings to earnings / (loss) from discontinued operations. The net loss from discontinued 
operations in 2008 includes an impairment charge, net of tax, of $121.3 million. 
 
The Corporation wrote down mineral interests, plant and equipment by $3.3 billion in 2008 - $1.8 billion on Dominion; $0.9 billion on 
United States exploration properties; $0.2 billion on United States development properties; $0.2 billion on Honeymoon and Australian 
exploration; $0.1 billion on United States conventional mining properties; and $0.1 billion on Hobson and La Palangana. The future 
income tax recovery on the write down was $1.0 billion, resulting in a net total impairment of $2.4 billion. 
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 
 
URANIUM SALES, INVENTORY AND OPERATING COSTS 
 
The spot price of U3O8 reached record levels during Q2 2007, with a closing price of $136 per pound of U3O8 on June 30, 2007.  Since 
then it has steadily declined, reaching a monthly low of $45 per pound of U3O8 in October 2008 and closing at $53 per pound of U3O8 on 
December 31, 2008.  As the majority of the Corporation’s sales contracts are related to the spot price of U3O8 at the time of delivery, 
fluctuations in the spot price of U3O8 have a direct impact on the Corporation’s revenue.  
 
The Corporation’s sales volumes are determined by the terms of long term sales contracts with customers and the delivery schedules 
which customers are allowed to select each given year. The Corporation forecasts the amount of U3O8 to be produced from its mines over 
the medium to long term and enters into long term sales contracts (i.e., contracts for delivery more than 12 months from the date of 
execution) with customers for specific yearly quantities.  The Corporation commits a relatively high degree of its projected production for 
delivery into contracts in the immediate future, with progressively lower percentages being committed to contracts with delivery dates 
more than four to five years in the future.  The Corporation also maintains a ‘cushion’ between projected production and committed sales 
to ensure that it can meet all delivery commitments even in the event of lower than projected production.  Sales contracts normally 
provide for delivery of a fixed quantity of uranium concentrates per year.  Delivery schedules are generally fixed, with minor allowances 
for customers to select the exact month of delivery depending on their refuelling schedules.  Customers normally schedule deliveries to 
ensure the U3O8 is delivered in time to correspond to their schedules for conversion, enrichment, and fabrication, which in turn depend on 
their schedule for reloading of fuel at their nuclear power plants. The exact timing of sales is therefore not entirely at the Corporation’s 
discretion and sales are often uneven from quarter to quarter depending on the exact dates that customers choose for delivery of their 
uranium. 
 
Customers take delivery of U3O8 at conversion facilities and the Corporation ships the U3O8 produced at its mines to converters in time 
for scheduled deliveries to customers. In situations where deliveries are scheduled shortly after a quarter end, the Corporation often has 
low sales in that quarter, with higher inventory levels in anticipation of the delivery. Where deliveries are scheduled shortly before a 
quarter end, sales for the quarter could be higher, with relatively low inventory balances at the end of the quarter. Depending on the 
location of the conversion facility, shipping times from Kazakhstan can be up to four months and the lead time between production of 
U3O8 and sales therefore has a significant impact on inventory levels at any given time. 
 
Pursuant to existing contracts, the Corporation had attributable sales of 2,210,900 pounds of U3O8 during 2008, compared to 1,608,700 
pounds of U3O8 in 2007. The Corporation’s attributed share of revenue from sales in 2008 amounted to $149.8 million, compared to 
$134.0 million in 2007, with the 37% higher sales volume partially offset by a 19% decrease in the average realized uranium price per 
pound of U3O8 compared to 2007.  
 
The average realized price per pound of U3O8 sold in 2008 was $68, compared to an average spot price per pound of U3O8 of $62 over 
the year. The average realized price per pound of U3O8 sold in 2007 was $83, compared to an average spot price per pound of U3O8 of 
$99 during 2007. 
 
Earnings from mining operations were $96.7 million in 2008 after the deduction of operating expenses of $30.5 million ($14 per pound of 
U3O8 sold) and depreciation and depletion charges of $22.6 million ($10 per pound of U3O8 sold). The Corporation initially expected the 
average cash cost per pound of U3O8 sold in 2008 to be $12 per pound and the increase to $14 per pound of U3O8 was largely due to 
increased costs of sulphuric acid caused by sulphuric acid shortages in Kazakhstan for extended periods in 2008.  
 
During 2008 attributable inventory decreased by 403,900 pounds of U3O8 as more U3O8 was delivered into sales contracts than the 
production for the year.  
 
In 2007, earnings from mining operations were $101.8 million after the deduction of operating expenses of $17.3 million ($11 per pound 
of U3O8 sold) and depletion costs of $14.9 million ($9 per pound of U3O8 sold).  
 
GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE COSTS 
 
The main drivers of the cash component of general and administrative expenses are salaries, directors’ fees, consulting and advisor fees, 
travel expenses and office rent. Non-cash stock option and restricted share expenses are normally a significant contributor to general 
and administrative expenditure as a significant contributing factor to Uranium One’s future success is its ability to attract and retain 
qualified and competent personnel.  To accomplish this, Uranium One adopted a stock option plan and a restricted share plan to advance 
its interests by encouraging directors, officers and employees to have equity participation in Uranium One. 
 
General and administrative expenses, including stock option and restricted share expenses of $15.4 million, amounted to $48.7 million 
for 2008, compared to $68.6 million for 2007, including stock option and restricted share expenses of $37.7 million. The expense in 2007 
was higher than usual mainly due to the increased costs associated with the business combinations between Uranium One, UrAsia 
Energy and Energy Metals Corp. Stock-based compensation was unusually high in 2007, due to the revaluation of options acquired 
during the business combinations. The general and administrative expense for 2008 includes salaries and directors’ fees of $19.1 million, 
consulting and advisor fees of $7.3 million, travel expenses of $2.1 million and office rent of $2.0 million.  
 
EXPLORATION 
 
The Corporation has a significant resource base and does not rely on exploration success for current and future production activities. 
Exploration expenditure is therefore purely discretionary and the extent of exploration programs is determined by the amount of cash 
available for exploration. Exploration expenditure relates to exploration programs undertaken on the Corporation’s licence areas in the 
United States, South Africa, Canada, Australia and the Kyrgyz Republic and amounted to $14.9 million during 2008 compared to $16.8 
million during 2007. 
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IMPAIRMENT OF MINERAL INTERESTS, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND CLOSURE COSTS 
 
The Corporation completed a detailed planning process in 2008, including life of mine planning and a three year budget. Due to several 
indicators of impairment, the Corporation performed impairment testing during this period and impairments were recognized on several 
projects. The total impairment of mineral interests, plant and equipment for 2008 amounted to $3.3 billion, with future income tax 
recoveries of $1.0 billion. The impairment, net of future income tax recoveries, amounted to $2.4 billion. 
 
Dominion 
 
A significant deterioration in Dominion’s economics associated with the continuing decline in uranium prices over the last year and 
significant inflation-related increases in project costs, together with a slower than expected ramp-up in development and production were 
the major factors contributing to the Corporation’s decision to place the Dominion project on care and maintenance. The fair value of 
Dominion at December 31, 2008 has been estimated as its salvage value of $44.6 million and an impairment of $1.8 billion has been 
recognized. A future income tax recovery of $474.7 million has been recorded, reducing the net impairment to $1.3 billion.  The cost of 
suspension of operations at Dominion amounted to $17.5 million in 2008. 
 
Honeymoon 
 
The Corporation agreed with Mitsui & Co., Ltd. to create joint ventures in relation to the Australian assets of the Corporation. Under the 
agreement, Mitsui acquired a 49% interest in the Honeymoon project and the company’s Australian exploration portfolio. As the 
transaction value was below the carrying value of these assets, Honeymoon and the Australian exploration properties were written down 
to fair value. An impairment of $195.4 million has been recorded. A future income tax recovery of $59.2 million reduced the net 
impairment to $136.2 million. 
 
Hobson and La Palangana 
 
During mine planning in 2008, it was concluded that the La Palangana project has an estimated fair value of $6.2 million, which was 
substantially lower than its carrying value. The downward revision in value was due to substantially lower than anticipated recoverable 
resources at La Palangana.  In light of the reduced recoverable resources, the Corporation decided to place the Hobson facility on care 
and maintenance and postpone the development of La Palangana until additional feed for Hobson has been identified.  An impairment of 
$83.4 million has been recognized on Hobson and La Palangana, with an associated future income tax recovery of $19.0 million, for a 
net impairment of $64.4 million. 
 
United States development projects 
 
The Corporation revised the mine plans and economic models for its ISR mining projects in Wyoming, resulting in an impairment of the 
carrying value of the Corporation’s United States development properties of $204.3 million. The impairment, net of future income tax 
recoveries of $68.7 million, was $135.6 million. 
 
United States conventional mining projects 
 
The Corporation concluded that the Shootaring Canyon Mill cannot be operated economically with the current available resource base 
when taking the total cost of operation and associated contingent payments into account and has fully written down the carrying value of 
the mill, due to its having a negligible salvage value. The Corporation evaluated the economic feasibility of its conventional mining 
properties as well and concluded that certain of its properties cannot be put to economic use in the current economic environment. The 
total resultant impairment was $65.3 million, with an associated future income tax recovery of $4.1 million for a net impairment of $61.2 
million.  
 
United States exploration projects 
 
Further impairments of $936.6 million were recognized on various United States exploration properties due to a range of factors including 
economic feasibility, cancellation of option agreements, metallurgical recovery, licensing and environmental issues. The impairment net 
of a future income tax recovery of $331.7 million was $604.9 million. 
 
Corporate and other 
 
During Q4 2008, the Corporation cancelled an agreement to lease 8 GEFCO SS40 drill rigs to a drilling company in Kazakhstan. The 
Corporation has not concluded a lease agreement with another drilling company and has accordingly impaired the drill rigs to their 
salvage value. The related impairment charge of $9.7 million is included in the $31.8 million impairment on corporate and other assets.  
 
CARE AND MAINTENANCE 
 
The cost to maintain Hobson, La Palangana and Shootaring are recognized as care and maintenance costs on the Corporation’s 
statement of operations and was $1.9 million for 2008. 
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INTEREST AND OTHER 
 
Interest income amounted to $10.3 million in 2008, compared to $12.0 million in 2007.  In addition to the interest earned on loans to joint 
ventures, interest is earned on funds held on deposit by the Corporation.   
 
Interest accrued on the Corporation’s convertible debentures was $15.1 million in 2008. The expense of $9.7 million in 2007 represents 
the expense from April 20, 2007, the date on which the debentures were acquired in the Uranium One / UrAsia business combination. 
 
The interest expense on the $65 million drawn down under the Corporation’s credit facility on October 20, 2008 was $0.5 million up to 
December 31, 2008. The loan currently bears interest at 1.8%. Other charges related to the credit facility, including amortization of 
upfront costs and the availability fee were $1.7 million in 2008. 
 
Other interest paid in 2007 of $2.8 million, included interest paid on short term loans which were repaid in September 2007. 
 
GAIN / LOSS ON SALE OF AVAILABLE FOR SALE SECURITIES 
 
The Corporation owns shares in several junior uranium exploration companies. There companies were severely affected by the recent 
disruptions in global credit and financial markets. A permanent decline in the value of these shares resulted in a $3.1 million impairment 
of available for sale securities in 2008.  
 
A gain of $7.5 million was realized on the disposal of available for sale securities, including the Corporation’s investment in Randgold 
during 2008. Taxes of $2.4 million on the profits realized were offset against available tax loss carry forwards. In 2007, the Corporation 
recognized a $0.9 million loss on available for sale securities. 
 
FOREIGN EXCHANGE LOSS 
 
The net foreign exchange loss for 2008 amounted to $11.7 million and consisted of a realized loss of $13.0 million, offset by a 
$1.3 million unrealized exchange gain arising from translation of the future income tax liability in respect of the Corporation’s investment 
in Kazakhstan, which increased as result of a weakening of the Kazakhstan tenge against the US dollar during the year.  For the 2007 
year, a foreign exchange loss of $13.0 million was recorded.  
 
The National Bank of Kazakhstan announced on February 4, 2009 that it will cease to maintain the Kazakhstan tenge within the previous 
corridor of 117-123 tenge to the US dollar and suggested that the rate be set to between 145 and 155 tenge to the US dollar. This 
amounted to a devaluation of 25%, which will impact the translated values of monetary assets and liabilities, with the effect being 
processed through the statement of operations in Q1 2009.  
 
The devaluation was necessitated by a general devaluation of most currencies against the US dollar in 2008. According to the National 
Bank of Kazakhstan, for the period from January 2008 to January 2009, the national currencies of a number of other countries all 
significantly weakened against the U.S. dollar: Russia (44%), Belarus (28%), Ukraine (52.5%), the United Kingdom (38%), Europe (13%), 
Norway (28%), Brazil (31%), Australia (27%) and Canada (26%).  
 
INCOME TAXES 
 
Current income tax expense for 2008 was $44.2 million represents taxes paid and payable in Kazakhstan on profits from the 
Corporation’s Akdala Uranium Mine. For 2007 a $41.2 million income tax expense was recorded, mainly for the Akdala Uranium Mine. 
 
The future income tax recovery for 2008 of $1.0 billion arises from a recovery of the future income tax liability related to the acquisition of 
the Akdala mine of $7.9 million, a future income tax recovery of $963.0 million on impairments recognized on mineral interests, plant and 
equipment as well as an increase of $42.6 million in future income tax assets due to temporary differences and tax loss carry forwards.  
In 2007, a recovery of future income taxes of $17.6 million was recorded, being a recovery of the future income tax liability related to the 
acquisition of the Akdala mine of $5.3 million and an increase of $12.3 million in future income tax assets due to temporary differences 
and tax loss carry forwards.  
 
LOSS FROM DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS  
 
Aflease Gold was classified as a discontinued operation in Q1 2008 and all items related to Aflease Gold in the Statement of Operations 
were separated from normal operations. The net loss from discontinued operations of $122.3 million includes an impairment charge, net 
of tax, of $121.3 million. 
 
NET LOSS FOR THE YEAR 
 
The net loss for 2008 amounted to $2.5 billion or $5.24 per share, compared to a net loss of $17.6 million or $0.05 per share for 2007. 
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FINANCIAL CONDITION  
 
On December 31, 2008, the Corporation had cash and cash equivalents of $176.2 million, compared to $159.6 million at 
December 31, 2007.   
 
Inventories decreased to $17.4 million from the $21.0 million held at December 31, 2007, due to a decrease of $7.2 million in finished 
uranium concentrates and solutions and concentrates in process. The decrease was partially offset by an increase in materials and 
supplies of $3.7 million. Materials and supplies increased in line with higher inventories of spares used in the maintenance of the 
Corporation’s drill rigs deployed in Kazakhstan and increased consumables inventory at Kharasan and South Inkai in line with increased 
activity levels.  
 
As at December 31, 2008 the Corporation had attributable inventory of 345,000 pounds of U3O8 of which approximately 226,200 pounds 
is held in the form of saleable product. The saleable product on hand as at December 31, 2008, is committed for delivery under existing 
sales contracts subsequent to year end. Shipping times for finished product can be up to four months, depending on the distance 
between the mine site and conversion facility, where sales are concluded through transfer of legal title and ownership. 
 
Inventory as at December 31, 2008 is attributable to the Akdala Uranium Mine.  Pre-commercial production from the Corporation’s 
development projects are not accounted for as inventory. Attributable material produced and on hand from the Corporation’s 
development projects at December 31, 2008 amounted to 808,400 pounds of U3O8 at South Inkai, 132,500 pounds of U3O8 at Dominion 
and 9,400 pounds of U3O8 at Kharasan. In addition to the material produced, Dominion held 164,000 pounds of U3O8 purchased to 
deliver into sales contracts subsequent to year end, accounted for as purchased uranium concentrates in other assets.  
 
A summary of Akdala’s attributable inventory carried at the end of 2008 is as follows: 

Category Location Lbs of U3O8 
(000’s) 

In process Mine site 34.6 
In process External processing facilities 84.2 
Finished product ready to be shipped External processing facilities - 
Finished product In transit In transit 161.9 
Finished product at conversion facility Conversion facilities 64.3 
Total inventory  345.0 
 
Short term loans advanced to Betpak Dala, of which $17.0 million was outstanding at December 31, 2007, were repaid in full by 
February 9, 2008.  Scheduled repayments on the loan to Kyzylkum of $26.7 million plus interest were received from Kyzylkum during the 
year, resulting in an outstanding loan balance of $46.7 million as at December 31, 2008.  Scheduled repayments from Kyzylkum during 
2009 are expected to be $26.7 million. 
 
Impairments to mineral interests, plant and equipment were $3.3 billion in 2008, with an associated future income tax recovery of $1.0 
billion.  
 
A further decrease in the reporting values of mineral interests, plant and equipment due to a 36% weakening of the South African rand 
against the US dollar and a 26% weakening of the Australian dollar against the US dollar during the year, were offset by cash additions to 
mineral interests, plant and equipment of $216.8 million. 
 
Available for sale securities with a carrying value of $17.4 million were disposed of during the year and a permanent impairment of 
$3.1 million was recognized in the statement of operations. A further temporary decline in value of $0.2 million was recognized in other 
comprehensive income during the year. 
 
Due to the Corporation’s decision in Q1 2008 to dispose of Aflease Gold, it has been treated as a discontinued operation in comparative 
periods and its assets and liabilities are therefore presented as follows in December 31, 2007: current assets of $95.0 million; non-current 
assets of $286.6 million; current liabilities of $5.2 million; and non-current liabilities of $183.1 million, for a net asset value of 
$193.2 million. The decrease in the December 31, 2007 carrying value to the carrying value of $9.0 million as at December 31, 2008 is 
mainly due to the sale of shares with a carrying value of $34.4 million and an impairment of $121.3 million. The $27.5 million unrealized 
foreign exchange loss due to the 36% weakening of the South African rand against the US dollar was accounted for as other 
comprehensive income. 
 
The Corporation borrowed 200,000 pounds of U3O8 pursuant to a uranium loan agreement to provide the Corporation with flexibility to 
meet its long term contractual obligations in terms of future uranium sales contracts.  As 37,300 pounds of the material were delivered 
into a sales contract on behalf of Betpak Dala, which experienced unexpected shipping delays over the year-end holiday period, a non-
current asset of $8.6 million is accounted for in respect of the borrowed uranium concentrates of 162,700 pounds of U3O8 on hand as at 
December 31, 2008. The corresponding non-current liability of $10.7 million reflects the full liability to repay the 200,000 pounds of U3O8 
on September 30, 2010.  
 
The debt component of the convertible debentures decreased by $18.5 million due to an unrealized foreign exchange gain of 
$27.6 million, which is included in other comprehensive income, partially offset by the net increase in accrued interest of $9.1 million. The 
convertible debentures are denominated in Canadian dollar and unrealized foreign exchange gain was caused by the 24% weakening of 
the Canadian dollar against the US dollar during the year. 
 
The Corporation drew down $65 million against its $100 million credit facility during the year. The upfront costs associated with the credit 
facility of $5.7 million are being amortized over the initial period of the loan and the balance of $3.9 million as at December 31, 2008 have 
been offset against the proceeds of the loan, in line with the Corporation’s accounting policies. 
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Future income tax liabilities decreased by $1.1 billion from December 31, 2007 due to a future income tax recovery on the impairment of 
mineral interests, plant and equipment of $963.0 million, the recovery of future income taxes on Akdala of $7.9 million, an increase of 
$42.6 million in future income tax assets due to temporary differences and tax loss carry forwards and fluctuations in foreign exchange 
rates.  
 
The Corporation’s 30% proportionate share of the Kyzylkum finance facility increased to $35.5 million as Kyzylkum increased their 
drawdown against the facility from $60 million to $120 million during the year. 
 
Changes in shareholders’ equity consist mainly of the net loss for the year of $2.5 billion and a foreign translation loss on the translation 
of continuing self-sustaining foreign operations during the year, of $282.2 million.  
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LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES 
 
At December 31, 2008 the Corporation had working capital of $204.7 million.  Included in this amount is cash and cash equivalents of 
$176.2 million, which includes the proportionate share of the Corporation’s cash and cash equivalents at its joint venture operations in 
Kazakhstan. The interest earned on these cash balances will be applied to existing commitments in respect of the Corporation’s 
development projects and other current commitments. Approximately 70% of the Corporation’s total cash balances were held in United 
States dollars with 5 Canadian banks with a credit rating of at least A-1/P-1/R-1 high at December 31, 2008. 
 
Cash held by the Corporation’s joint venture operations is applied to the business of the joint ventures and cash flows between the 
Corporation and the joint ventures normally only occur through loans to the joint ventures and dividends declared by the joint ventures. 
The Corporation received its first dividend of $40 million from Betpak Dala in November 2008 and expects regular dividend payments 
from Betpak Dala from 2009 onwards. The Corporation expects that Betpak Dala will fund its capital requirements from operations, 
without the need for finance from the Corporation or third parties.  
 
Kyzylkum has $40 million available under its Citibank project finance facility. The Corporation expects that Kyzylkum will require 
additional funding to the undrawn facility in the second half of 2009 to finance its activities until the generation of positive cash flow from 
operations.  If Kyzylkum is unsuccessful in obtaining further third party finance, the Corporation may have to defer a portion of the $26.7 
million repayment on the loan Kyzylkum received from the Corporation due in 2009. 
 
The Corporation expects that its Australian operations will be self-funding in 2009, utilizing the proceeds from the Mitsui transaction for 
the development of Honeymoon and for general corporate purposes. 
 
In addition to working capital at hand and the approximately $220 million (C$270 million) which will be available to the Corporation on the 
closing of the private placement to a Japanese consortium announced on February 10, 2009, the Corporation has access to an additional 
$21.5 million through its credit facility, which was concluded with Bank of Montreal and The Bank of Nova Scotia at the end of Q2 2008. 
Under the credit agreement, the Corporation is required to maintain an interest coverage ratio of more than 2.5:1 on a rolling four 
quarters basis. The interest coverage ratio is the ratio of the Corporation’s earnings before interest, tax, share based compensation, 
depreciation and depletion and other non-cash items to interest paid. The Corporation’s interest coverage ratio as at December 31, 2008, 
calculated in accordance with the credit agreement, was 10.5:1. 
 
During 2008, the Corporation received cash proceeds of $69.5 million through the sale of non-core investments, including a portion of its 
shareholding in Aflease Gold ($44.5 million), Randgold ($13.0 million) and other available for sale securities ($11.9 million).  Subsequent 
to year end, the Corporation received approximately $16.2 million from the sale of Aflease Gold shares.   
 
The Corporation earns revenue from the sale of uranium from the operating Akdala and South Inkai uranium mines in Kazakhstan. 
Additional sales revenue will be earned from uranium sales when the Corporation’s development projects reach commercial production.  
 
Attributable inventory levels at Betpak Dala are expected to increase from approximately 1.2 million pounds of U3O8 at December 31, 
2008 to approximately 1.8 million pounds of U3O8 by the end of 2009. 
 
Uranium is sold under forward long-term delivery contracts.  Contracted deliveries are planned to be filled from the Corporation’s mining 
operations.  The ability to deliver contracted product is therefore dependent upon the continued operation of the mining operations as 
planned. The Corporation has entered into market related sales contracts with price mechanisms that reference the spot price in effect at 
or near the time of delivery. In addition, the Corporation has negotiated floor price protection in most of its sales contracts.  
 
At December 31, 2008, there were outstanding sales commitments for 3,925,000 pounds of U3O8 in respect of sales contracts for the 
Dominion project.  The Corporation plans to meet these commitments by selling inventory on hand from Dominion of approximately 
132,500 pounds of U3O8, delivering 164,000 pounds which were purchased for this purpose in 2008, the additional purchase of material 
in the spot market, and the possible assignment of certain of these sales contracts to other group entities. The Corporation has floor price 
protection in all the Dominion contracts and does not expect to incur material losses in honouring the sales commitments for Dominion. 
 
For 2009, committed sales under contract represent approximately 62% of expected production, without taking any available inventory 
into account. 
 
Recent disruptions in global credit and financial markets have resulted in a significantly deteriorating economic climate, which contributed 
to the asset impairments discussed elsewhere in this document.   
 
In response to these conditions, the Corporation has taken a number of steps, following the initial sustained drop in the uranium price, to 
reduce or defer previously planned capital and corporate expenditures, including placing the Dominion Project on care and maintenance, 
deferring project start-up at Hobson, obtaining a partner to fund the development of Honeymoon and implementing significant reductions 
in exploration expenditure and corporate costs across all operations.   
 
In October 2008, the Corporation drew down $65 million under its credit facility as an internal cash reserve and in February 2009 
negotiated a C$270 million private placement with a Japanese consortium.  The Corporation will therefore have cash resources sufficient 
to sustain capital and corporate expenditures planned for.  Capital expenditures by the Betpak Dala and Kyzylkum joint ventures are 
funded through the joint ventures’ operating cash flow or by way of third party debt facilities. The Corporation’s Australian joint ventures, 
including Honeymoon, will be funded from the cash commitment of approximately $73 million (A$104 million) from Mitsui in 2009.  
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The Corporation is currently evaluating the application of the proceeds from the private placement with the Japanese consortium. The 
potential uses of these proceeds include acceleration of the Corporation’s growth and development plans, the reduction of debt and 
working capital.  
 
The Corporation’s short term investments have not been affected by current financial market disruptions as these investments are 
primarily held in bearer deposit notes issued and guaranteed mainly by Canadian chartered banks. The Corporation plans on reinvesting 
the proceeds of these notes on their maturity in similar short term instruments.  
 
The outstanding amount under the credit facility is repayable on June 27, 2010, and the repayment date may be extended, if needed, to 
June 27, 2011, with lenders’ consent. The $65 million drawdown under the credit facility currently attracts interest of 1.8% per annum, 
payable on a monthly basis. Uranium One’s convertible debentures mature on December 31, 2011. Fixed interest of 4.25% on the 
debentures is payable semi-annually in arrears. 
 
In addition to the factors described above, Uranium One’s ability to raise capital is highly dependent on the commercial viability of its 
projects and the underlying price of uranium. Other risk factors including the Corporation’s ability to develop its projects into commercially 
viable mines, international uranium industry competition, public acceptance of nuclear power and governmental regulation, can also 
adversely affect Uranium One’s ability to raise additional funding.  There is no assurance that additional sources of funding, if required, 
will be forthcoming.  Please refer to “Risks and Uncertainties”. 
 
 
CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS 
 
 Payments due by period 
Contractual obligations ($’000) 

Total 
Less than 1 

year 
1 to 3
years 

4 to 5 
years 

After
5 years 

Lease obligations 7,414 511 4,042 1,370 1,491 
Kyzylkum long term debt 35,453 - 19,750 15,703 - 
Convertible debenture 126,797 - 126,797 - - 
Credit facility repayments 65,000 - 65,000 - - 
Capital commitments 38,543 9,543 29,000 - - 
Asset retirement obligation 12,999 - - - 12,999 
Other 1,551 149   1,402 
Total contractual obligations 287,757 10,203 244,589 17,073 15,892 
 
 
COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 
 
Due to the size, complexity and nature of the Corporation’s operations, various legal and tax matters arise in the ordinary course of 
business.  The Corporation accrues for such items when a liability is both probable and the amount can be reasonably estimated.  In the 
opinion of management, these matters will not have a material effect on the consolidated financial statements of the Corporation. 
 
ACQUISITION OF THE SHOOTARING MILL 
 
Further payments due under the purchase agreement for the Shootaring Mill and related uranium exploration properties are:  
• $27.5 million depending on the achievement of certain production targets; and  
• the payment of a royalty to U.S. Energy of 5% of the gross proceeds from the sale of commodities produced at the Mill, to a 

maximum amount of $12.5 million. 
 
ACQUISITION OF INTEREST IN BETPAK DALA 
 
A bonus payment is payable in cash based on uranium reserves discovered on the South Inkai property in excess of 66,000 tonnes.  The 
payment is based on the Corporation’s share of pounds of U3O8 in excess of 66,000 tonnes times the average spot price of U3O8 times 
6.25%.  This payment is initially to be calculated at the end of 2011 and each year thereafter, and paid 60 days after the end of the year 
in which a payment is due.  As security for the bonus payments, the Corporation pledged its participatory interest in Betpak Dala 
(including the shares of a subsidiary) and its share of uranium products produced by Betpak Dala. 

 
ACQUISITION OF INTEREST IN KYZYLKUM 
 
A bonus payment is due upon commencement of commercial production.  The seller elected, under the terms of the arrangement, to 
receive 6,964,200 shares of Uranium One upon commencement of commercial production.  An additional bonus payment of 30% of 
12.5% (being an effective 3.75%) of the weighted average spot price of U3O8 will be paid on incremental reserves in excess of 55,000 
tonnes of U3O8 discovered during each fiscal year end, with payments beginning within 60 days of the end of the 2008 calendar year. 
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ACQUISITION OF EMC 
 
The Corporation has assumed all of the obligations of EMC and its subsidiaries arising under certain option and joint venture agreements 
with third parties. Uranium One has reserved a total of 407,100 common shares of Uranium One for issuance pursuant to the assumed 
obligations under the Contingent Share Rights Agreements. 
 
Production payments are due under the purchase agreement for the Hobson Processing plant and related exploration properties. The 
agreement provides for a payment of $0.75 per pound for the first eight million pounds produced from the Hobson facility, for a total 
maximum payment of $6 million. 
 
CONSTRUCTION OF A SULPHURIC ACID PLANT AT ZHANAKORGAN 
 
To ensure long term supply continuity of sulphuric acid in Kazakhstan, the Corporation has established a joint venture with Kazatomprom 
and other affected parties to build a sulphuric acid plant near Kharasan at Zhanakorgan. The Corporation’s ownership percentage in this 
joint venture is expected to be 19%. On January 19, 2009, the Corporation provided a guarantee to Desmet Ballestra in respect of 19% 
of the value of orders placed by Desmet Ballestra for certain long lead items, limited to a maximum amount of $7.6 million (€ 5.5 million). 
 
 
OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS 
 
The Corporation has no off-balance sheet arrangements. 
 
 
OUTSTANDING SHARE DATA 
 
As of March 11, 2009, there were issued and outstanding 469,616,197 common shares   
 
A warrant was issued in connection with the acquisition of the Corporation’s interest in Kyzylkum entitling the holder to acquire 6,964,200 
shares in Uranium One for no additional consideration upon commencement of commercial production from the Kharasan Uranium 
Project. Uranium One has reserved a total of 407,100 common shares for issuance to third parties under certain property option and joint 
venture agreements. 
 
As of March 11, 2009, there were 14,265,689 stock options outstanding under Uranium One’s stock option plan and the security based 
compensation plans assumed by the Corporation pursuant to its acquisitions, at exercise prices ranging from C$0.78 to C$16.59 and 
577,254 restricted shares outstanding. 
 
Uranium One has 155,250 convertible debentures outstanding, each convertible to 50 common shares of Uranium One, representing 
7,762,500 common shares. 
 
 
DIVIDENDS 
 
There have been no dividend payments on the common shares of Uranium One.  Holders of common shares are entitled to receive 
dividends if, as and when declared by the Board of Directors.  There are no restrictions on Uranium One’s ability to pay dividends except 
as set out under its governing statute. 
 
 
CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES 
 
Note 2 to the Corporation’s consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2008 describes all of the Corporation’s 
significant accounting policies. 
 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Canadian GAAP requires the Corporation’s management to make estimates 
and assumptions about future events that affect the amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements and related notes to the 
financial statements. Actual results may differ from those estimates. 
 
MINERAL INTERESTS, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 
 
Depreciation and depletion of mineral interests, plant and equipment is primarily calculated using the unit of production method. This 
method allocates the cost of an asset to each period based on the current period’s production as a portion of the total expected 
production of the life of the mine, or a portion of the estimated recoverable ore reserves. Estimates of the production over the life of the 
mine and amounts of recoverable reserves are subject to judgment and significant change over time. If actual mineral reserves prove to 
be significantly different than the estimates, there could be a material impact on the amounts of depreciation and depletion charged to the 
statement of operations.  
 
 
ASSET RETIREMENT OBLIGATIONS 
 
Significant decommissioning and reclamation activities are often not undertaken until substantial completion of the useful lives of the 
productive assets. Regulatory requirements and alternatives with respect to these activities are subject to change over time. A significant 
change to either the estimated costs or recoverable reserves may result in a material change in the amount charged to earnings.  
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IMPAIRMENT OF LONG-LIVED ASSETS 
 
The Corporation assesses the carrying value of mineral interests, plant and equipment annually or more frequently if warranted by a 
change in circumstances. If it is determined that carrying values of the mineral interest, plant and equipment cannot be recovered, the 
unrecoverable amounts are written off. Recoverability is dependent upon assumptions and judgments regarding future prices, costs of 
production, sustaining capital requirements and economically recoverable reserves. A material change in assumptions may significantly 
impact the potential impairment of these assets.  
 
TAXES 
 
The Corporation operates in a number of tax jurisdictions and is therefore required to estimate its income taxes in each of these tax 
jurisdictions in preparing its consolidated financial statements. In calculating income taxes, consideration is given to factors such as tax 
rates in the different jurisdictions, non-deductible expenses, valuation allowances, changes in tax laws and management’s expectations 
of future results.  
 
The Corporation estimates future income taxes based on temporary differences between the income and losses reported in its financial 
statements and its taxable income and losses as determined under the applicable tax laws. The tax effect of these temporary differences 
is recorded as future tax assets or liabilities in the consolidated financial statements. The calculation of income taxes requires the use of 
judgment and estimates. If these judgments and estimates prove to be inaccurate, future earnings may be materially impacted. The 
determination of the ability of the Corporation to utilize tax loss carry-forwards to offset future income tax payable requires management 
to exercise judgment and make certain assumptions about the future performance of the Corporation. Management is required to assess 
whether the Corporation is “more likely than not” to benefit from these prior losses and other future tax assets.  
 
Changes in economic conditions, metal prices and other factors could result in revisions to the estimates of the benefits to be realized or 
the timing of utilizing the losses. In the event that it is determined that certain of the losses are not likely to be utilized, a valuation 
allowance would have to be recorded against the recognized future tax assets through a charge to the statement of operations. 
Conversely, where amounts that are considered not likely to be utilized to reduce future tax payable are determined to be likely to be 
utilized in the future, the valuation allowances against these losses would be removed by recording a future income tax recovery in the 
statement of operations. 
 
STOCK BASED COMPENSATION 
 
The Corporation grants stock options and restricted share rights to employees of the Corporation under its stock option and restricted 
share rights plans. The Corporation uses the fair value method of accounting for all stock based compensation awards (“Awards”).  
Under this method, the Corporation determines the fair value of the compensation expense for all Awards on the date of grant using the 
Black-Scholes pricing model.  The fair value of the Awards is expensed over the vesting period of the Awards. In estimating fair value, 
management is required to make certain assumptions and estimates regarding such items as the life of options and forfeiture rates. 
Changes in the assumptions used to estimate fair value could result in materially different results. 
 
NEW / CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
The Corporation’s accounting policies have been consistently followed except that the Corporation has adopted the following CICA 
standards effective January 1, 2008, none of which had a material impact on the Corporation’s consolidated financial statements: 
 
(a) Section 3031 – Inventories 
  

The new Section 3031 on inventories replaces Section 3030 and converges with the International Accounting Standard Board’s 
recently amended standard IAS 2, Inventories. The standard introduces significant changes to the measurement and disclosure 
of inventory. Changes apply to interim and annual financial statements relating to fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 
2008. The main differences between the new section and Section 3030 include measurement of inventories at the lower of cost 
and net realizable value, with guidance on the determination of cost, including allocation of overhead expenses and other costs to 
inventory. The new section also requires consistent use of either first in, first out (FIFO) or weighted average cost formula to 
measure the cost of other inventories and the reversal of previous write downs to net realizable value when there is a subsequent 
increase in the value of inventories. Inventory policies, carrying amounts, amounts recognized as an expense, write downs and 
the reversals of write downs are required to be disclosed. 

 
(b) Section 3862 – Financial Instruments – Disclosures and Section 3863 – Financial Instruments – Presentation 
 

These sections apply to interim and annual financial statements relating to fiscal years beginning on or after October 1, 2007. 
Section 3862 establishes standards for disclosures about financial instruments and non-financial derivatives. The main features of 
this Section are requirements for an entity to disclose the significance of financial instruments for its financial position and 
performance, revised from those of Section 3861. The requirements for disclosures about fair value are revised, but not 
substantially different, from those of Section 3861. The revised requirements for the disclosure of qualitative and quantitative 
information about exposure to risks arising from financial instruments are more extensive than those of Section 3861. The 
qualitative disclosures describe management’s objectives, policies and processes for managing such risks. The quantitative 
disclosures provide information about the extent to which the entity is exposed to credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk (i.e., 
currency risk, interest rate risk, and other price risk). Section 3863 carries forward, unchanged from Section 3861, standards for 
presentation of financial instruments and non-financial derivatives. 
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(c) Section 1535 – Capital Disclosures 
 

The new requirements are effective for interim and annual financial statements relating to fiscal years beginning on or after 
October 1, 2007. This section will require the Corporation to disclose qualitative information about its objectives, policies and 
processes for managing capital and quantitative data about what the Corporation regards as capital. It will also be a requirement 
to disclose whether the Corporation has complied with any externally imposed capital requirements and, if not, the consequences 
of such non-compliance. 

 
Effective January 1, 2009 and October 1, 2001, the Corporation will adopt the following CICA standards: 
 
(a) Section 3064 – Goodwill and Intangible Assets 
  

Effective January 1, 2009, the Corporation will be adopting the new CICA Handbook Section 3064 – Goodwill and Intangible 
Assets which aligns GAAP for goodwill and intangible assets with IFRS. The new standard provides more comprehensive 
guidance on intangible assets, in particular for internally developed intangible assets. The Corporation has determined that there 
will be no financial reporting impact upon adoption of this standard. 
 

(b) Section 1582 - Business Combinations 
 
Section 1582, Business Combinations, which replaces Section 1581, Business Combinations, establishes standards for the 
accounting for a business combination. It is the Canadian equivalent to International Financial Reporting Standard IFRS 3, 
Business Combinations. This standard is effective for the Corporation for interim and annual financial statements beginning on 
January 1, 2011.  The Corporation has not yet determined the impact of the adoption of this change on its consolidated financial 
statements. 
 

(c) Section 1601 - Consolidated Financial Statements and Section 1602 - Non-controlling Interests 
 
Section 1601, Consolidated Financial Statements and Section 1602, Non-controlling Interests replaces Section 1600.  Section 
1601 establishes standards for the preparation of consolidated financial statements. Section 1602 establishes standards for 
accounting for a non-controlling interest in a subsidiary in consolidated financial statements subsequent to a business 
combination. Section 1602 is equivalent to the corresponding provisions of International Financial Reporting Standard IAS 27, 
Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements. These standards are effective for the Corporation for interim and annual 
financial statements beginning on January 1, 2011. The Corporation has not yet determined the impact of the adoption of these 
changes on its Consolidated Financial Statements. 

 
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“IFRS”)  
 
The Canadian Accounting Standards Board will require all public companies to adopt IFRS for interim and annual financial statements 
relating to fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 2011. Companies will be required to provide IFRS comparative information for the 
fiscal year immediately preceding the year in which they first adopt IFRS. While IFRS uses a conceptual framework similar to Canadian 
GAAP, there are significant differences in accounting policy which must be addressed.  
 
To ensure a smooth transition to IFRS, the Corporation established an IFRS conversion project team to achieve a clearly scoped 
conversion of financial reporting from Canadian GAAP to IFRS by Q1 2011.  The project team comprises representatives from as many 
stakeholder groups as possible to ensure complete information transfer and consideration of the implications as the project progresses. 
Stakeholders include senior management from finance, treasury, tax, the Corporation’s regional business units, information technology, 
human resources, the Board of Directors through the Audit Committee, among others.  
 
The Corporation has a multi-year transition plan that comprises three major phases, including a scope and planning phase, a design and 
build phase and an implement and review phase culminating in the reporting of financial information in accordance with IFRS for Q1 
2011. 
 
The Corporation is in the scope and planning phase and is also assessing the impact of policy alternatives on its consolidated financial 
statements, systems, processes and controls. As the transition progresses, the Corporation will provide increased clarity into the 
expected effects of accounting policy changes. The Corporation is in the process of developing a detailed project plan for 2009 and 2010, 
which will include staff communications, a training plan and an external stakeholder communication plan. The design and build phase will 
be completed in 2009 and implementation will begin during 2009 and will be completed by the end of 2010.  
 
The Corporation is implementing new accounting and consolidation systems in various parts of its business in 2009 and expected 
changes in accounting policies, processes and collection of additional information for disclosure are being incorporated in the design and 
implementation of these systems. The impact on internal controls over financial reporting and disclosure controls and procedures will be 
determined during the design and implementation phases. 
 
 
RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES 
 
The Corporation’s operations and results are subject to various risks and uncertainties.  These include, but are not limited to, the 
following: exploration and mining involves operational risks and hazards; mineral resources and mineral reserves are estimates only; 
there is no certainty that further exploration will result in new economically viable mining operations or yield new reserves to replace and 
expand current reserves; Uranium One cannot give any assurance that any of its development projects will become operating mines; or 
that the Shootaring Canyon Mill, the Hobson Uranium ISR Processing Facility or the Palangana Uranium Project will become operational; 
mineral rights and tenures may not be granted or renewed on satisfactory terms and may be revoked, altered or challenged by third 
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parties; limited supply of desirable mineral lands for acquisition; risks and problems associated with integrating acquisitions; competition 
in marketing uranium; competition from other sources of energy and public acceptance of nuclear energy; volatility and sensitivity to 
uranium prices; the capital requirements to complete the Corporation’s current projects and expand its operations are substantial; 
currency fluctuations; potential conflicts of interest; the Corporation’s operations and activities are subject to environmental risks; 
government regulation may adversely affect the Corporation; the risks of obtaining and maintaining necessary licences and permits; risks 
associated with foreign operations including, in relation to Kazakhstan, the risk of future sulphuric acid constraints and the risk that the 
new tax code introduced by the Kazakhstan Ministry of Finance effective from January 1, 2009 may adversely affect the Corporation; and 
the Corporation is dependent on key personnel. 
 
In November 2007, the parliament of Kazakhstan enacted legislation, giving the government the right in certain circumstances to re-
negotiate previously concluded subsoil use permits. Together with its joint venture partner, Kazatomprom, the Corporation has been 
reviewing the potential impact and application of this legislation.  Based on these discussions, the Corporation understands that the 
legislation is not directed at the uranium mining industry in Kazakhstan.   
 
Uranium One’s risk factors are discussed in detail in its Annual Information Form for the year ended December 31, 2008, which is 
available on SEDAR at www.sedar.com, and should be reviewed in conjunction with this document.   
 
 
STOCK OPTION AND RESTRICTED SHARE PLANS 
 
Under the Corporation’s stock option plan, options granted are non-assignable and may be granted for a term not exceeding ten years. 
The aggregate maximum number of common shares available for issuance under the stock option plan may not exceed 7.2% of the 
common shares outstanding from time to time on a non-diluted basis and the aggregate maximum number of common shares available 
for issuance to non-employee directors under the plan may not exceed 1.0% of the total number of common shares outstanding on a 
non-diluted basis.   
 
Under the Corporation’s restricted share plan, restricted share rights exercisable for common shares of Uranium One at the end of a 
restricted period, for no additional consideration, are granted by the Board of Directors in its discretion to eligible directors, officers and 
employees.  The aggregate maximum number of common shares available for issuance under the restricted share plan is capped at 
three million. The number of shares available for issuance to non-employee directors may not exceed 0.5% of the total number of 
common shares outstanding on a non-diluted basis.  
 
During 2008 stock options and restricted share rights activity was as follows: 
• 2,559,948 options were granted during the year. 
• 1,043,016 options were exercised and 6,483,203 lapsed.   
• 609,000 restricted shares were granted, 206,517 were exercised during the year and 74,520 expired. 
 
 
DISCLOSURE CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES 
 
Disclosure controls and procedures are designed to provide reasonable assurance that all relevant information is gathered and reported 
on a timely basis to senior management, including Uranium One’s President and Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, so 
that appropriate decisions can be made regarding public disclosure. As at the end of the period covered by this management’s 
discussion and analysis, management evaluated the effectiveness of the Corporation’s disclosure controls and procedures as required by 
Canadian securities laws. 
 
Based on that evaluation, the President and Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that, as of the end of the 
period covered by this management’s discussion and analysis, the disclosure controls and procedures were effective to provide 
reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed in Uranium One’s annual filings and interim filings (as such terms are 
defined under National Instrument 52-109 Certification of Disclosure in Issuers' Annual and Interim Filings) and other reports filed or 
submitted under Canadian securities laws is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified by those 
laws, and that material information is accumulated and communicated to management including the President and Chief Executive 
Officer and Chief Financial Officer as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. 
 
 
INTERNAL CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES 
 
The Corporation’s management, with the participation of its President and Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, are responsible 
for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting. Under the supervision of the Chief Financial Officer, the 
Corporation’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of 
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with GAAP. As at the end of the period 
covered by this management’s discussion and analysis, management evaluated the effectiveness of the Corporation’s internal control 
over financial reporting as required by Canadian securities laws. 
 
Based on that evaluation, the President and Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that, as of the end of the 
period covered by this management’s discussion and analysis, the internal control over financial reporting was effective to provide 
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in 
accordance with GAAP. 
 
There have been no material changes in the Corporation’s internal control over financial reporting during the year ended 
December 31, 2008 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Corporation’s internal control over 
financial reporting.
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OUTLOOK 
 
During 2009, the Corporation is focused on maintaining production of U3O8 from Akdala at current levels, ramping up production at South 
Inkai towards a level of 5,200,000 pounds of U3O8 (2,000 tonnes U) in 2011, achieving commercial production from its development 
projects, controlling costs at its operations and remaining a reliable supplier of U3O8 to the nuclear fuel industry.  
 
In 2009 to the end of February, Betpak Dala and Kyzylkum have received more than their full allocation of sulphuric acid and production 
at Akdala, South Inkai and Kharasan is on target to meet the Corporation’s guidance for 2009. The Corporation’s attributable production 
estimate for 2009 is 3.5 million pounds of U3O8, made up as follows: 
 
Operation Status Total estimated 

production (lbs of U3O8) 
Ownership % Estimated attributable 

production (lbs of U3O8) 
Akdala Producing 2,600,000 70% 1,820,000 
South Inkai Producing 2,140,000 70% 1,500,000 
Kharasan Pre-commercial 650,000 30% 195,000 
Totals:  5,390,000  3,515,000 
 
Attributable production for 2010 is estimated to be 5.6 million pounds of U3O8. Attributable production estimates assume that Betpak Dala 
and Kyzylkum receive their projected allotments of sulphuric acid from sources in Kazakhstan and outside the country. 
 
The 25% devaluation of the Kazakhstan tenge in February 2009 is not expected to have an immediate impact on the Corporation’s cash 
costs per pound of U3O8 sold from Kazakhstan due to the fact that opening inventory balances are translated to US dollars at historic 
exchange rates and the change in exchange rate will therefore not have a significant impact on the cost of U3O8 sold in Q1 2009. The 
Corporation will continue to monitor the inflationary effect of the devaluation and its effect on the Corporation’s Kazakh cost base. The 
new Tax Code in Kazakhstan, as discussed elsewhere in this document, replaced the payment of royalty charges with a mineral 
extraction tax. As with royalty charges in the past, the mineral extraction tax will be included in the cash cost per pound of U3O8 sold. As 
soon as the calculation of mineral extraction tax is clarified, the impact of mineral extraction tax on the cash cost per pound of U3O8 sold 
will be assessed. In the meantime, the Corporation is maintaining its 2009 guidance on average cash cost per pound of U3O8 sold, which 
is expected to be approximately $15 per pound of U3O8 sold from Akdala. The cash cost per pound of U3O8 sold from South Inkai is 
expected to be on average approximately $28 in 2009.  
 
The Corporation currently has contracts for the sale of an aggregate of 26 million attributable pounds of U3O8; 16 million pounds of this 
material is contracted at weighted average floor prices, subject to escalation, of approximately $47 per pound. The remainder of 
contracted attributable sales is not subject to floors and such sales are therefore directly related to the spot price of U3O8, except for 
910,000 pounds, which will be sold at an average fixed price of $79 per pound, subject to escalation. For 2009, the Corporation expects 
to sell an aggregate of 2.8 million attributable pounds of U3O8. The Corporation has already contracted for the sale of 2.2 million 
attributable pounds of U3O8 in 2009, of which 700,000 pounds have weighted average floor prices of approximately $43 per pound. 
 
For 2009, the Corporation expects to incur capital expenditures of $21 million on fully owned development projects in the United States, 
including $17 million on Moore Ranch and other Powder River Basin properties and $4 million on JAB and Antelope in the Great Divide 
Basin.  The Corporation is currently evaluating the application of the proceeds from the private placement with the Japanese consortium. 
The potential uses of these proceeds include acceleration of capital expenditure in the United States, external growth opportunities, de-
levering the Corporation’s balance sheet and working capital.  
 
The Corporation expects to make contributions to the construction of a sulphuric acid plant in Kazakhstan of approximately $6 million in 
the first half of 2009. Capital expenditures by Betpak Dala and Kyzylkum are funded through the joint ventures’ working capital or third 
party debt facilities. The Corporation’s Australian joint ventures, including Honeymoon, will be funded from the cash commitment of 
approximately $73 million (A$104 million) from Mitsui in 2009.  
 
General and administrative expenses, excluding stock based compensation, are expected to be approximately $28 million and 
exploration expenditure is expected to be $12 million for 2009. 
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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS AND OTHER INFORMATION 
 
This Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations contains certain forward-looking 
statements. Forward-looking statements include but are not limited to those with respect to the price of uranium and gold, the estimation 
of mineral resources and reserves, the realization of mineral reserve estimates, the timing and amount of estimated future production, the 
timing of uranium processing facilities being fully operational, costs of production, capital expenditures, costs and timing of the 
development of new deposits, success of exploration activities, permitting time lines, currency fluctuations, requirements for additional 
capital, government regulation of mining operations, environmental risks, unanticipated reclamation expenses, title disputes or claims and 
limitations on insurance coverage and the timing and possible outcome of pending litigation. In certain cases, forward-looking statements 
can be identified by the use of words such as “plans”, “expects” or “does not expect”, “is expected”, “budget”, “scheduled”, “estimates”, 
“forecasts”, “intends”, “anticipates” or “does not anticipate”, or “believes” or variations of such words and phrases, or state that certain 
actions, events or results “may”, “could”, “would”, “might” or “will” be taken, occur or be achieved. Forward-looking statements involve 
known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors which may cause the actual results, performance or achievements of the 
Corporation to be materially different from any future results, performance or achievements expressed or implied by the forward-looking 
statements. Such risks and uncertainties include, among others, the actual results of current exploration activities, conclusions of 
economic evaluations, changes in project parameters as plans continue to be refined, possible variations in grade and ore densities or 
recovery rates, failure of plant, equipment or processes to operate as anticipated, possible shortages of sulphuric acid in Kazakhstan, 
possible changes to the tax code in Kazakhstan, accidents, labour disputes or other risks of the mining industry, delays in obtaining 
government approvals or financing or in completion of development or construction activities, risks relating to the integration of 
acquisitions, to international operations, to prices of uranium and gold as well as those factors referred to in the section entitled “Risk 
factors” in Uranium One’s Annual Information Form for the year ended December 31, 2008 which is available on SEDAR at 
www.sedar.com, and which should be reviewed in conjunction with this document. Although Uranium One has attempted to identify 
important factors that could cause actual actions, events or results to differ materially from those described in forward-looking statements, 
there may be other factors that cause actions, events or results not to be as anticipated, estimated or intended. There can be no 
assurance that forward-looking statements will prove to be accurate, as actual results and future events could differ materially from those 
anticipated in such statements. Accordingly, readers should not place undue reliance on forward-looking statements. Uranium One 
expressly disclaims any intention or obligation to update or revise any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new 
information, future events or otherwise, except in accordance with applicable securities laws. 
 
Readers are advised to refer to independent technical reports for detailed information on the Corporation's material properties. Those 
technical reports, which are available at www.sedar.com under Uranium One’s profile, and also under UrAsia Energy’s profile, provide 
the date of each resource or reserve estimate, details of the key assumptions, methods and parameters used in the estimates, details of 
quality and grade or quality of each resource or reserve and a general discussion of the extent to which the estimate may be materially 
affected by any known environmental, permitting, legal, taxation, socio-political, marketing, or other relevant issues.  The technical 
reports also provide information with respect to data verification in the estimation. 
 
This document and the Corporation’s other publicly filed documents use the terms “measured”, "indicated" and "inferred" resources as 
defined in accordance with National Instrument 43-101 - Standards of Disclosure for Mineral Projects.  United States investors are 
advised that while these terms are recognized and required by Canadian regulations, the SEC does not recognize them.  Investors are 
cautioned not to assume that all or any part of the mineral deposits in these categories will ever be converted into reserves.  In addition, 
"inferred resources" have a great amount of uncertainty as to their existence and economic and legal feasibility and it cannot be assumed 
that all or any part of an inferred mineral resource will ever be upgraded to a higher category.  Investors are cautioned not to assume that 
all or any part of an inferred resource exists or is economically or legally mineable. Mineral resources are not mineral reserves and do not 
have demonstrated economic viability. 
 
Scientific and technical information contained herein has been reviewed on behalf of the Corporation by Mr. M.H.G. Heyns, Pr.Sci.Nat. 
(SACNASP), MSAIMM, MGSSA, Senior Vice President Technical Services of the Corporation, a qualified person for the purposes of NI 
43-101.   
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financial reporting 
Management’s Responsibility for Financial Reporting 
 
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared by management, in accordance with Canadian generally 
accepted accounting principles, who, when necessary, have made informed judgments and estimates of the outcome of 
events and transactions.  Management acknowledges its responsibility for the fairness, integrity and objectivity of all 
information in the consolidated financial statements. 
 
As a means of fulfilling its responsibility, management relies on the company’s system of internal control.  This system has 
been established to ensure, within reasonable limits, that the assets are safeguarded, transactions are properly recorded 
and are executed in accordance with management’s authorization and that the accounting records provide a solid foundation 
from which to prepare the consolidated financial statements. 
 
Any system of internal control has inherent limitations, therefore even those systems determined to be effective can provide 
only reasonable assurance with respect to financial statement presentation and presentation. 
 
The Board of Directors carries out its responsibility for the consolidated financial statements principally through its Audit 
Committee, consisting solely of non-management independent directors.  This committee meets periodically, reviews the 
scope of the external audit, the adequacy of the system of internal control and the appropriateness of the financial reporting 
and then makes its recommendations to the Board of Directors.  Based on those recommendations, the Board of Directors 
approves the consolidated financial statements. 
 
The consolidated financial statements have been audited by the Company’s independent auditors, Deloitte & Touche LLP.  
The Auditors’ Report to the Shareholders of Uranium One Inc., outlines the scope of their examination and opinion on the 
consolidated financial statements. 
 
“Jean Nortier” “Robin Merrifield” 
Jean Nortier Robin Merrifield 
President & Chief Executive Officer Executive Vice President & Chief Financial Officer 
 
March 11, 2009 
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Auditors’ Report to the Shareholders 
 
To the Shareholders of Uranium One Inc. 
 
We have audited the consolidated balance sheets of Uranium One Inc. as at December 31, 2008 and 2007 and the 
consolidated statements of operations, changes in equity, comprehensive (loss) income, accumulated other comprehensive 
(loss) income and cash flows for each of the years then ended. These financial statements are the responsibility of the 
Company’s management.  Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. 
 
We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards.  Those standards require that 
we plan and perform an audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free of material 
misstatement.  An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial statements.  An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by 
management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. 

In our opinion, these consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the 
Company as at December 31, 2008 and 2007 and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the years then 
ended in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles. 

 
 
 
Chartered Accountants 
March 11, 2009 
Vancouver, B.C, Canada 
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Uranium One Inc. 
Consolidated Balance Sheets 
As at December 31, 2008 and 2007 
(in United States dollars) 
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  Dec 31, 2008 Dec 31, 2007 
 Notes $’000 $’000 
ASSETS    
Current assets    
Cash and cash equivalents 7 176,225 159,592 
Accounts and other receivables 8 39,926 70,318 
Current portion of loans to joint ventures 9.2 19,158 32,867 
Inventories 10 17,390 20,952 
Other assets 12 12,043 19,150 
Discontinued operations 3 - 94,986 
  264,742 397,865 
    
Non-current assets    
Mineral interests, plant and equipment 11 1,285,415 4,827,353 
Loans to joint ventures 9.2 14,000 24,359 
Other assets 12 53,952 76,707 
Discontinued operations 3 9,024 286,614 
  1,362,391 5,215,033 

    
Total assets  1,627,133 5,612,898 
    
    
LIABILITIES    
Current liabilities    
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 14 47,423 70,802 
Income taxes payable  12,639 4,237 
Discontinued operations 3 - 5,245 
  60,062 80,284 
    
Non-current liabilities    
Long term debt 13 61,275 - 
Convertible debentures 15 118,042 136,548 
Asset retirement obligations 16 12,999 13,927 
Future income tax liabilities 17 375,293 1,496,060 
Other long term payables 18 48,924 20,029 
Discontinued operations 3 - 183,145 
  616,533 1,849,709 
    
    
SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY    
Share capital 19 3,522,824 3,496,884 
Contributed surplus 20 131,602 134,387 
Equity component of convertible debentures 5 46,480 46,480 
Accumulated other comprehensive (loss) / income  (247,708) 51,967 
Deficit  (2,502,660) (46,813)
  950,538 3,682,905 

    
Total shareholders' equity and liabilities  1,627,133 5,612,898 

 
Basis of presentation and principles of consolidation (note 2.1), commitments (note 26(iii)), contingencies (note 29) & subsequent events 
(note 30) 
 
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these Annual Consolidated Financial Statements 
 
Approved on behalf of the board of directors 
 
“Ian Telfer” “Andrew Adams” 
Ian Telfer Andrew Adams 
Director Director 



 
Uranium One Inc. 
Consolidated Statements of Operations 
For the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007 
(in United States dollars) 
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  Year ended 
  Dec 31, 2008 Dec 31, 2007 
 Notes $’000 $’000 
Revenues  149,776 134,024 
Operating expenses  (30,490) (17,282)
Depreciation and depletion  (22,566) (14,899)
Earnings from mine operations  96,720 101,843 
General and administrative (1)  (48,689) (68,645)
Exploration expense  (14,881) (16,796)
Impairment of mineral interests, plant and equipment and closure costs 11.1 (3,322,222) - 
Care and maintenance  (1,868) - 
Operating (loss) / earnings  (3,290,940) 16,402 
Interest and other 21 (7,376) (514)
Gain / (loss) on available for sale securities  4,345 (932)
Foreign exchange loss 22 (11,709) (13,022)
Other  2,650 5,418 
(Loss) / earnings from continuing operations before income taxes (3,303,030) 7,352 
Current income tax expense 17 (44,191) (41,211)
Future income tax recovery 17 1,013,634 17,621 
Loss from continuing operations  (2,333,587) (16,238)
Loss from discontinued operations 3 (122,260) (1,371)
Net loss  (2,455,847) (17,609)
    
(1) Stock option and restricted share expense (non-cash) included in 
general and administrative 20 15,423 37,660 

    
Loss per share from continuing operations  

  

 Basic and diluted  $(4.98) $(0.05)
   
Loss per share from discontinued operations  

 

 Basic and diluted  $(0.26) $(0.00)
   
Net loss per share  

 

 Basic and diluted  $(5.24) $(0.05)
    
Weighted average number of shares (in thousands)  

  

 Basic and diluted 24 468,424 360,656 
    

 
 
 
 
 
 
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these Annual Consolidated Financial Statements 



 
Uranium One Inc. 
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity 
For the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007 
(in United States dollars) 
 

 
_________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

ANNUAL CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS   6 

 
Share capital 

$’000 

Contributed 
surplus 

$’000 

Equity 
component 

of 
convertible 
debentures 

$’000 

Accumulated 
other 

comprehen- 
sive income / 

(loss) 
$’000 

Deficit 
$’000 

Total 
$’000 

Balance as at January 1, 2007 613,607 31,286 - - (29,204) 615,689 
Net loss for the year - - - - (17,609) (17,609)
Stock options and restricted shares 
vested - 37,660 - - - 37,660 

Exercise of warrants 2,115 (1,035) - - - 1,080 
Exercise of stock options and 
restricted shares 54,912 (30,873) - - - 24,039 

Uranium One Inc / UrAsia Energy 
Ltd business combination 1,709,647 62,042 46,480 - - 1,818,169 

U.S. Energy Corp asset purchase 
consideration 99,401 - - - - 99,401 

Energy Metals Corporation asset 
purchase consideration 1,013,215 35,307 - - - 1,048,522 

Unrealized gains recognized on 
translation of self-sustaining foreign 
operations 

- - - 47,536 - 47,536 

Unrealized gains recognized on 
translation of self-sustaining foreign 
discontinued operations 

- - - 4,243 - 4,243 

Shares issued for services rendered 3,987 - - - - 3,987 
Fair value adjustments on available 
for sale securities, net of tax - - - 188 - 188 

Balance as at December 31, 2007 3,496,884 134,387 46,480 51,967 (46,813) 3,682,905 
Net loss for the year     (2,455,847) (2,455,847)
Stock options and restricted shares 
vested - 15,423 - - - 15,423 

Exercise of warrants 15,791 (11,460) - - - 4,331 
Exercise of stock options and 
restricted shares 10,149 (6,748) - - - 3,401 

Unrealized loss recognized on 
translation of self-sustaining foreign 
operations 

- - - (282,170) - (282,170)

Unrealized loss recognized on 
translation of self-sustaining foreign 
discontinued operations 

- - - (27,480) - (27,480)

Realized loss on sale of Aflease 
Gold (note 3) - - - 10,163 - 10,163 
Fair value adjustments on available 
for sale securities and realized loss 
on sale 

- - - (188) - (188) 

Balance as at December 31, 2008 3,522,824 131,602 46,480 (247,708) (2,502,660) 950,538 
 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these Annual Consolidated Financial Statements 



 
Uranium One Inc. 
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive (Loss) / Income 
For the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007 
(in United States dollars) 
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  Dec 31, 2008 Dec 31, 2007 
 Notes $’000 $’000 
Net loss  (2,455,847) (17,609)
Unrealized (loss) / gain recognized on translation of self-sustaining foreign 
operations 

 (282,170) 47,536 

Unrealized (loss) / gain recognized on translation of self-sustaining foreign 
discontinued operations 

 (27,480) 4,243

Realized loss on sale of Aflease Gold 3 10,163 -

Fair value adjustments on available for sale securities  (188) 188 

Comprehensive (loss) / income  (2,755,522) 34,358 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Consolidated Statements of Accumulated Other Comprehensive (Loss) / Income 
As at December 31, 2008 and 2007 
(in United States dollars) 

 
 

 Dec 31, 2008 Dec 31, 2007 
 $’000 $’000 
Accumulated other comprehensive income at January 1 51,967 - 

Other comprehensive (loss) / income for the year (299,675) 51,967 

(247,708) 51,967 

   
Components of accumulated other comprehensive (loss) / income at the end of 
the year:   

Unrealized foreign exchange adjustment - continuing operations(1) (234,634) 47,536 

Unrealized foreign exchange adjustment - discontinued operations (13,074) 4,243 

Available for sale marketable securities and investments - 188 

(247,708) 51,967 
 

(1) Includes foreign exchange losses of $244.8 million relating to the translation of the investment in Uranium One Africa Limited (11.1) 
 
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these Annual Consolidated Financial Statements 



Uranium One Inc. 

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 
For the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007 
(in United States dollars) 
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  Year ended 

  Dec 31, 2008 Dec 31, 2007 
 Notes $’000 $’000 
Net loss from continuing operations  (2,333,587) (16,238)
    
Items not affecting cash:    
- Depreciation and depletion  22,566 14,899 
- Impairment of mineral interest plant and equipment 11.1 3,306,001 - 
- Gain / (loss) on available for sale securities  (4,345) 932 
- Stock option and restricted share expense 20 15,423 37,660 
- Interest accrued on loans and debentures  10,195 4,585 
- Unrealized foreign exchange loss 22 1,339 28,958 
- Future income tax recovery 17 (1,013,634) (17,621)
- Other  (562) 400 
Movement in non-cash working capital 23 32,730 (32,383)
Cash flows from operating activities  36,126 21,192 
    
Acquisition of Uranium One Inc., net of acquisition costs  - 271,670 
Acquisition of Energy Metals Corporation, net of acquisition costs  - 76,706 
Acquisition of mineral interests, plant and equipment 11 (216,757) (265,993)
Advance cash payments for other assets  (1,036) (2,606)
Proceeds on sale of Honeymoon, net of costs 4 34,098 - 
Cash advance for sulphuric acid plant investment 12 (5,959) - 
Advance cash receipts for sale of portion of Aflease Gold 3 3,100 - 
Proceeds on sale of Aflease Gold 3 44,542 - 
Proceeds on sale of available for sale securities  24,927 - 
Cash proceeds from / (advances to) joint ventures 9.2 23,767 (4,053)
Other  - 2,100 
Cash flows (used in) / from investing activities  (93,318) 77,824 
    
Common shares issued, net of issue costs 19 7,732 25,119 
Loans received by Kyzylkum 9.1 18,000 17,769 
Draw-down on credit facility 13 60,467 - 
Short term loan repaid  - (53,131)
Cash flows from / (used in) financing activities  86,199 (10,243)
    
Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents  (12,374) 21,858 
Net (decrease) / increase in cash and cash equivalents from continuing 
operations  16,633 110,631 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 159,592 48,961 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year  176,225 159,592 

 
 
Cash flows of discontinued operations 

Cash flows from operating activities  - 878 
Cash flows used in investing activities  - (13,377)
Cash flows used in financing activities  - (89,506)

 
Supplemental cash flow information (note 23) 

 
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these Annual Consolidated Financial Statements



Uranium One Inc. 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
as at December 31, 2008 and 2007 
(in United States dollars) 
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1 NATURE OF OPERATIONS 
 

Uranium One Inc. (“Uranium One”), its subsidiaries and joint ventures (collectively, the “Corporation”) is a Canadian  
corporation engaged through subsidiaries and joint ventures in the mining and production of uranium, and in the acquisition, 
exploration and development of properties for the production of uranium in Kazakhstan, the United States, Australia and South 
Africa. 
 
Uranium One owns through the Betpak Dala Joint Venture a 70% interest in both the producing Akdala Mine and the South Inkai 
Project.  The Kharasan Project in Kazakhstan, in which the Corporation owns a 30% interest, is being developed by the Kyzylkum 
Joint Venture. In the United States, the Corporation owns projects in the Powder River and Great Divide Basins in Wyoming.  The 
Corporation has suspended development of its Dominion Project in South Africa and placed it on care and maintenance while 
evaluating strategic alternatives for the project.  The Corporation owns a 51% interest in the Honeymoon Project in Australia.  The 
Corporation owns, either directly or through joint ventures, a large portfolio of uranium exploration properties in South Africa, the 
western United States and South Australia. 

 
2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 

2.1 Basis of presentation and principles of consolidation 
 

The consolidated financial statements of the Corporation have been prepared in accordance with Canadian generally 
accepted accounting principles (“Canadian GAAP”). 
 
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Uranium One, its subsidiaries and the proportionate share 
of its interests in joint ventures.  All intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated. 
 
The consolidated balance sheet, statement of operations, cash flow and certain comparative figures has been restated for 
discontinued operations (note 3). 
 
The following are the Corporation’s principal mineral properties as at December 31, 2008: 
 

Operating mine: 
Entity Mineral property/Operation Location Ownership Status 

Betpak Dala LLP Akdala Mine Kazakhstan 70% Proportionately 
consolidated 

 
Advanced development projects: 

Entity Mineral property/Operation Location Ownership Status 

Betpak Dala LLP South Inkai Project(1) Kazakhstan 70% Proportionately 
consolidated 

Kyzylkum LLP Kharasan Project Kazakhstan 30% Proportionately 
consolidated 

 
The Corporation is also developing the following mineral properties: 
 

Entity Mineral property/Operation Location Ownership Status 

Energy Metals Corp (US) United States development 
projects United States 100% Consolidated 

Uranium One Australia 
(Proprietary) Limited Honeymoon Project Australia 51% Proportionately 

consolidated 
 
The Corporation has suspended development of the following mineral properties: 
 

Entity Mineral property/Operation Location Ownership Status 
Uranium One Africa Ltd Dominion Project South Africa 100% Consolidated 
South Texas Mining 
Venture 

Hobson Facility and La 
Palangana Project United States 99% Consolidated 

    
        

(1) The South Inkai Project commenced commercial operations on January 1, 2009 



Uranium One Inc. 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
as at December 31, 2008 and 2007 
(in United States dollars) 
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

2.2 Adoption of new standards 
 

Effective January 1, 2008, the Corporation adopted new accounting standards for Capital Disclosures (CICA Handbook 
Section 1535), Inventories (CICA Handbook Section 3031), and Financial Instruments – Disclosure and Presentation 
(CICA Handbook Sections 3862 and 3863). 
 
Under Section 1535, the Corporation discloses its objectives, policies and procedures for managing capital, any summary 
quantitative data about what the Corporation manages as capital, whether the Corporation has complied with any 
externally imposed capital requirements and, if the Corporation has not complied with them, any consequences of non-
compliance with these capital requirements. 
 
The new Sections 3862 and 3863 replaced Section 3861 Financial Instruments – Disclosure and Presentation.  
Disclosure requirements were revised and enhanced, while presentation requirements remained essentially unchanged.  
The new disclosure requirements expanded discussion around the significance of financial instruments for the 
Corporation's financial position and performance, the nature and extent of risks arising from financial instruments to which 
the entity is exposed during the period and at the balance sheet date and how the entity manages those risks. 
 
Section 3031 established standards for the measurement and disclosure of inventories and provided a Canadian 
equivalent to International Accounting Standard IAS 2 - Inventories.  The main recommendations of the new Section 3031 
were: 
 
• Measurement of inventories at the lower of cost and net realizable value, with guidance on the determination of cost, 

including allocation of overheads and other costs to inventory. 
 
• Specific identification of cost of inventories of items that are not ordinarily interchangeable, and goods or services 

produced and segregated for specific projects. 
 
• Consistent use (by type of inventory with similar nature and use) of either first-in, first-out (FIFO) or weighted average 

cost formula to measure the cost of other inventories. 
 
• Reversal of previous write-downs to net realizable value when there is a subsequent increase in the value of inventories. 
 
The adoption of Section 3031 on January 1, 2008, did not have a material impact on the Corporation's financial position or 
operating results. 

 
2.3 Measurement and reporting currency 
 

Items included in the financial statements of each entity in the Corporation are measured using the currency that best 
reflects the economic substance of the underlying events and circumstances relevant to that entity (the “functional 
currency”). 
 
The Corporation’s reporting currency is the United States dollar.  Uranium One, its subsidiaries and joint ventures operate 
in Kazakhstan, the United States, Australia, South Africa and Canada. 
 
The financial statements of the entities that are determined to be integrated foreign operations have been translated into 
United States dollars by translating foreign currency denominated monetary assets and liabilities, which includes future 
income tax, at rates of exchange in effect at the balance sheet date.  Non-monetary items are translated at historical 
exchange rates and revenues and expenses at average rates of exchange during the period.  Exchange gains and losses 
arising on translation are included in the consolidated statements of operations. 
 
The financial statements of the entities that are determined to be self-sustaining foreign operations have been translated 
into United States dollars by translating all assets and liabilities, which includes future income tax, at rates of exchange in 
effect at the balance sheet date.  Revenues and expenses are translated at average exchange rates for the period.  All 
resulting exchange differences are included in accumulated other comprehensive income / (loss) on the balance sheet. 
 

2.4 Inventories 
 

Inventories of solutions and uranium concentrates are valued at the lower of average production cost or net realizable 
value.  Production costs include the cost of raw materials, direct labour, mine-site related overhead expenses and 
depreciation and depletion of mineral interests. 

 
Materials and supplies are valued on the weighted average basis and recorded at the lower of average cost or 
replacement cost. 



Uranium One Inc. 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
as at December 31, 2008 and 2007 
(in United States dollars) 
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 
2.5 Mineral interests, plant and equipment 
 

Mineral interests, plant and equipment are recorded at cost less accumulated depreciation and depletion. 
 
Mineral interests, plant and equipment includes capitalized expenditures related to the development of mineral properties 
and related plant and equipment.  Capitalized costs and plant and equipment are depreciated and depleted using either a 
unit-of-production method, over the estimated economic life of the mine to which they relate, or using the straight-line 
method over their estimated useful lives. 
 
The costs associated with mineral interests are separately allocated to reserves, resources and exploration potential, and 
include acquired interests in production, development and exploration stage properties representing the fair value at the 
time they were acquired.  The value allocated to reserves is depreciated on a unit-of-production method over the 
estimated recoverable proven and probable reserves at the mine.  The reserve value is noted as depletable mineral 
properties for operations in commercial production in note 11.  The resource value represents the property interests that 
are believed to potentially contain economic mineralized material such as inferred material; measured, indicated, and 
inferred resources with insufficient drill spacing to qualify as proven and probable reserves; and inferred resources in 
close proximity to proven and probable reserves. 

 
Resource value and exploration potential value is noted as non-depletable mineral properties for operations in commercial 
production in note 11.  At least annually or when otherwise appropriate, value from the non-depletable category will be 
transferred to the depletable category as a result of an analysis of the conversion of resources or exploration potential into 
reserves.  Costs related to property acquisitions are capitalized until the viability of the mineral property is determined.  
Resource value and exploration potential for development projects not in commercial production is noted as non-
depletable mineral properties.  When it is determined that a property is not economically viable the capitalized costs are 
written down.  Exploration expenditures on properties not advanced enough to identify their development potential are 
charged to operations as incurred. 

 
Mining expenditures incurred either to develop new ore bodies or to develop mine areas in advance of current production 
are capitalized.  Commercial production is deemed to have commenced when management determines that the 
completion of operational commissioning of major mine and plant components is completed, operating results are being 
achieved consistently for a period of time and that there are indicators that these operating results will be continued.  Mine 
development costs incurred to sustain current production are capitalized. 
 
Upon sale or abandonment of any mineral interest, plant and equipment, the cost and related accumulated depreciation or 
accumulated depletion, are written off and any gains or losses thereon are included in the statement of operations. 
 

2.6 Impairment of long-lived assets 
 

The Corporation reviews the carrying values of its mineral interests, plant and equipment when changes in circumstances 
indicate that those carrying values may not be recoverable.  Estimated future net cash flows are calculated using 
estimated recoverable reserves, estimated future commodity prices and the expected future operating and capital costs.  
An impairment loss is recognized when the carrying value of an asset held for use exceeds the sum of undiscounted 
future net cash flows.  An impairment loss is measured as the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its 
fair value. 
 

2.7 Asset retirement obligations 
 

The Corporation recognizes liabilities for statutory, contractual or legal obligations associated with the retirement of 
mineral property, plant and equipment, when those obligations result from the acquisition, construction, development or 
normal operation of the assets.  Initially, the net present value of the liability for an asset retirement obligation is 
recognized in the period incurred.  The net present value of the liability is added to the carrying amount of the associated 
asset and amortized over the asset’s useful life.  The liability is accreted over time through periodic charges to earnings 
and is reduced by actual costs of reclamation.  Subsequent to the initial measurement, the asset retirement obligation is 
adjusted at the end of each year to reflect changes in the estimated future cash flows underlying the obligation. 
 

2.8 Revenue recognition 
 

Revenue from uranium sales is recognized when: (i) persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists; (ii) the risks and 
rewards of ownership pass to the purchaser, including delivery of the product; (iii) the selling price is fixed or 
determinable, and (iv) collectability is reasonably assured. 



Uranium One Inc. 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
as at December 31, 2008 and 2007 
(in United States dollars) 
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 
In a uranium supply arrangement, the Corporation is contractually obligated to provide uranium concentrates to its 
customers.  Uranium that was produced by the Corporation is delivered to conversion facilities (“Converters”) where the 
Converter will credit the Corporation’s account for the volume of accepted uranium.  Based on delivery terms in a sales 
contract with its customer, the Corporation instructs the Converter to transfer title of a contractually specified quantity of 
uranium to the customer’s account at the Converter.  At this point, the Corporation invoices the customer and recognizes 
revenue for the uranium supply.  The Corporation does not recognize revenue in circumstances where it delivers 
borrowed or purchased material into contracts. 

 
Interest income is recognized on a time proportion basis, taking account of the principal outstanding and the effective 
interest rate over the period to maturity, when it is determined that such income will accrue to the Corporation. 
 

2.9 Future income and mining taxes 
 

The Corporation uses the liability method of accounting for income and mining taxes.  Under the liability method, future 
tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial 
statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases and for tax losses and other 
deductions carried forward.  For business acquisitions, the liability method results in a gross up of mining interests to 
reflect the recognition of the future tax liabilities for the tax effect of such differences. 

 
Future tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted or substantively enacted tax rates expected to apply when 
the asset is realized or the liability settled.  A reduction in respect of the benefit of a future tax asset (a valuation 
allowance) is recorded against any future tax asset if it is not more likely than not to be realized.  The effect on future tax 
assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in the statement of operations in the period in which the 
change is substantively enacted. 
 

2.10 Stock based compensation 
 

The Corporation uses the fair value method of accounting for all stock based compensation awards (“Awards”).  Under 
this method, the Corporation determines the fair value of the compensation expense for all Awards on the date of grant 
using an option pricing model.  The fair value of the Awards is expensed over the vesting period of the Awards. 

 
Upon exercise of the Awards, the related amount of stock based compensation previously expensed is transferred from 
contributed surplus and together with consideration received, is recorded as share capital. 
 
The Corporation’s stock based compensation plans consist of the following: 

 
Options 
 
Under Uranium One's Stock Option Plan, options granted are non-assignable and may be granted for a term not 
exceeding ten years.  The plan is administered by the Board of Directors, which determines individual eligibility under the 
plan, the number of shares reserved underlying the options granted to each individual (not exceeding 5% of issued and 
outstanding shares to any insider and not exceeding 1% of the issued and outstanding shares to any non-employee 
director on a non-diluted basis) and any vesting period which, pursuant to the stock option plan was previously one-third 
on the grant date, one-third on the first anniversary of the grant date and the remainder on the second anniversary of the 
grant date.  On December 8, 2006 the Board of Directors decided to adopt an amended vesting schedule such that any 
options granted on and after December 8, 2006, would vest as to one-third on the first anniversary of the grant date, one-
third on the second anniversary of the grant date and one-third on the third anniversary of the grant date.  The maximum 
number of shares of Uranium One that are issuable pursuant to the plan is limited to 7.2% of issued and outstanding 
shares. 
 
Restricted shares 
 
Under the Uranium One Restricted Share Plan, restricted share rights are granted to eligible employees, contractors and 
directors.  Each restricted share right is exercisable for one common share of Uranium One at the end of the restricted 
period for no additional consideration.  The vesting period for restricted shares that is currently in issue is either two-thirds 
on the first anniversary of the grant date and the remainder on the second anniversary of the grant date, or total vesting 
on the third anniversary of the grant date.  The aggregate maximum number of shares available for issuance under the 
restricted share plan was initially capped at one million and subsequently increased to three million at Uranium One's 
annual and special meeting held on June 7, 2007.  The number of shares for issuance to non-employee directors may not 
exceed 0.5% of the total number of common shares outstanding on a non-diluted basis. 
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 
2.11 Earnings / loss per share 

 
Earnings / loss per share calculations are based on the weighted average number of common shares and common share 
equivalents issued and outstanding during the year.  The calculation of diluted earnings per share assumes that 
outstanding options and warrants that are dilutive to earnings per share are exercised and the proceeds are used to 
repurchase shares of Uranium One at the average market price of the shares for the period.  The effect is to increase the 
number of shares used to calculate diluted earnings per share.  The impact of outstanding share options and warrants are 
excluded from the diluted share calculation for loss per share amounts, because it is anti-dilutive.  The if-converted 
method is used to compute the dilutive effect of convertible debt. The dilutive effect of contingently issuable shares is 
computed by comparing the conditions required for issuance of shares against those existing at the end of the period. 
 

2.12 Financial instruments 
 

The Corporation's financial instruments primarily consist of cash, short-term money market investments, marketable 
securities, accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, loans to joint ventures, draw downs against the 
credit facility, other loans, and convertible debentures.  The fair value of these financial instruments, except for the 
convertible debentures, approximates their carrying values, due primarily to their immediate or short-term maturity.  Fair 
values of other financial instruments have been estimated by reference to quoted market prices for actual or similar 
instruments where available and disclosed accordingly. 

 
Comprehensive income comprises the Corporation’s net income and other comprehensive income.  Comprehensive 
income represents changes in shareholders’ equity during a period arising from non-owner sources and, for the 
Corporation; other comprehensive income includes currency translation adjustments on its net investment in self-
sustaining foreign operations, and unrealized gains and losses on available-for-sale securities. 
 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognized on the balance sheet when the Corporation has become party to 
the contractual provisions of the instruments.  Financial instruments are initially measured at fair value, which includes 
transaction costs.  Subsequent to initial recognition these instruments are measured as set out below: 
 
Investments 

 
Purchases and sales of marketable investments are recognized on the trade date at market value, which is the date that 
the Corporation commits to purchase or sell the asset.  After initial recognition, the investments are classified as available 
for sale investments carried at market value, with the market value adjustments accounted for in other comprehensive 
income.  When available for sale investments are sold, the cumulative market rate adjustment previously recorded in 
other comprehensive income is recognized in the statement of operations. 
 
The Corporation accounts for its other investments using the cost basis of accounting whereby investments are initially 
recorded at cost and earnings from such investments are recognized only to the extent received or receivable.   
 
Cash and cash equivalents 
 
Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand, bank balances, deposits held at call and certificates of deposits, 
money market instruments, including cashable guaranteed investment certificates, bearer deposit notes and commercial 
paper with a remaining maturity of three months or less at date of purchase, and are carried at fair value. 
 
Financial assets 
 
Financial assets that are classified, as held for trading are recognized on the trade date at market value, which is the date 
that the Corporation commits to purchase or sell the asset.  After initial recognition, the assets are carried at fair market 
value, with the fair value adjustments accounted for in the statement of operations. 
 
Accounts receivable 

 
Accounts receivable are carried at amortized cost unless a provision has been recorded for uncollectability of these 
receivables.  A provision for impairment of accounts receivable is established when there is objective evidence that the 
Corporation will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the original terms of receivables. 
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 
Impairment and uncollectability of financial assets 

 
An assessment is made at each balance sheet date to determine whether there is objective evidence that a financial 
asset or group of financial assets may be impaired.  If such evidence exists, the estimated recoverable amount of the 
asset is determined and an impairment loss is recognized for the difference between the recoverable amount and the 
carrying amount as follows: the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its discounted estimated recoverable amount, 
either directly or through the use of an allowance account and the resulting loss is recognized in the consolidated 
statement of operations for the year. 
 
For investments included under financial instruments, if there is an other than temporary decline in the value of the 
investment, such reduction is included in the consolidated statement of operations. 
 
Financial liabilities 

 
After initial recognition, financial liabilities, other than held for trading liabilities, are subsequently measured at amortized 
cost using the effective interest rate method.  Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account any transaction costs 
and any discount or premium on settlement. 
 
Financial liabilities that are classified as held for trading are recognized on the trade date at fair value, which is the date 
that the Corporation commits to the contract.  After initial recognition, the liabilities are carried at fair market value, with the 
fair value adjustments accounted for in the statement of operations. 
 
Accounts payable 

 
Liabilities for trade and other payables which are normally settled on 30 to 90 day terms are carried at amortized cost. 
 
Loans payable 

 
Loans payable are recognized initially at the proceeds received, net of transaction costs incurred.  Loans payable are 
subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method.  Any difference between proceeds (net 
of transaction costs) and the redemption value is recognized in the statement of operations over the period of the loan. 
 
Offset 

 
Where a legally enforceable right of offset exists for recognized financial assets and financial liabilities, and there is an 
intention to settle the liability and realize the asset simultaneously, or settle on a net basis, all related financial effects are 
offset. 
 
Compound instruments 
 
The component parts of compound instruments are classified separately as financial liabilities and equity in accordance 
with the substance of the contractual agreement.  At the date of issue, the fair value of the liability component is estimated 
using the prevailing market interest rate for similar non-convertible instruments.  This amount is recorded as a liability on 
an amortized cost basis until extinguished upon conversion or at the instrument’s maturity date.  The equity component is 
determined by deducting the amount of the liability component from the face value of the compound instrument as a 
whole.  This is recognized and included in equity, net of income tax effects, and is not subsequently remeasured. 
 
Embedded derivatives 
 
Derivatives may be embedded in other financial instruments (the “host instrument”).  Embedded derivatives are treated as 
separate derivatives when their economic characteristics and risks are not clearly and closely related to those of the host 
instrument, the terms of the embedded derivative are the same as those of a stand-alone derivative, and the combined 
contract is not held for trading or designated at fair value.  These embedded derivatives are measured at fair value with 
subsequent changes recognized in gains or losses on derivatives within interest and other in the consolidated statement 
of operations. 

 
2.13 Equity instruments 

 
Equity instruments issued by Uranium One are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs. 

 
2.14 Use of estimates 

 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Canadian GAAP requires the Corporation’s management to 
make estimates and assumptions about future events that affect the amounts reported in the consolidated financial 
statements and related notes to the consolidated financial statements.  Actual results may differ from those estimates. 
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 
Significant estimates used in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements include, but are not limited to, the 
recoverability of accounts receivable and investments, the proven and probable reserves, resources and exploration 
potential of mineral interests and the related depletion and depreciation, the estimated net realizable value of inventories, 
impairment of mineral interests, plant and equipment, determination of fair values of financial instruments, the fair value 
for stock-based compensation, the valuation of investments, the provision for income taxes and composition of income tax 
assets and liabilities, the expected economic lives of and the estimated future operating results and net cash flows from 
mining interests, the anticipated costs of reclamation and closure cost obligations, and the fair value of assets and 
liabilities acquired in business combinations and asset acquisitions. 
 

2.15 Non-controlling interest 
 

Non-controlling interests exist with respect to less than wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Corporation and represent the 
outside interest’s share of the carrying values of the subsidiaries’ net assets.  When the subsidiary company issues its 
own shares to outside parties, a dilution gain or loss arises as a result of the difference between the Corporation’s share 
of the proceeds and the carrying value of the underlying equity. 
 

2.16 Variable interest entities 
 

Variable interest entities (“VIE’s”) as defined by the Accounting Standards Board in Accounting Guideline (“AcG”) 15, 
“Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities” are entities in which equity investors do not have characteristics of a 
“controlling financial interest” or there is not sufficient equity at risk for the entity to finance its activities without additional 
subordinated financial support.  VIE’s are subject to consolidation by the primary beneficiary who will absorb the majority 
of the entity’s expected losses and/or expected residual returns.  The Corporation has determined that none of its equity 
investments qualify as VIE’s. 
 

2.17 Recent accounting pronouncements – effective January 1, 2009 and October 1, 2011 
 

International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) 
 
In February 2008, the Canadian Accounting Standards Board confirmed that publicly accountable enterprises will be 
required to adopt IFRS for fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 2011, with earlier adoption permitted.  Accordingly, 
the conversion to IFRS will be applicable to the Corporation’s reporting no later than in the first quarter of 2011, with 
restatement of comparative information presented.  The conversion to IFRS will impact the Corporation’s accounting 
policies, information technology and data systems, internal control over financial reporting, and disclosure controls and 
procedures.  The transition may also impact business activities, such as foreign currency, certain contractual 
arrangements, debt covenants and capital requirements.  The Corporation is currently evaluating the future impact of 
IFRS on its financial statements and will continue to invest in training and additional resources to ensure a successful 
conversion. 
 
Goodwill and intangible assets 
 
Effective January 1, 2009, the Corporation will be adopting the new CICA Handbook Section 3064 – Goodwill and 
Intangible Assets, which aligns Canadian GAAP for goodwill and intangible assets with IFRS.  The new standard provides 
more comprehensive guidance on intangible assets, in particular for internally developed intangible assets.  The 
Corporation has not yet determined the impact of the adoption of this change on its consolidated financial statements. 
 
Business combinations 
 
Section 1582, Business Combinations, which replaces Section 1581, Business Combinations, establishes standards for 
the accounting for a business combination.  It is the Canadian GAAP equivalent to International Financial Reporting 
Standard IFRS 3, Business Combinations.  This standard is effective for the Corporation for interim and annual financial 
statements beginning on January 1, 2011.  Early adoption is permitted.  The Corporation has not yet determined the 
impact of the adoption of this change on its consolidated financial statements. 
 
Consolidated financial statements and non-controlling interests 
 
Section 1601, Consolidated Financial Statements and Section 1602, Non-controlling Interests replaces Section 1600.  
Section 1601 establishes standards for the preparation of consolidated financial statements.  Section 1602 establishes 
standards for accounting, for a non-controlling interest in a subsidiary in consolidated financial statements, subsequent to 
a business combination.  Section 1602 is equivalent to the corresponding provisions of International Financial Reporting 
Standard IAS 27, Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements.  These standards are effective for the Corporation for 
interim and annual financial statements beginning on January 1, 2011.  Early adoption is permitted.  The Corporation has 
not yet determined the impact of the adoption of these changes on its consolidated financial statements. 
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3 DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS – AFLEASE GOLD 
 
During January 2008, the Board of Directors approved the disposal of the Corporation’s interest in Aflease Gold.  The assets 
and liabilities of Aflease Gold, previously disclosed as the Modder East Gold Project, have been classified as discontinued 
operations for all periods presented in these financial statements. 
 
On April 8, 2008 the Corporation sold 152.2 million Aflease Gold shares for $41.3 million, decreasing the Corporation's 
ownership to 38% of the common shares of Aflease Gold.  An option granted to the purchaser to acquire Uranium One Africa’s 
remaining shareholding in Aflease Gold lapsed on May 8, 2008.  Subsequently, the Corporation sold an additional 12.5 million 
Aflease Gold shares for $3.2 million, decreasing the Corporation’s shareholding to 34%.  The result of the above transactions, 
and recording the impairment of the remaining interest in Aflease Gold, is a loss of $121.3 million. 
 
Subsequent to December 31, 2008, the Corporation sold a further 153.5 million Aflease Gold shares for proceeds of 
$16.2 million (including a deposit of $3.1 million received in 2008), decreasing the Corporation’s shareholding in Aflease Gold 
to 6%. 
 
The financial statement effects on the net investment in Aflease Gold and the statement of operations are illustrated below: 

 

 
Balance sheet  Statement of 

operations 
 $'000  $'000 
January 1, 2008 193,210 - 
Loss from discontinued operations (1,004) (1,004)
Impairment (121,256) (121,256)
Net carrying value sold during the year (34,446) - 
Effect of foreign exchange (27,480) - 
December 31, 2008 9,024 (122,260)

 
Selected financial information of the discontinued operations included in the comparative periods of the Consolidated 
Statement of Operations is as follows: 

     Year ended 
        Dec 31, 2007 
Net loss from discontinued operations      $'000 
Revenues     - 
Loss from discontinued operations     (6,137)
Interest and other income     961 
Non-controlling interest     3,805 

     (1,371)
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3 DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS – AFLEASE GOLD (continued) 

 
The major classes of assets and liabilities of the discontinued operations are as follows: 
 

 Dec 31, 2008  Dec 31, 2007 
 $'000  $'000 
Assets   
Cash and cash equivalents - 92,623 
Accounts receivable and other receivables - 2,321 
Inventories - 42 
Current assets of discontinued operations - 94,986 
Mineral interests, plant and equipment - 285,553 
Investment 9,024 - 
Other assets - 1,061 
Non-current assets of discontinued operations 9,024 286,614 
Total assets of discontinued operations 9,024 381,600 
   
Liabilities   
Accounts payable, accrued liabilities and other - 5,080 
Income taxes payable - 165 
Current liabilities of discontinued operations - 5,245 
   
Future income tax liabilities - 80,201 
Convertible debentures - 90,551 
Other long term payables - 1,085 
Non-controlling interest - 11,308 
Non-current liabilities of discontinued operations - 183,145 
Total liabilities of discontinued operations - 188,390 

 
 
4 SALE OF INTEREST IN THE HONEYMOON PROJECT 
 

On October 15, 2008, the Corporation entered into an agreement with Mitsui & Co., Ltd. (“Mitsui & Co.”) to create joint ventures 
in relation to the Australian assets of the Corporation.  The transaction was completed on December 24, 2008 when the last 
required regulatory approval was obtained.  Under the agreement, Mitsui & Co. acquired a 49% interest in the Honeymoon 
project and the Corporation’s Australian exploration portfolio. 

The minimum cash commitment from Mitsui is approximately $72.6 million (A$ 104.0 million)(1) for its share of Uranium One 
Australia’s business.  The majority of these funds will be used to advance the development of the Honeymoon Project through 
to commencement of production in 2010. 

Pursuant to the terms of the Honeymoon joint venture agreement, the Corporation committed up to $34.8 million 
(A$ 49.8 million) of the proceeds from the investment by Mitsui to fund its share of Honeymoon’s development expenditures. 

The Corporation accounts for its remaining share in the Honeymoon Project on the proportional consolidation method. 

Carrying value of assets before sale   $'000 
   
Carrying value of assets and liabilities sold on transaction date  281,491 
Impairment to fair value based on transaction value  (195,358)
Foreign exchange  (16,545)
Carrying value after impairment, at 100%  69,588 
   
Assets and liabilities sold:   

Mineral interest, plant and equipment  34,707 
Accounts receivables and prepayments  26 
Accounts payables and other short term payables  (356)
Non-current liabilities  (279)

Carrying value of assets and liabilities sold  34,098 
   
   
Carrying value after sale  35,490 

 
(1)  A$: Australian dollar 
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5  BUSINESS COMBINATION BETWEEN URANIUM ONE AND URASIA ENERGY 
 

On February 11, 2007, Uranium One entered into a definitive arrangement agreement whereby Uranium One agreed to 
acquire all of the outstanding common shares of UrAsia Energy Limited (“UrAsia Energy”).  Under the agreement, each UrAsia 
Energy share was exchanged for 0.45 Uranium One common shares.  Each UrAsia Energy warrant and stock option, which 
previously gave the holder the right to acquire common shares of UrAsia Energy, was exchanged for a warrant or stock option.  
This gave the holder the right to acquire common shares of Uranium One on the same basis as the shareholders of UrAsia 
Energy, with all other terms of such warrants and options (such as term and expiry) remaining unchanged. 
 
The shareholders of UrAsia Energy approved the arrangement at a Special Meeting held on April 5, 2007, with the transaction 
closing on April 20, 2007.  Upon completion of the transaction, Uranium One was held approximately 60% by former UrAsia 
Energy shareholders and approximately 40% by former Uranium One shareholders.  Accordingly, this business combination 
was accounted for as a reverse takeover under Canadian GAAP with UrAsia Energy being identified as the acquirer and 
Uranium One as the acquiree. 
 
The cost of acquisition included the fair value of the deemed issuance of the following instruments: 307.0 million UrAsia Energy 
common shares at $5.57 per share, plus 6.1 million share purchase warrants with an average exercise price of $1.57 per share 
and a fair value of $26.4 million, plus 12.0 million stock options, of which 8.0 million were exercisable at the date of acquisition, 
with an average exercise price of $2.66 per share and a fair value of the vested portion of $34.8 million, plus 0.8 million 
restricted shares with a fair value of $0.9 million, plus the fair value of the equity component of the Uranium One convertible 
debenture of $46.5 million plus UrAsia Energy’s transaction costs of $19.4 million, providing a total purchase price of 
$1,837.6 million. 
 
The value of the deemed issuance of UrAsia Energy shares was calculated using the weighted average share price of UrAsia 
Energy shares two days before, the day of, and two days after the date of the announcement of the arrangement.  The 
following weighted average assumptions were used for the Black-Scholes option pricing model for the fair value of the stock 
options, warrants, restricted shares and equity component of the convertible debentures: 
 

Risk-free interest rate 4.17% 
Expected volatility of the share price 61% 
Expected life 3.79 years 
Dividend rate Nil 

 
The aggregate fair values of assets acquired and liabilities assumed were as follows on acquisition date: 

 
    
   $’000 
Purchase price:    
Common shares   1,709,647 
Options, warrants and restricted shares   62,042 
Equity component of convertible debentures   46,480 
Acquisition costs   19,418 
   1,837,587 
Net assets acquired:    
Cash and cash equivalents   291,088 
Other current assets   33,442 
Mineral interests, plant and equipment   2,459,355 
Other assets   13,502 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities   (57,223) 
Short term loans   (54,130) 
Asset retirement obligations   (4,602) 
Convertible debentures   (118,450) 
Future income tax liabilities   (713,732) 
Non-controlling interest   (11,663) 
   1,837,587 
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6 ASSET PURCHASES 
 

6.1 U.S. Energy 
 

On April 30, 2007, Uranium One completed the purchase, from U.S. Energy Corporation (“U.S. Energy”), of the 
Shootaring Canyon Uranium Mill in Utah, as well as a land package comprising uranium exploration properties in Utah, 
Wyoming, Arizona and Colorado and a substantial database of geological information for consideration equal to 6,607,605 
Uranium One common shares valued at $99.4 million, a cash payment of $6.5 million, and transaction costs of 
$2.6 million including $750,000 paid in cash by Uranium One on the execution of an exclusivity agreement with the 
vendor.  The purchase agreement provides for further payments by Uranium One of $27.5 million dependent on the 
achievement of certain production targets.  U.S. Energy will receive a royalty equal to 5% of the gross proceeds from the 
sale of commodities produced at the Shootaring Canyon Mill, to a maximum amount of $12.5 million. 
 
The transaction was accounted for as an asset purchase and the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment 
acquired as part the group of assets acquired was determined by allocating the price paid for the group of assets to each 
item based on its relative fair value at the time of acquisition.  The summarized result of the allocation is indicated in the 
table below: 

 
    
Purchase price:   $’000 

6.6 million common shares of Uranium One   99,401 
Cash payment   6,515 
Acquisition costs, including exclusivity fee   2,603 
   108,519 
Allocation of purchase price to assets:    
Mineral interests, plant and equipment   104,290 
Stockpiles   7,772 
Asset retirement obligations   (3,543) 
   108,519 
 

Pursuant to the asset purchase agreement, the reclamation bonds and guarantees given by U.S. Energy in connection 
with the acquired assets were substituted by Uranium One surety bonds with the appropriate Governmental Entity to 
provide coverage for the reclamation obligations of the acquired assets.  The bond payments of $9.3 million are included 
in other assets as part of the asset retirement fund.  The asset retirement obligation was assessed and accounted for on 
acquisition date (Refer note 16). 

 
6.2 Energy Metals Corporation 

 
On June 3, 2007, Uranium One and Energy Metals Corporation (“EMC”) entered into a definitive agreement whereby 
Uranium One agreed to acquire all of the issued and outstanding common shares and options to purchase common 
shares of EMC.  The agreement was approved by the shareholders of EMC on July 31, 2007 and the acquisition was 
completed on August 10, 2007.  Under the agreement, Uranium One exchanged 1.15 common shares of Uranium One for 
each common share of EMC. A total of 100,444,543 Uranium One common shares were issued in exchange for 
87,343,081 EMC common shares. 
 
The cost of the acquisition included the fair value of the issuance of 100,444,543 Uranium One common shares at $10.09 
per share, plus 8,382,546 stock options of Uranium One, of which 5,380,458 were exercisable at the date of acquisition, 
with an average exercise price of $8.14 per share and a fair value of the vested portion of $35.3 million plus Uranium 
One’s transaction costs of $9.3 million for a total purchase price of $1,057.8 million. 
 
The value of the Uranium One common shares issued was calculated using the share price of Uranium One’s shares on 
the date of acquisition. 
 
The following weighted average assumptions were used for the Black-Scholes option pricing model for fair value of the 
stock options: 

 
Risk-free interest rate 4.57% 
Expected volatility of the share price 60% 
Expected life 3.07 years 
Dividend rate Nil 

 
The transaction was accounted for as an asset purchase and the cost of each item of mineral interests, plant and 
equipment acquired as part of the group of assets acquired was determined by allocating the price paid for the group of 
assets to each item based on its relative fair value at the time of acquisition. 
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6 ASSET PURCHASES (continued) 
 

6.2 Energy Metals Corporation (continued) 
 

The summarized results of the allocation are indicated in the table below: 
 

Purchase price:    
   $’000 
100.4 million common shares of Uranium One   1,013,215 
Options of Uranium One   35,307 
Acquisition costs   9,311 
   1,057,833 
Net assets acquired:    
  Cash and cash equivalents   86,017 
  Marketable securities   6,909 
  Other current assets   12,497 
  Mineral interests, plant and equipment   1,441,077 
  Other non-current assets   23,662 
  Accounts payable and accrued liabilities   (5,627) 
  Asset retirement obligation   (2,281) 
Future income tax liability   (504,421) 
   1,057,833 

 
 
7  CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS  
 
 

 Dec 31, 2008  Dec 31, 2007 
 $’000  $’000 
Cash 134,444  147,532 
Money market instruments, including cashable guaranteed investment 
certificates, bearer deposit notes and commercial paper 41,781  12,060 

 176,225  159,592 
 

Cash and cash equivalents do not include any asset backed commercial paper. 
 
 
8 ACCOUNTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 
 

  Dec 31, 2008  Dec 31, 2007 
  $'000  $'000 
Trade receivables  26,194 55,520 
Value added tax and general sales tax  5,886 7,446 
Prepayments and advances  4,151 5,558 
Other receivables  3,695 1,794 
  39,926 70,318 
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9  JOINT VENTURES 
 
9.1 Proportionate interests in joint ventures 

 
The Corporation owns the following interests in joint ventures: 

 
Betpak Dala     70%
Kyzylkum     30%
Honeymoon     51%
Australia Exploration     51%
 
The Corporation’s proportionate share of the assets and liabilities of the joint ventures are as follows: 
 

          
          
As at December 31, 2008 Betpak Dala  Kyzylkum  Honeymoon  Australia 

exploration 
 Total 

 $'000  $'000  $'000  $'000  $'000 
Cash  725 92 -  -  817 
Other current assets 8,641 656 16  -  9,313 
Mineral interests, plant and 
equipment 700,006 193,019 26,017  12,603  931,645 

Other assets 703 4,005 -  -  4,708 
Current liabilities (18,098) (3,084) (653)  -  (21,835)
Long term debt (1) (54) (35,453) (11)  -  (35,518)
Other  (1,582) (556) -  -  (2,138)
Future income taxes (270,411) (72,019) (3,271)  -  (345,701)
Asset retirement obligation (4,609) (117) (223)  -  (4,949)

Net Assets 415,321 86,543 21,875  12,603 536,342 

 
(1) In addition to the $33.2 million loan (note 9.2) from the Corporation, Kyzylkum negotiated unsecured bank loan facilities totaling $100 million in 2007 and another $60 

million in  2008.  One facility, in the amount of $70 million, was obtained from the Japan Bank for International Cooperation (“JBIC”) and the other facility, in the 
amount of $90 million, was obtained from Citibank.  Total draw downs against these facilities amounted to $120 million as at December 31, 2008, of which the 
Corporation’s share is $36 million. 
 

         
         

As at December 31, 2007 Betpak Dala  Kyzylkum      Total 
 $'000  $'000      $'000 

Cash 1,643  3,659     5,302 
Other current assets 73,039  291     73,330 
Mineral interests, plant and 
equipment 680,046  182,740     862,786 

Other assets 4,070  4,771     8,841 
Current liabilities (19,395)  (900)    (20,295)
Long term debt -  (18,205)    (18,205)
Other long term liabilities (1,567)  (135)    (1,702)
Future income taxes (280,075)  (72,486)    (352,561)
Asset retirement obligation (3,377)  -    (3,377)
Net Assets 454,384  99,735      554,119 
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9  JOINT VENTURES (continued) 
 
9.1 Proportionate interests in joint ventures (continued) 

 
The Corporation's proportionate share of revenue, expenses, net earnings / (loss) and cash flows for the years ended 
December 31, 2008 and 2007 are as follows: 
 

          
Year ended December 31, 2008 
  

 
 

     

 
Betpak 

Dala  Kyzylkum  Honeymoon 
 Australian 

exploration  Total 
 $'000  $'000  $’000  $’000  $'000 
Revenue 149,776 - - - 149,776 
Expenses and other 
income (50,680) 132 - (56) (50,604)

Foreign exchange (loss) / 
gain (18) 660 - - 642 

Earnings / (loss) before 
income taxes 99,078 792 - (56) 99,814 

Current income tax 
expense (42,065) (42) - - (42,107)

Future income tax recovery 7,122 186 - - 7,308 

Earnings / (loss) 64,135 936 - (56) 65,015 

      
Cash flows from / (used in) 
operating activities 64,344 (78) - - 64,266 

Cash flows used in 
investing activities (53,347) (21,489) - - (74,836)

Cash flows (used in) / from 
financing activities (11,915) 18,000 - - 6,085

Net decrease in cash (918) (3,567) - - (4,485)
 

          
Year ended December 31, 2007 
 

 
 

     
 

 Betpak Dala  Kyzylkum      Total 
 $'000  $'000      $'000 
Revenue 134,024 -   134,024 
Expenses and other 
income (29,664) (962)   (30,626)

Foreign exchange loss (5,774) (432)   (6,206)
Earnings / (loss) before 
income taxes 98,586 (1,394)   97,192 
Current income tax 
expense (43,932)  -    (43,932)

Future income tax recovery 5,276  -      5,276 
Earnings / (loss) 59,930 (1,394)   58,536 
      
Cash flows from / (used in) 
operating activities 77,544 (12)   77,532 

Cash flows used in 
investing activities (47,711) (23,736)   (71,447)

Cash flows (used in) / from 
financing activities (33,736) 24,120   (9,616)

Net (decrease) / increase 
in cash (3,903) 372   (3,531)
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9  JOINT VENTURES (continued) 
 
9.2 Loans to joint ventures 

  Dec 31, 2008  Dec 31, 2007 
  $'000  $'000 
Current portion     
Betpak Dala  -  5,175 
Kyzylkum  19,158  27,692 
  19,158  32,867 
     
Long term portion     
Betpak Dala  -  - 
Kyzylkum  14,000  24,359 
  14,000  24,359 
Total  33,158  57,226 

 
During 2007 the Corporation advanced $5.2 million to Betpak Dala on behalf of its joint venture partner which was repaid 
during the year ending December 31, 2008. 

 
Kyzylkum loan 
 
The Corporation made loans to Kyzylkum pursuant to its obligation to provide project financing for construction and 
commissioning of the Kharasan Project in the amount of $80 million.  The loans bear interest at LIBOR plus 1.5% per 
annum, with interest payable on a semi-annual basis, commencing within two years of initial funding. 
 
  Dec 31, 2008  Dec 31, 2007 
  $'000  $'000 
Balance at January 1  73,333  80,000 
     
Repaid during the year  (26,667)  (6,667)
  46,666  73,333 
Interest accrued  702  1,025 
Balance at December 31  47,368  74,358 
     
Less: elimination of proportionate share – 30%  (14,210)  (22,307)
  33,158  52,051 
Less: current portion  (19,158)  (27,692)
Long term portion  14,000  24,359 
 
The loans to Kyzylkum are unsecured. 
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10 INVENTORIES 

  Dec 31, 2008  Dec 31, 2007 
  $'000  $'000 
Finished uranium concentrates  5,401  10,093 
Solutions and concentrates in process  2,584  5,128 
Product inventory  7,985  15,221 
Materials and supplies  9,405  5,731 
Stockpiles  -  7,772 
  17,390  28,724 
Less: non-current inventory included in other assets (note 12)  -  7,772 
  17,390  20,952 

 
11 MINERAL INTERESTS, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 

  
December 31, 2008   Accumulated  Net carrying 
 Cost  amortization  amount 
 $'000  $'000  $'000 
Mineral interests 1,035,043  (46,850)  988,193 
Plant and equipment 312,360  (15,138)  297,222 
 1,347,403  (61,988)  1,285,415 

 
  
December 31, 2007   Accumulated  Net carrying 
 Cost  amortization  amount 
 $'000  $'000  $'000 
Mineral interests 4,291,594  (32,771)  4,258,823 
Plant and equipment 574,846  (6,316)  568,530 
 4,866,440  (39,087)  4,827,353 

 
A summary by property of the net book value is as follows: 
  
December 31, 2008  Mineral interests  
    
  Depletable 

Non-
depletable Total 

Plant and 
equipment Total 

 Country $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 
Akdala Mine Kazakhstan 92,739 74,358 167,097 28,622 195,719 
South Inkai Project Kazakhstan - 396,963 396,963 107,017 503,980 

Kharasan Project Kazakhstan - 144,722 144,722 48,296 193,018 

Dominion Project (1) South Africa - - - 44,586 44,586 
United States 
development projects United States - 90,255 90,255 15,589 105,844 

United States 
exploration projects(1) United States - 122,586 122,586 - 122,586 

Hobson Facility and La 
Palangana project (1) United States - - - 22,026 22,026 

United States 
conventional mining 
projects(1) (2) 

United States - 39,215 39,215 1,497 40,712 

Honeymoon Project(1) Australia - 25,652 25,652 12,967 38,619 
Corporate and other (1)  - 1,703 1,703 16,622 18,325 
Total  92,739 895,454 988,193 297,222 1,285,415 
 
(1) Refer to note 11.1 
(2) Previously Shootaring Canyon Mill 
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11 MINERAL INTERESTS, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued) 
 

   

December 31, 2007 Mineral interests 
 
 

   Non-  
  Depletable depletable Total 

Plant and 
equipment Total 

 Country $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 
Akdala Mine Kazakhstan 103,068 74,358 177,426 24,140 201,566 
South Inkai Project Kazakhstan - 422,631 422,631 31,388 454,019 

Kharasan Project Kazakhstan - 146,538 146,538 29,376 175,914 

Dominion Project South Africa - 1,756,018 1,756,018 350,146 2,106,164 
United States 
development 
projects 

United 
States - 278,654 278,654 7,184 285,838 

United States 
exploration projects 

United 
States - 1,073,130 1,073,130 1,285 1,074,415 

Hobson Facility and 
La Palangana 
Project 

United 
States - 56,869 56,869 33,503 90,372 

United States 
conventional 
mining projects(1) 

United 
States - 50,009 50,009 47,614 97,623 

Honeymoon Project Australia - 276,087 276,087 23,951 300,038 
Corporate and 
other  - 21,461 21,461 19,943 41,404 

Total  103,068 4,155,755 4,258,823 568,530 4,827,353 
 
(1) Previously Shootaring Canyon Mill 

 
11.1   Impairment of mineral interests, plant and equipment 

 

 
 Impairment and 

closure costs 
 Future income 

tax recovery 
 Net impairment 

 $'000  $'000  $'000 
      
Dominion Project  1,805,452  474,735  1,330,717 
United States development projects 204,289  68,679  135,610 
United States exploration projects 936,556  331,619  604,937 
Hobson Facility and La Palangana Project 83,409  19,024  64,385 
United States conventional mining projects  65,310  4,070  61,240 
Honeymoon Project 195,358  59,196  136,162 
Corporate and other assets 31,848  5,701  26,147 
 3,322,222  963,024  2,359,198 

 
Dominion Project 
On October 20, 2008, the Corporation’s board of directors decided to place the Dominion Project (“Dominion”) on care 
and maintenance.  A significant deterioration in Dominion’s economics in conjunction with a continuing decline in uranium 
prices over the last year were the major factors that contributed to the Corporation’s decision to place the Dominion 
project on care and maintenance. 

The Corporation has valued Dominion at its salvage value of $44.6 million.  Included in the Dominion Project impairment 
is $17.5 million to place the project on a care and maintenance basis. 

The Corporation carries foreign exchange translation losses of $244.8 million in accumulated other comprehensive losses 
relating to the translation to US dollars of its investment in Uranium One Africa Limited (“Uranium One Africa”), the wholly 
owned subsidiary which owns Dominion. The foreign exchange losses were not taken into consideration in calculating the 
impairment value and would only be realized in the statement of operations if the Corporation sells its investment in 
Uranium One Africa. The value of the losses is calculated based on the South African rand and US dollar exchange rates 
and will change as exchange rates change. 
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11   MINERAL INTERESTS, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued) 
 
11.1   Impairment of mineral interests, plant and equipment (continued) 
 

United States development projects 
The Corporation revised the mine plans and economic models for its ISR mining projects in Wyoming, resulting in an 
impairment of the carrying value of the Corporation’s United States development projects. 
 
United States exploration projects 
Impairments were recognized on certain United States exploration projects, due to various factors including economic 
feasibility, cancellation of option agreements, metallurgical recovery factors, licensing and environmental issues. 

Hobson Facility and La Palangana Project 
From the mine planning process in the United States the Corporation concluded that the La Palangana project was 
impaired as its estimated fair value of $6.2 million was lower than its carrying value.  The decrease in value was due to 
substantially lower than anticipated recoverable resources at La Palangana.  The Corporation placed the Hobson facility 
on care and maintenance and postponed the development of the La Palangana. 

United States conventional mining projects 
The Corporation concluded that the Shootaring Canyon Mill cannot be operated economically with the current available 
resource base and fully impaired the carrying value of the mill to a negligible salvage value. 

Honeymoon Project 
The Corporation sold a 49% interest in the Honeymoon Project and the Corporation’s Australian exploration portfolio to 
Mitsui & Co. during December 2008 (note 4). 

As the fair value of the assets sold were below the carrying value of the Honeymoon Project and the Australian 
exploration properties, they were written down to fair value based on the transaction value. 

Corporate and other assets 
Impairments were recognized on corporate and other assets including a $9.6 million impairment on drill rigs and related 
parts due to the termination of the existing revenue generating lease agreement and the associated decline of their fair 
market value. 

 
12 OTHER ASSETS 

  Dec 31, 2008  Dec 31, 2007 
  $'000  $'000 
Current     
Purchased uranium concentrates  9,743  18,056 
Future income tax assets  1,206  - 
Reclamation bond payment on behalf of UPC joint venture  1,094  1,094 
  12,043  19,150 
     
Non-current     
Asset retirement fund  19,939  20,316 
Advances for future services  10,054  10,629 
Borrowed uranium concentrates  8,621  - 
Advances for investment in sulphuric acid plant  5,959  - 
Advances for plant and equipment  3,938  12,643 
Long term deposits and guarantees  2,489  3,220 
Available for sale securities  593  21,257 
Long term inventory (note 10)  -  7,772 
Other  2,359  870 

  53,952  76,707 
  
Borrowed uranium concentrates 
The Corporation entered into an uranium concentrates borrowing agreement to mitigate the risk of delivery delays enabling the 
Corporation to meet its contractual obligations in terms of current uranium sales contracts.  The asset represents the borrowed 
uranium concentrates, which are held at a conversion facility in the Corporation’s account.  The asset is recorded at its fair 
value.  A corresponding liability has been recognized (note 18). 
 
A portion of the borrowed uranium concentrates has been delivered into a sales contract on behalf of Betpak Dala during 
December 2008.  The Corporation did not recognize revenue for this transaction, in line with the revenue recognition policy.  
The revenue will be recognized by Betpak Dala once they return the uranium concentrates to the Corporation, which occurred 
shortly after year-end. 
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12    OTHER ASSETS (continued) 
 
Purchased uranium concentrates 
The Corporation entered into uranium concentrates purchasing agreements to ensure that it could meet its short-term 
contractual obligations in terms of uranium sales contracts for Dominion.  The asset represents the balance of the purchased 
uranium concentrates, which are held at a conversion facility in the Corporation’s account.  The asset is recorded at its fair 
value. 
 
Available for Sale Securities 
During the year, the Corporation disposed of its investment in Randgold and Exploration Company Limited (“Randgold”).  The 
securities had a carrying value of $Nil.  No value was allocated to the investment as part of the purchase price allocation on 
April 20, 2007, due to the suspension of Randgold on the Johannesburg stock exchange.  Proceeds on the sale of these 
securities amounted to $13.0 million which resulted in a pre-tax gain on sale of securities of $13.0 million.  Capital gains tax of 
$1.5 million on the sale was offset against the assessed losses of Uranium One Africa. 
 
The Corporation disposed of further available for sale securities with a carrying value of $17.4 million (2007 - $Nil).  The 
securities had a cost basis of $17.2 million and fair value gains included in accumulated other comprehensive income of 
$0.2 million.  Proceeds on the sale of these securities were $11.9 million which resulted in a loss on sale of securities of 
$5.5 million.  Capital gains tax recovery of $0.9 million was offset against the Corporation’s assessed losses. 
 
During the year, there was an impairment on available for sale securities of $3.1 (2007- $0.9 million). 
 
By holding these long-term investments the Corporation is inherently exposed to various risk factors including currency risk, 
market price risk and liquidity risk. 
 

13 LONG TERM DEBT 
 

 Dec 31, 2008  Dec 31, 2007 
 $’000  $’000 
Drawn down during the year 65,000  - 
Financing fees (3,876)  - 
Interest paid (386)  - 
Interest accrued 537  - 
Closing balance 61,275  - 

 
On June 27, 2008, the Corporation established a $100 million bank debt senior secured revolving credit facility (the “facility”).  
Under the terms of the facility, the Corporation has the ability to borrow up to $100 million from the lead lenders, Bank of 
Montreal and The Bank of Nova Scotia (the “Banks”).  The facility has a two year term, and may be extended for a further year 
with lender consent. 
 
Draw downs under the facility can be made at interest rates based on either the US dollar LIBOR rate or the Bank of Montreal 
base rate for US dollar denominated loans (note 26).  Undrawn amounts are subject to a commitment fee currently at 0.40% 
per annum. 
 
Letters of credit can be issued under the facility at a fee of between 1.25% and 2.00% per annum. 
 
The Corporation has made a drawdown of $65 million under the credit facility on October 20, 2008.  The loan bears interest at 
3.5% as at December 31, 2008.  A letter of credit in the amount of $12.9 million was issued under the credit facility on 
September 25, 2008 as security for a uranium concentrates loan of 200,000 pounds of U3O8 (note 18). 
 
The debt is payable with no notice, anytime before June 27, 2010. 
 
The Corporation has a balance of $21.7 million available to draw down from the credit facility after the drawdown and letter of 
credit issued against it. 
 
The margins over the base interest rates, the commitment fee and the letter of credit fee, are dependent on the ratio of the 
Corporation’s net debt (consisting of total debt less certain cash balances) to its earnings before interest, taxes, stock based 
compensation, depreciation and depletion and other non-cash items. 
 
Draw downs under the facility may be used for general corporate purposes, including working capital requirements and funding 
capital expenditures and acquisitions. 
 
Financing fees relate to upfront costs and other costs incurred associated with establishing the credit facility, and are expensed 
over the term of the facility. 
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14 ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUED LIABILITIES 
 

  Dec 31, 2008  Dec 31, 2007 
  $'000  $'000 
Trade payables  18,222  25,334 
Accruals  19,874  24,461 
Commodity and other taxes payable  4,148  11,280 
Deposit received for sale of Aflease Gold shares (note 3)  3,100  - 
Other  2,079  9,727 
  47,423  70,802 
 

15 CONVERTIBLE DEBENTURES 
 

As part of the Uranium One / UrAsia Energy business combination on April 20, 2007, the Corporation acquired convertible 
unsecured subordinated debentures maturing December 31, 2011 (the “debentures”) with a face value of Cdn $155.3 million 
($133.2 million).  The debentures were originally issued at Cdn $1,000 per debenture and the underwriters’ fees amounted to 
Cdn $30 per debenture, which resulted in the net proceeds of Cdn $970 per debenture.  The debentures bear interest at an 
annual rate of 4.25%, payable semi-annually in arrears on June 30 and December 31 of each year, commencing 
June 30, 2007.  The June 30, 2007 interest payment represented accrued interest from the closing of the offering to 
June 30, 2007.  The conversion price was set at Cdn $20 per share, which is equivalent to 50 common shares for each 
Cdn $1,000 principal amount of debentures. 
 
The debt and equity components were revalued on acquisition, and were included as part of the purchase price for the 
Uranium One/UrAsia Energy business combination (note 5). 
 
The table below indicates the breakdown of the liability: 
 Dec 31, 2008  Dec 31, 2007 
 $’000  $’000 
Opening balance 136,548  118,450 
Interest incurred 15,075  11,641 
Coupon payment (5,989)  (6,564)
Foreign exchange movement (27,592)  13,021 
Liability as at the end of the year 118,042  136,548 
 

16 ASSET RETIREMENT OBLIGATIONS 
 

 Dec 31, 2008  Dec 31, 2007 
 $’000  $’000 
Opening balance 13,927  2,856 
Acquired in Uranium One/UrAsia business combination (note 5) -  4,602 
Acquisition of U.S. Energy assets (note 6.1) -  3,543 
Acquisition of EMC assets (note 6.2) -  2,281 
Revision of estimates (68)  423 
Accretion expense 1,407  1,000 
Sale of 49% interest in Honeymoon (note 4) (307)  - 
Other (727)  - 
Reallocated to discontinued operations -  (1,085)
Foreign exchange movement  (1,233)  307 
Closing balance 12,999  13,927 

 
 Dec 31, 2008  Dec 31, 2007 
    
Undiscounted and uninflated amount of estimated cash flows ($’000) 24,864  28,074 
Payable in years 7 - 45  4 - 27 
Inflation rate 2.69% - 8.50%  2.30% - 8.60% 
Discount rate 8.50% - 15.90%  7.39% - 14.75% 

 
Security of $19.9 million for reclamation obligations has been provided in the form required by the relevant country’s authorities 
(note 12). 
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17 INCOME TAXES 

    
 Dec 31, 2008  Dec 31, 2007 
 $’000  $’000 
Current income tax expense 44,191  41,211 
Future income tax recovery (1,013,634)  (17,621)
 (969,443)  23,590 

 
Reconciliation between the average effective tax rate and the applicable statutory tax rate. 
    
 Dec 31, 2008  Dec 31, 2007 
 $’000  $’000 
(Loss) / earnings before income taxes (3,303,030)  7,352 
Canadian federal and provincial income tax rates 31.00%  34.12% 
Expected income tax (recovery) / expense (1,023,939)  2,509 
Permanent differences, including share based compensation and foreign 
exchange 6,075  5,362 

Effect of tax rate changes 1,150  2,954 
Change in valuation allowance 143,661  9,121 
Differences in tax rates in foreign jurisdictions (101,439)  3,994 
Other  5,049  (350)
 (969,443)  23,590 
 
 
Future income tax 
 
The significant components of the Corporation’s future income tax assets and liabilities are as follows: 
  
 Dec 31, 2008  Dec 31, 2007 
 $’000  $’000 
Future income tax assets    
Mineral interests, plant & equipment 151,815  30,803 
Other 12,105  31,249 
Non-capital losses 69,080  58,134 
Future income tax assets before valuation allowance 233,000  120,186 
Valuation allowance (163,827)  (20,166)
Future income tax assets, net of valuation allowance 69,173  100,020 
    
Future income tax liabilities    
Mineral interests, plant & equipment(1) 435,096  1,577,461 
Other 8,164  18,619 
Future income tax liabilities 443,260  1,596,080 
 

   

Net current portion of future income tax assets 1,206  - 
Net long term portion of future income tax liabilities (375,293)  (1,496,060)
Net future income tax liability (374,087)  (1,496,060)

 
(1) Subsequent to year end, the Kazakhstan tenge was devalued by 25% against the US dollar, which will have an impact on the US dollar equivalent of the future income 

tax liabilities for the Kazakhstan operations in the first quarter of 2009 (note26 (i)) 
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17  INCOME TAXES (continued) 

 
 
Tax loss carry-forwards 
 
Canada and provincial tax jurisdictions 
At December 31, 2008, the Corporation had Canadian federal and provincial net operating loss carry-forwards totaling 
$65.7 million that expire from 2009 through 2028.  A valuation allowance of $17.3 million has been applied against the future 
tax asset representing these losses. 
 
United States federal and state tax jurisdictions 
At December 31, 2008, the Corporation had United States federal and state net operating loss carry-forwards totaling 
$64.4 million that expire from 2020 through 2028.  A valuation allowance of $Nil has been applied against the future tax asset 
representing these losses. 
 
South Africa tax jurisdictions 
At December 31, 2008, the Corporation had South Africa net operating loss carry-forwards totaling $69.6 million with no expiry.  
A valuation allowance of $24.4 million has been applied against future tax asset representing these losses. 

 
Kazakhstan tax jurisdictions 
At December 31, 2008, the Corporation had Kazakhstan net operating loss carry-forwards totaling $12.1 million that expire 
from 2009 through 2011.  A valuation allowance of $1.8 million has been applied against the future tax asset representing 
these losses. 
 
Australia tax jurisdictions 
At December 31, 2008, the Corporation had Australian net operating loss carry-forwards totaling $6.8 million with no expiry.  A 
valuation allowance of $Nil has been applied against the future tax asset representing these losses. 

 

 
18 OTHER LONG TERM PAYABLES 
 

  Dec 31, 2008  Dec 31, 2007 
  $'000  $'000 
Uranium concentrates loan  10,692  - 
Kyzylkum external loan facility (note 9)  35,453  18,205 
Due to the Republic of Kazakhstan  2,138  1,824 
Other  641  - 
  48,924  20,029 

 
 

Uranium concentrates loan 
 
On September 22, 2008, the Corporation entered into a loan agreement to borrow 200,000 pounds of U3O8 to be repaid on 
September 30, 2010.  Under the loan agreement, loan fees of 3.5% per annum are payable based on the value of the borrowed 
U3O8.  In addition to the loan agreement, the Corporation incurred $0.4 million in loan arrangement fees, which has been 
expensed.  The Corporation recognized the borrowed uranium as an Other asset (note 12).  The loan which was classified as a 
financial liability held for trading, and the other asset are carried at fair value. 
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19 SHARE CAPITAL 
 

  Number of  Value of 
Issued and outstanding common shares  shares  shares 
    $'000 
Common shares on January 1, 2007  480,240,704  613,607 
Exercise of warrants  481,000  82 
Exercise of stock options  1,866,807  7,601 
Common shares on April 20, 2007  482,588,511  621,290 
     
Conversion of UrAsia Energy shares to Uranium One shares at a ratio of 0.45 217,164,830  621,290 
     
Shares of Uranium One owned by Uranium One shareholders at acquisition  138,129,435  1,709,647 
Exercise of warrants  150,000  2,033 
Exercise of stock options and restricted shares  4,354,617  47,311 
U.S. Energy asset purchase consideration  6,607,605  99,401 
EMC asset purchase consideration  100,444,543  1,013,215 
Shares issued for services rendered  322,393  3,987 
Common shares on December 31, 2007  467,173,423  3,496,884 
Exercise of warrants  1,190,000  15,791 
Exercise of stock options  1,043,016  7,358 
Exercise of restricted shares  206,517  2,791 
Issued and outstanding common shares at December 31, 2008  469,612,956  3,522,824 

 
On February 9, 2009, Uranium One entered into a subscription agreement with a corporation formed by The Tokyo Electric 
Power Company, Incorporated (“TEPCO”), Toshiba Corporation, and The Japan Bank for International Cooperation (“JBIC”) 
providing for the private placement of an aggregate of 117,000,000 common shares of Uranium One, for gross proceeds of 
approximately C$270 million. 
 
The private placement issue price of C$2.30 per share represented a 15% premium to the 20-day volume weighted average 
price of Uranium One common shares on the Toronto Stock Exchange prior to the announcement of the transaction.  Upon 
closing of the private placement, the consortium will have a 19.95% equity stake in Uranium One. 
 
Closing of the subscription agreement is subject to the receipt of certain regulatory approvals, including Toronto Stock 
Exchange approval, Australian Foreign Investment Review Board approval and Republic of Kazakhstan Ministry of Energy and 
Mineral Resources approval, and to other usual and customary closing conditions.   
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20 CONTRIBUTED SURPLUS 
 
The following table details the movement of contributed surplus during the year: 
 
    Restricted    
  Warrants  shares  Options  Total 
  $'000  $'000  $'000  $'000 
As at January 1, 2007  -  -  31,286  31,286 
Issued on Uranium One / UrAsia Energy         
business combination  26,407  853  34,782  62,042 
Issued on EMC asset acquisition  -  -  35,307  35,307 
Stock options issued and vested  -  -  33,734  33,734 
Stock options exercised  -  -  (29,213)  (29,213)
Restricted shares vested  -  3,926  -  3,926 
Restricted shares exercised  -  (1,660)  -  (1,660)
Warrants exercised  (1,035)  -  -  (1,035)
As at December 31, 2007  25,372  3,119  105,896  134,387 
Stock options issued and vested  -  -  14,145  14,145 
Stock options exercised  -  -  (3,957)  (3,957)
Restricted shares issued and vested  -  1,278  -  1,278 
Restricted shares exercised  -  (2,791)  -  (2,791)
Warrants exercised  (11,460)  -  -  (11,460)
As at December 31, 2008  13,912  1,606  116,084  131,602 

 
Assumptions 
The fair value of stock options and restricted shares used to calculate the compensation expense was estimated using the 
Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following assumptions: 
 

  December 31, 2008  December 31, 2007 
Risk free interest rate  2.52% - 3.60%  3.69% - 4.57% 
Expected dividend yield  0%  0% 
Expected volatility of the Uranium One's share price  66% - 120%  40% - 69% 
Expected life  5 years  5 years 
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20 CONTRIBUTED SURPLUS (continued) 
 
Stock options 
 
The following is a summary of options granted under the stock-based compensation plan: 
 
    Weighted 
  Number of  average 
  options  exercise price 
    Cdn $ 
Outstanding options as at January 1, 2007  21,658,500  2.90 
     
Granted up to April 20, 2007  1,935,000  5.99 
Exercised up to April 20, 2007  (1,866,807)  2.11 
Forfeitures of stock options up to April 20, 2007  (30,000)  1.80 
Outstanding options as at April 20, 2007  21,696,693  3.29 
     
Converted UrAsia Energy stock options on date of business 
combination  9,763,498  7.33 
     
Existing Uranium One share options on April 20, 2007  5,390,754  6.67 
EMC replacement options  8,382,546  8.14 
Granted subsequent to April 20, 2007  1,867,817  15.27 
Exercised subsequent to April 20, 2007  (4,228,640)  5.14 
Forfeitures of stock options subsequent to April 20, 2007  (351,187)  13.14 
Outstanding options as at December 31, 2007  20,824,788  8.55 
Granted options  2,559,948  3.56 
Exercised options  (1,043,016)  3.74 
Forfeitures of stock options   (6,483,203)  9.12 
Outstanding options as at December 31, 2008  15,858,517  7.82 
 
The stock option compensation expense for the year ended December 31, 2008 was $14.1 million and for the year ended 
December 31, 2007 it was $33.7 million.  As at December 31, 2008, the aggregate unexpensed fair value of unvested stock 
options granted amounted to $6.2 million.  The fair value of options granted during the year amounts to $5.5 million. 
 
The following table summarizes stock options outstanding at December 31, 2008: 
 
 Options outstanding  Options exercisable 

Range of 
exercise 
prices 

Number 
outstanding 

as at 
December 

31, 
2008 

Weighted 
average 

remaining 
life 

Weighted 
average 
exercise 

price 

 Number 
exercisable 

as at 
December 

31, 
2008 

Weighted 
average 

remaining 
life 

Weighted 
average 

exercise price 
Cdn $  (years) Cdn $   (years) Cdn $ 
0.78 to 2.74 1,332,190 1.52 2.08 1,150,617 1.00 2.28 
2.75 to 4.76 4,265,566 3.91 3.86 2,312,428 3.63 4.02 
4.77 to 7.79 2,602,872 2.99 6.77 2,464,574 2.92 6.87 
7.80 to 9.90 3,249,309 6.28 8.46 3,206,812 6.32 8.46 
9.91 to 12.93 2,547,751 3.20 12.10 1,983,875 2.93 12.11 
12.94 to 15.63 744,242 3.11 14.04 410,810 2.86 14.23 
15.64 to 16.59 1,116,587 3.33 16.52 399,312 3.27 16.50 

 15,858,517 3.85 7.82 11,928,428 3.80 7.75 
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20 CONTRIBUTED SURPLUS (continued) 
 
Restricted share rights 
 
The following is a summary of Uranium One's restricted shares issued under the Restricted Share Plan: 
 

   
Number of 

restricted shares 
Balance at January 1, 2007   404,231 
Granted   20,000 
Exercised during the year   (125,977)
Expired   (2,722)
Balance at December 31, 2007   295,532 
Granted   609,000 
Exercised during  the year   (206,517)
Expired   (74,520)
Balance at December 31, 2008   623,495 
 
The following is a summary of the outstanding restricted share rights:  

  
 

Number of restricted shares 
  Dec 31, 2008  Dec 31, 2007 
Grant date     
June 7, 2006  72,083  225,092 
December 8, 2006  9,245  50,440 
July 1, 2007  6,667  20,000 
April 7, 2008  510,500  - 
April 28, 2008  25,000  - 
Balance at the end of the year  623,495  295,532 
 
Restricted share rights will not expire while the rights holder is an employee of the Corporation. 
 
The restricted share rights expense for the year ended December 31, 2008 was $1.3 million and for the year ended December 
31, 2007 was $3.9 million.  As at December 31, 2008 the aggregate unexpensed fair value of unvested restricted share rights 
granted amounted to $1.6 million.  The fair value of restricted shares granted during the year amounts to $2.4 million. 

 
Warrants     

     Number of warrants Allocated value 
      $'000 
Balance at January 1, 2007    2,731,619 26,407 
Exercised during the year    (150,000) (1,035)
Balance at December 31, 2007   2,581,619 25,372 
Exercised during the year   (1,190,000) (11,460)
Lapsed during the year   (1,391,619) - 
Balance at December 31, 2008   - 13,912 
 
 
Warrants  Number of warrants  Average exercise price 
  Dec 31, 2008  Dec 31, 2007  Dec 31, 2008  Dec 31, 2007 

      $'000  $'000 
2008 Warrants  - 2,431,619 - 3.55 
Series D 
Warrants  -  150,000  -  6.95 

Total  -  2,581,619  -  3.75 
 
The series D warrants expired on January 4, 2008 and the 2008 warrants expired on September 24, 2008. 

 
Contingently issuable shares 
The Corporation assumed all of the obligations of EMC and its subsidiaries arising under certain option and joint venture 
agreements with third parties.  Uranium One has reserved a total of 407,100 common shares for issuance pursuant to the 
assumed obligations under contingent share rights agreements. 
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21 INTEREST AND OTHER 
  Year ended 
  Dec 31, 2008 Dec 31, 2007
  $'000 $'000
Interest income  10,315 11,982 
Interest paid  (505) (2,835)
Convertible debenture interest (note 15)  (15,075) (9,661)
Credit facility charges   (1,677) - 
Interest and costs incurred on uranium concentrates loan (note 18)  (224) - 
Costs incurred in relation to letters of credit (note 13)  (210) - 
  (7,376) (514)
 

22 FOREIGN EXCHANGE LOSS 
 

A summary of the foreign exchange loss by item is as follows: 
 
  Year ended Dec 31, 2008 
  Dec 31, 2008 Dec 31, 2007
  $'000 $'000
Unrealized foreign exchange gain / (loss) on future income tax liabilities  1,340 (18,727)

Unrealized foreign exchange loss on other items  (2,679) (10,231)

Realized foreign exchange (loss) / gain on other items  (10,370) 15,936 

  (11,709) (13,022)
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23 CASH FLOW INFORMATION 
 
  Dec 31, 2008  Dec 31, 2007 
  $'000  $'000 
Changes in non-cash working capital excluding business 
combinations:  

  

Decrease / (increase) accounts and other receivables  28,818  (2,872)

Decrease / (increase) in prepaid expenses and other 
 

2,651  (8,396)

Increase in inventories  (910)  (3,442)

Decrease  in accounts payable and accrued liabilities 
 

(6,279)  (21,042)

Increase in income taxes payable  8,450  3,369 
  32,730  (32,383)
     
Significant non-cash investing activities     

EMC asset purchase  -  1,048,522 

- common shares  -  1,013,215 

- options  -  35,307 

Uranium One business combination  -  1,818,169 

- common shares  -  1,709,647 

- options, warrants and restricted share rights  -  62,042 

- equity component of convertible debentures  -  46,480 

U.S. Energy asset purchase  -  99,401 

Shares issued for services rendered  -  3,987 

Supplemental cash flow information 
 

   

Cash interest paid  7,288  6,564 
Cash tax paid  35,740  36,107 
 
Short term loans 

 
During 2007, the Corporation repaid short term loans from Nedcor Securities for a total cash consideration of $55.2 million 
including accrued interest of $2.1 million, with the security over the Corporation’s investments in Randgold and Aflease Gold 
being released upon repayment. 
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24 BASIC AND DILUTED WEIGHTED-AVERAGE NUMBER OF SHARES OUTSTANDING 
 
  Year ended 
  Dec 31, 2008 Dec 31, 2007 
    
Basic weighted-average number of shares outstanding ('000)  468,424 360,656 
Effect of dilutive securities:    
-stock options  - - 
-warrants  - - 
Diluted weighted-average number of shares outstanding  468,424 360,656 
 
For the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007, convertible debentures, stock options, warrants and restricted shares were 
not included in the dilutive weighted average number of shares outstanding as they were anti-dilutive. 
 

25 CAPITAL DISCLOSURES 
 
The Corporation’s objectives when managing capital are to: 
 
(i) Maintain a flexible capital structure which optimizes the cost of capital at acceptable risk; 
(ii) Continue the development and exploration of its mineral properties; and 
(iii) Support any expansion plans. 
 
In the management of capital, the Corporation includes shareholders’ equity, long term debt, cash and the current portion of 
loans to joint ventures. 
 
The Corporation manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it when the economic and risk conditions of the 
underlying assets require change.  In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Corporation may issue new shares, 
issue new debt, and/or issue new debt to replace existing debt with different characteristics.  The Corporation has in place a 
rigorous planning and budgeting process to help determine the funds required to ensure the Corporation has the appropriate 
liquidity to meet its operating and growth objectives. 
 
The Corporation monitors the following ratios in this respect: total debt to total capitalization and net debt to total capitalization. 
 
The Corporation must maintain an interest coverage ratio of greater than 2.5 to meet the credit facility’s debt covenants.  The 
interest coverage ratio is calculated as the ratio of the Corporation’s earnings before interest, taxes, share based 
compensation, depreciation and depletion and other non-cash items (“EBITDA”) to interest paid. 
 
For years ended 
  Dec 31, 2008 Dec 31, 2007 
  $'000 $'000 
Total liabilities (excluding future income tax liabilities)  301,302 433,933 
Net liabilities (total liabilities less cash, receivables, and current portion of loans    
to joint ventures)  65,993 171,156 
Total capitalization (total shareholders' equity)  950,538 3,682,905 
    
Total liabilities as a percentage of shareholders’ equity  32% 12% 
Net liabilities as a percentage of shareholders’ equity  7% 5% 
    
Credit facility:    
EBITDA (rolling 4 quarters)  69,755 91,905 
Interest coverage ratio  10.5 7.4 
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26 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
 
Convertible debentures  Dec 31, 2008 Dec 31, 2007 
  $'000 $'000 
Liability component  118,042 136,548 
Equity component  46,480 46,480 
  164,522 183,028 
    
Fair value  86,222 145,888 

 
The Corporation’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks, including the effects of changes in debt and equity market 
prices, foreign currency exchange rates and interest rates.  The global nature of the Corporation's business exposes the 
reported financial results and cash flows of operating segments to risks arising from fluctuations in exchange rates. 
 
The Corporation continuously monitors its exposure to risk.  The risk management carried out by the Corporation is approved 
by the Board of Directors.  The following describes the type of risks that the Corporation is exposed to and its objectives and 
policies for managing those risk exposures. 
 
(i) Foreign exchange risk 

 
The foreign exchange risk relates to the risk that the value of financial commitments, recognized assets or liabilities will 
fluctuate due to changes in foreign currency rates. 
 
The most significant impact of foreign exchange on the Corporation's net earnings and other comprehensive income is the 
translation of foreign operations into US dollars.  The effect of translating the financial statements of the entities that are 
determined to be integrated foreign operations are included in the consolidated statements of operations, and the effect of 
translating the financial statements of entities that are determined to be self-sustaining are included in other 
comprehensive income. 
 
The Corporation is also exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from: 
 
• Cash balances held in foreign currencies; 
• borrowings denominated in foreign currencies; and 
• firm commitments or highly probable forecasted transactions for receipts and payments settled in foreign currencies or 

with prices dependent on foreign currencies. 
 
The Corporation does not hedge its exposure to foreign currency exchange risk. 
 
The Corporation is primarily exposed to foreign currency risk through the following assets and liabilities denominated in 
currencies other than US dollars: 

  Financial assets and liabilities 
 Non-financial assets 

and liabilities 
  
December 31, 
2008  
  
  

Cash and 
cash 

equivalents 
Accounts 

receivable

Accounts 
payable and 

accrued 
liabilities

Convertible 
debentures

Mineral 
interests 

plant and 
equipment 

(1) 

Future 
income tax 

liabilities
  $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Canadian dollar 438 2,436 3,477 118,042 - -
South African 
rand 5,227 4,821 17,506 - 44,586 -

Kazakhstan 
tenge 1,251 5,978 11,515 - - 342,430

Australian dollar 44,597 1,212 7,558 - 38,619 3,271
 51,513 14,447 40,056 118,042 83,205 345,701
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26 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 

 

  Financial assets and liabilities 
Non-financial assets and 

liabilities 
 December 31, 

2007  

  

Cash and 
cash 

equivalents 
Accounts 

receivable
Convertible
debentures

Mineral 
interest 

plant and 
equipment 

(1) 

Future 
income tax

liabilities
  $'000 $'000

Accounts 
payable and 

accrued 
liabilities

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Canadian dollar  78,938 3,683 10,357 136,548 21,216 5,831
South African 
rand  1,330 9,606 33,168 - 2,106,164 567,577

Kazakhstan 
tenge  2,787 3,128 16,411 - - 351,207

Australian dollar  24,966 558 5,540 - 300,038 69,039
  108,021 16,975 65,476 136,548 2,427,418 993,654
 
(1)  Only includes mineral interests, plant and equipment of self-sustaining operations. 
 
The following table shows the effect on earnings and other comprehensive income after tax as at December 31, 2008 of a 
10% appreciation or depreciation in the foreign currencies against the US dollar on the above mentioned financial and 
non-financial assets and liabilities of the Corporation. 

  Other   
  comprehensive  Net 
  income  earnings 
A 10% appreciation in all foreign currencies against the US dollar, with 
all other variables held constant.  3,529  (35,769)

 
A 10% depreciation in exchange rates would have the exact opposite effect on other comprehensive income and net 
earnings. 
 
The National bank of Kazakhstan has announced on February 4, 2009 that it has ceased to maintain the Kazakhstan 
Tenge (“Tenge”) within the previous range of 117-123 Tenge to the US dollar and suggested the rate be set within a 
range of 145-155 Tenge to the US dollar.  The devaluation amounts to approximately 25% and will affect the translated 
values of monetary assets and liabilities in the first quarter of 2009, with the effect processed through the statement of 
operations in 2009. 

 
(ii) Credit risk 

 
Credit risk is primarily associated with trade receivables, and to a lesser extent, cash equivalents. 
 
The Corporation closely monitors its financial assets and does not have any significant concentration of credit risk.  The 
Corporation sells its products exclusively to organizations with strong credit ratings.  Cash and cash equivalents are held 
through large international financial institutions.  Cash and cash equivalents are comprised of financial instruments issued 
by Canadian banks and companies with high investment-grade ratings.  The majority of these investments mature within 
90 days of the balance sheet date. 
 
The Corporation's maximum exposure to credit risk at the balance sheet date is as follows: 
  Dec 31, 2008  Dec 31, 2007 
  $'000  $'000 
Cash and cash equivalents  176,225  159,592 
Accounts receivable  39,926  73,538 
Available for sale securities  593  21,257 
  216,744  254,387 
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26 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 

 
(iii) Liquidity risk 

 
The Corporation has a cash forecast and budgeting process in place to assist with the determination of funds required to 
support the Corporation's operating requirements on an ongoing basis and its expansion plans.  The Corporation 
manages liquidity risk through the management of its capital structure and financial leverage as outlined in note 25. 
 
The Corporation has established a credit facility (note 13) as part of its liquidity risk management process.  The 
Corporation has made its first draw down against the facility in the amount of $65 million on October 20, 2008.  A letter of 
credit amounting to $12.9 million was issued against the facility as part of the uranium concentrates loan (note 18).  The 
following table summarizes the contractual maturities of the Corporation's significant financial liabilities and capital 
commitments, including contractual obligations: 
 
 Less than 1 to 3 4 to 5 After 5  
 1 year years years years Total 
Lease obligations 511 4,042 1,370 1,491 7,414 
Kyzylkum long term debt - 19,750 15,703 - 35,453 
Capital commitments 9,543 29,000 - - 38,543 
Asset retirement 
obligations - - - 12,999 12,999 

Accounts payable and 
accrued liabilities 47,423 - - - 47,423 

Credit facility repayments - 65,000 - - 65,000 
Uranium concentrates 
loan (note 18) - 10,692 - - 10,692 

Convertible debentures - 126,797 - - 126,797 
Other 149 - - 1,402 1,551 
 57,626 255,281 17,073 15,892 345,872 
 
The convertible debenture is convertible in cash or shares, and may not result in a cash outflow.  The uranium 
concentrates loan requires settlement with uranium concentrates, and may not result in a cash outflow. 
 
The Corporation has interests in joint ventures, and is responsible for partial funding of these joint ventures pursuant to 
the terms of the joint venture agreements.  The Corporation does not bear direct liquidity risk for liquidity of these joint 
ventures, except for the risk relating to the repayment to loans made to the joint ventures.  The Corporation can only 
utilize cash generated by the joint ventures when the joint ventures pay dividends.  
 
On January 19, 2009, in connection with the construction of a sulphuric acid plant through an established joint venture in 
which the Corporation is expected to have a 19% ownership, the Corporation provided a guarantee to a third party in 
respect of 19% of the construction cost of the plant, limited to a maximum amount of $7.6 million (Euro 5.5 million). 
 
The Corporation is exposed to liquidity risk from fluctuating commodity prices with respect to repayment of the uranium 
concentrates loan.  On September 22, 2008, the Corporation entered into a loan agreement to borrow 200,000 pounds of 
uranium concentrates to ensure timely delivery of certain sales commitments.  Under the terms of the loan agreement, the 
Corporation received 200,000 pounds of uranium concentrates into its account on September 30, 2008 and is required to 
repay 200,000 pounds of uranium concentrates on September 30, 2010 (note 12). 
 
The Corporation is exposed to liquidity risk from fluctuating commodity prices when the 200,000 pounds of uranium 
concentrates received as part of a uranium loan transaction are utilized against contracts.  As the market value of the 
liability to deliver the uranium concentrates, fluctuates based on commodity prices, so will the market value of the uranium 
concentrates held by the Corporation.  The effect that market fluctuations in the uranium price have on the asset and 
liability will offset, except in circumstances where the borrowed uranium has been utilized to make a delivery into a 
contract.  In these circumstances, the Corporation will recognize a net fair market value adjustment.  As at year end, the 
Corporation has utilized a portion of the borrowed material and is thus exposed to the fluctuations of the uranium price on 
the market. 
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26  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 

 
A 10% change in commodity prices, should the Corporation be exposed, would impact the Corporation's liquidity risk due 
to the uranium concentrates loan (note 18), as follows: 
 
  Dec 31, 2008  Dec 31, 2007 
  $'000  $'000 
A 10% appreciation in commodity prices, with all other variables held 
constant:     

- current  198  - 
- maximum exposure  1,060  - 
 
A 10% depreciation in the commodity price would have the exact opposite effect on net earnings. 

 
(iv) Interest rate risk 

 
The Corporation is exposed to interest rate risk on its outstanding borrowings and short-term investments.  The only 
outstanding interest-bearing borrowings as at December 31, 2008 are the loan facility obtained by Kyzylkum (note 9.1) 
which bears interest at floating rates, the drawn-down amount on the credit facility which bears interest at floating rates 
(note 13), and the convertible debentures, with a fixed interest rate. 

 
A 100 basis point change in the interest rate would impact the Corporation's net earnings as follows: 
 
  Dec 31, 2008  Dec 31, 2007 
  $'000  $'000 
A 100 basis point appreciation in interest rates, with all other variables     
held constant  811  1,172 
 
A 100 basis point depreciation in the interest rate would have the exact opposite effect on net earnings. 

 
(v) Commodity price risk 

 
The Corporation is exposed to price risk with respect to commodity prices.  The Corporation does not hedge its exposure 
to price risk, other than having market related pricing structures in the long term sales contracts which the Corporation has 
entered into.  Increases in uranium prices would have a positive impact on profitability given that the majority of the 
Corporation's sales contracts are priced based on market values for uranium. 
 
A 10% change in commodity prices would impact the Corporation's net earnings as follows: 
 
  Dec 31, 2008  Dec 31, 2007 
  $'000  $'000 
A 10% appreciation in commodity prices, with all other     
variables held constant  14,978  13,402 
 
A 10% depreciation in the commodity price would have the exact opposite effect on net earnings. 
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27 SEGMENTED INFORMATION 
 
The Corporation's reportable operating segments are summarized in the table below: 

 
For the year ended December 31, 2008: (in $'000) 

 Country Revenues 
Operating 
expenses 

Depreciation
and 

depletion 
Exploration 

expense 

Net earnings/ 
(loss) from 
continuing 
operations 

Capital 
expenditure 

  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
Akdala Mine Kazakhstan 149,776 (30,490) (22,566) - 61,902 10,651 
South Inkai Project Kazakhstan - - - - 26 43,139 
Kharasan Project Kazakhstan - - - - 875 19,466 
Dominion Project (1) South Africa - - - (1,412) (1,325,938) 94,211 
United States 
development projects United States - - - - (135,666) 11,455 

United States 
exploration projects (1) United States - - - (6,979) (536,905) 1,013 

Hobson Facility and La 
Palangana Project (1) United States - - - (690) (65,077) 17,056 

United States 
conventional mining 
projects(1)(2) 

United States - - - (1,189) (85,104) 3,854 

Honeymoon Project  (1) Australia - - - (2,339) (139,236) 13,525 
Corporate and other (1)  - - - (2,272) (108,464) 2,387 
Total  149,776 (30,490) (22,566) (14,881) (2,333,587) 216,757 

(1) Refer note 11.1 
(2) Previously Shootaring Canyon Mill 
 
For the year ended December 31, 2007: (in $'000) 
 

 Country Revenues 
Operating 
expenses 

Depreciation 
and 

depletion 
Exploration 

expense 

Net 
earnings/ 

(loss) from 
continuing 
operations 

Capital 
expenditure 

  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
Akdala Mine Kazakhstan 134,024 (17,282) (14,899) - 56,305 9,108 
South Inkai Project Kazakhstan - - - - 110 39,243 
Kharasan Project Kazakhstan - - - - (1,410) 21,135 
Dominion Project South Africa - - - (1,913) (1,225) 137,954 
United States 
development projects United States - - - - - 5,907 

United States 
exploration projects United States - - - (5,077) (5,079) 248 

Hobson Facility and La 
Palangana Project United States - - - (1,608) (2,764) 14,674 

United States 
conventional mining 
projects(1) 

United States - - - (32) (63) 2,966 

Honeymoon Project Australia - - - (1,987) (1,745) 21,349 
Corporate and other  - - - (6,179) (60,367) 13,409 
Total  134,024 (17,282) (14,899) (16,796) (16,238) 265,993 

(1) Previously Shootaring Canyon Mill 
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27 SEGMENTED INFORMATION (continued) 
 
As at December 31, 2008: (in $'000) 
 

  Mineral interest  Future  
  plant and Total income tax Total 
 Country equipment assets liabilities liabilities 
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
Akdala Mine Kazakhstan 195,719 200,497 66,156 81,385 
South Inkai Project Kazakhstan 503,980 506,648 204,255 212,082 
Kharasan Project Kazakhstan 193,018 197,561 72,019 111,230 
Dominion Project South Africa 44,586 69,253 - 28,629 
United States development projects United States 105,844 107,538 - 724 
United States exploration projects United States 122,586 123,532 24,182 24,418 
Hobson Facility and La Palangana 
Project United States 22,026 24,064 - 1,506 

United States conventional mining 
projects(1) United States 40,712 55,098 5,410 8,282 

Honeymoon Project Australia 38,619 38,858 3,271 4,158 
Corporate and other  18,325 295,060 - 204,181 
Total  1,285,415 1,618,109 375,293 676,595 

 
(1) Previously Shootaring Canyon Mill 

 
As at December 31, 2007: (in $'000) 
 

  Mineral interest  Future  
  plant and Total income tax Total 
 Country equipment assets liabilities liabilities 
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
Akdala Mine Kazakhstan 201,566 266,240 73,623 94,710 
South Inkai Project Kazakhstan 454,019 457,510 205,053 207,461 
Kharasan Project Kazakhstan 175,914 184,283 72,486 92,422 
Dominion Project South Africa 2,106,164 2,111,565 567,577 598,102 
United States development projects United States 285,838 285,838 90,517 92,187 
United States exploration projects United States 1,074,415 1,079,794 370,229 374,210 
Hobson Facility and La Palangana 
Project United States 90,372 91,879 19,729 22,639 

United States conventional mining 
projects(1) United States 97,623 112,894 18,613 21,186 

Honeymoon Project Australia 300,038 300,043 69,040 86,613 
Corporate and other  41,404 341,252 9,193 152,073 
Total  4,827,353 5,231,298 1,496,060 1,741,603 

 
(1) Previously Shootaring Canyon Mill 
 
 



Uranium One Inc. 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
as at December 31, 2008 and 2007 
(in United States dollars) 
 

 
_________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

ANNUAL CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS   44 

28 CONTINGENT SALE OF AN INTEREST IN THE DOMINION PROJECT  
 
On June 7, 2005, Uranium One Africa and Micawber 397 (Proprietary) Limited (“Micawber 397”), a company owned by 
historically disadvantaged South Africans, entered into a definitive purchase and sale agreement, a management and skills 
transfer agreement and a joint venture agreement. 

 
Pursuant to these agreements, Uranium One Africa agreed to sell to Micawber 397 an undivided 26% interest in the Dominion 
Project for cash consideration equal to 26% of the net present value of the Dominion assets at the date when Micawber elects 
to pay at least 20% of the purchase price.  This election must occur within three years after receipt of Micawber 397 of their 
first profit distribution from the joint venture.  After the first payment, Micawber is obliged to pay at least 20% of the purchase 
price during each subsequent three-year period, so that the purchase price is paid in full within twelve years of the date of the 
first payment. 

 
The parties agreed to contribute their interests in the assets, to a joint venture, to be managed by Uranium One Africa, and to 
fund the development and operation of those assets in accordance with their respective joint venture interests.  Uranium One 
agreed to lend to Micawber 397 the funds required to contribute their share under the joint venture agreement.  The aggregate 
amount of that loan, plus accrued interest, is repayable from Micawber 397’s share of joint venture profits. 

 
Uranium One Africa’s shareholders approved the Micawber transaction in September 2005, following which the South African 
Department of Minerals and Energy granted a “new order” mining right to the Corporation for the Dominion Project in October 
2006.  The Micawber 397 transaction will be accounted for in Uranium One’s consolidated financial statements when the risks 
and rewards of the transaction are deemed to have passed to Micawber 397.  Management has determined that this event will 
occur on the day that Micawber 397 elects to pay at least 20% of the purchase price, prompting the determination of the 
purchase price.  As at December 31, 2008, Micawber 397 has not paid any part of the purchase price. 

 
29 CONTINGENCIES 

 
Due to the size, complexity and nature of the Corporation’s operations, various legal and tax matters arise in the ordinary 
course of business.  The Corporation accrues for such items when a liability is both probable and the amount can be 
reasonably estimated.  In the opinion of management, these matters will not have a material effect on the consolidated 
financial statements of the Corporation. 
 
Betpak Dala acquisition 

 
As part of the original acquisition of the interest in Betpak Dala on November 7, 2005, it was agreed that the Corporation is 
liable for a bonus payment payable in cash based on uranium reserves discovered on the South Inkai property in excess of 
66,000 tonnes.  The payment is based on the Corporation’s share of U3O8 in excess of 66,000 tonnes times the average spot 
price of U3O8 times 6.25%.  This payment is to be calculated at the end of 2011 and each year thereafter, and paid 60 days 
after the end of the year in which a payment is due.  No payment was due at December 31, 2008 (December 31, 2007 - $Nil). 
 
As security for the bonus payment, the Corporation has pledged its participatory interest in Betpak Dala (including the shares 
of a subsidiary) and its share of uranium products produced by Betpak Dala. 

 
Kyzylkum acquisition 

 
As part of the original acquisition of the interest in Kyzylkum on November 7, 2005, it was agreed that the Corporation is liable 
for a bonus payment, which is due upon commencement of commercial production.  The seller initially had an option, 
exercisable until October 31, 2006, to elect to receive this bonus payment as a cash payment of $24 million or receive 
15,476,000 shares of UrAsia Energy.  The seller elected under the terms of the arrangement, to receive 15,476,000 shares of 
UrAsia Energy upon commencement of commercial production.  The 15,476,000-bonus payment shares of UrAsia Energy 
have been converted to 6,964,200 Uranium One shares as part of the UrAsia Energy acquisition.  The fair value of the 
contingently issuable shares was not been included as part of the purchase price for Kyzylkum as commencement of 
commercial production could not be reasonably determined. 

 
An additional bonus payment of 30% of 12.5% (being an effective 3.75%) of the weighted average spot price of U3O8 will be 
paid on incremental reserves in excess of 55,000 tonnes of U3O8 discovered during each fiscal year with payment beginning 
within 60 days of the end of the 2008 calendar year.  No payment was due at December 31, 2008 (December 31, 2007 - $Nil). 
 

                            Hobson Plant 
 

Production payments are due under the purchase agreement for the Hobson Processing plant and related exploration 
properties. The agreement provides for a payment of $0.75 per pound for the first eight million pounds produced from the 
Hobson facility, for a total maximum payment of $6 million. 
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30 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 
 

South Inkai commercial production 
 
The Kazakh Ministry of Energy and Mineral Resources formally approved the commencement of industrial production at South 
Inkai in December 2008.  The approval was given by way of an amendment to the South Inkai subsoil use agreement and 
permits South Inkai to ramp up production over the next three years to 5,200,000 pounds U3O8 per year.  As a result of the 
approval, commercial production for accounting purposes will commence at South Inkai on January 1, 2009. 

 
Other subsequent events 

 
Material transactions occurring subsequent to December 31, 2008 are described in notes 3,19, 26 (i) and 26 (iii). 
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